Benzene Metabolism in Humans: Dose-dependent Metabolism and Interindividual Variability

Sungkyoon Kim

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Environmental Sciences and Engineering, School of Public Health

Chapel Hill 2006

Approved by:

Advisor: Professor Stephen M. Rappaport

Professor James A. Swenberg

Professor Louise M. Ball

Professor Avram Gold

Professor Dana P. Loomis

©2006 Sungkyoon Kim ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

Sungkyoon Kim

Benzene Metabolism in Humans: Dose-dependent Metabolism and Interindividual Variability (Under the direction of Prof. Stephen M. Rappaport)

In order to gain a better understanding of dose-dependant metabolism of benzene and interindividual variation, we analyzed air benzene, urinary metabolites and personal information, including single nucleotide polymorphisms of key metabolic enzymes, from 389 subjects exposed to benzene occupationally/environmentally. The apparent levels of benzene metabolites increased with exposure, and levels of benzene metabolites were unambiguously different from background levels at: ~ 0.2 ppm for E,E-muconic acid (MA) and Sphenylmercapturic acid (SPMA), ~ 0.5 ppm for phenol (PH) and hydroquinone (HQ), and ~2 ppm for catechol (CA). After adjustment for the background levels, MA, PH, CA and HQ showed significant (p < 0.001) downward trends of dose-related production between 0.027 and 15.4 ppm. The transitions were particularly accentuated at lower exposure (0.027 and 0.274 ppm) for all metabolites. These were confirmed with generalized linear models with natural splines (GLM+NS). Based on analysis using the molar fraction, CYP-mediated metabolic pathways favored MA and HQ below 20 ppm and favored PH and CA above 20 ppm. Noticeably, ~90% of the reductions in dose-specific levels occurred below ~3 ppm for each major metabolite. Metabolite levels were about 20% higher in females and decreased

between one and 2% per year of life. Also, levels of HQ and CA were greater in smokers. After adjustment for age, gender, BMI and smoking status, the following SNPs showed significant effect on various metabolites, either as main effects or as interactions with benzene exposure and/or smoking: *NQO1*2* for all metabolites, *CYP2E1* for all metabolites except CA, *GSTT1* and *GSTM1* for SPMA, *EPHX1* (Ex4+52A>G) for SPMA and CA, and *EPHX1* (Ex3-28T>C) for CA. Interestingly, variant alleles of all genes [except *EPHX1* (Ex4+52A>G)] appeared to be associated with lower levels of benzene metabolites relative to homozygous wild alleles. In conclusion, our results indicate that benzene metabolism is highly nonlinear with increasing benzene exposure above 0.03 ppm, and that metabolism shifts away from CA and PH at low doses in favor of MA and HQ. Also, metabolism of benzene is modulated by exposure, gender, age, smoking, and genetic polymorphisms. To my family, my father, mothers, Myoung-Won, Ghun-Hee, Jae-Hee, and mother-in-law. With them, I could make it.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor, Professor Stephen M. Rappaport. He is a great mentor and advisor. His brilliant intuition and knowledge encouraged new ideas and allowed me to see both the trees and the forest while on the journey of my dissertation. I am also grateful to Professors James A. Swenberg, Louise M. Ball, Avram Gold, and Dana P. Loomis for serving on my dissertation committee and for their valuable suggestions. I also appreciate Dr. Suramya Waidyanatha for her guidance with laboratory analyses and instrumental works as well as her friendship. I am in debt to many people: Collaborators in National Cancer Institute, UC Berkeley for sample collection and the Chinese CDC for sample collection, air and blood sample measurements, and other support; Dr. Alistair Henderson and late Dr. Ramiah Sangaiah for assistance in chemistry; Drs. Lawrence Kupper and Brent Johnson for their statistical suggestions; Sang-Wook Kang for many helpful tips and technical supports in statistics; David Kim for his corrections of my English; all the past and present members of the Rappaport Lab, Joachim Pleil, Christina Martinez, Renan Wu, Jon Sobus, Bill Funk, Andy Lindstrom, Pete Egeghy, Russell Bowen, Berrin Serdar, Chin Tsai, and Yu-Sheng Lin. I will not forget the time that I shared with them, full of joy and friendship. My special appreciation goes to my wife, Myoung-Won (Marie) for her love and dedication.

This work was supported by the National Institute for Environmental Health Sciences through grants P42ES05948, P30ES10126, RO1ES06721, P42ES04705, and P30ES01896 and by funds from the intramural research program of the NIH, National Cancer Institute.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER				
1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION 1				
1.1. Exposure to Benzene				
1.2. Health Effects of Benzene in Humans				
1.2.1. Hematopoietic Toxicity				
1.2.2. Genotoxicity and Leukemia				
1.2.3. Others				
1.3. Metabolism of Benzene 6				
1.3.1. General Pathways of Benzene Metabolism				
1.3.2. Toxicological Overview of Benzene Metabolites				
1.3.3. Genetic Polymorphisms of Metabolic Enzymes				
1.4. Research Aims of this Project				
2. USING URINARY BIOMARKERS TO ELUCIDATE DOSE-RELATED PATTERNS OF HUMAN BENZENE METABOLISM 15				
2.1. Abstract				
2.2. Introduction				
2.3. Materials and Methods 19				

	2.3.1. Chemicals	. 19
	2.3.2. Subject Recruitment and Sample Collection	. 20
	2.3.3. Measurement of Urinary Benzene	. 22
	2.3.4. Measurement of Benzene Metabolites	. 23
	2.3.5. Creatinine Adjustment for Benzene Metabolites	. 24
	2.3.6. Predicting Low-level Exposures from Urinary Benzene	. 25
	2.3.7. Investigating Exposure-Metabolite Relationships	. 26
	2.3.8. Statistical Analyses	. 27
	2.4. Results	. 28
2.4.1. Precision, Sensitivity and Storage Stability2.4.2. Summary Statistics2.4.3. Distinguishing Benzene Metabolites from Background Source	2.4.1. Precision, Sensitivity and Storage Stability	. 28
	2.4.2. Summary Statistics	. 29
	2.4.3. Distinguishing Benzene Metabolites from Background Sources	. 32
	2.4.4. Dose-Related Production of Benzene Metabolites	. 32
	2.5. Discussion	. 34
3.	MODELING HUMAN METABOLISM OF BENZENE	
	FOLLOWING OCCUPATIONAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL EXPOSURES.	. 39
	3.1. Abstract	. 39
	3.2. Introduction	. 40
	3.3. Materials and Methods	. 42
	3.3.1. Subject Recruitment and Sample Collection	. 42

3.3.2. Measurements of Air and Urinary Analytes	44
3.3.3. Statistical Analysis	44
3.3.4. Molar Fractions and Dose-specific Metabolism	46
3.4. Results	47
3.4.1. Natural Spline Models	47
3.4.2. Effects of Covariates	48
3.4.3. Molar Fractions and Dose-specific Metabolism	50
3.5. Discussion	54
GENETIC POLYMORPHISMS AND BENZENE METABOLISM IN HUMANS EXPOSED TO A WIDE RANGE OF AIR CONCENTRATIONS	59
4.1. Abstract	59
4.2. Introduction	60
4.3. Materials and Methods	63
4.3.1. Study Population, and Air and Biological Sample Collection	63
4.3.2. Measurements of Air and Urinary Analytes	65
4.3.3. Genotyping	66
4.3.4. Statistical Analyses	67
4.4. Results	69
4.4.1. GLM+NS Models and Covariate Effects	69
4.4.2. Effects of Genetic Polymorphisms	75
	 3.3.2. Measurements of Air and Urinary Analytes 3.3.3. Statistical Analysis 3.3.4. Molar Fractions and Dose-specific Metabolism 3.4. Results 3.4.1. Natural Spline Models 3.4.2. Effects of Covariates 3.4.3. Molar Fractions and Dose-specific Metabolism 3.4.3. Molar Fractions and Dose-specific Metabolism 3.5. Discussion GENETIC POLYMORPHISMS AND BENZENE METABOLISM IN HUMANS EXPOSED TO A WIDE RANGE OF AIR CONCENTRATIONS 4.1. Abstract 4.2. Introduction 4.3. Materials and Methods 4.3.1. Study Population, and Air and Biological Sample Collection 4.3.2. Measurements of Air and Urinary Analytes 4.3.3. Genotyping 4.3.4. Statistical Analyses 4.4. Results 4.4.1. GLM+NS Models and Covariate Effects 4.4.2. Effects of Genetic Polymorphisms

	4.5. Discussion	78
5.	DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	. 86
	5.1. Summary and Conclusions	86
	5.1.1. Dose-related Patterns of Human Benzene Metabolism	86
	5.1.2. Modeling Human Metabolism of Benzene	87
	5.1.3. Genetic Polymorphisms and Benzene Metabolism in Humans	88
	5.2. Implications and Suggestions for Future Research	89
Re	ferences	. 92

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Demographic characteristics of the study population
Table 2.2. Summary statistics for exposure to benzene and urinary analytes. 30
Table 3.1. Demographic characteristics of the study population
Table 3.2. Effects of significant covariates on metabolite levels (after adjustment for benzene exposure)
Table 4.1. Demographics, benzene exposure and other characteristicsof study population ($n = 386$)64
Table 4.2. Distributions of SNPs among subjects in the study
Table 4.3. Parameter estimates for the final model of <i>E</i> , <i>E</i> -muconic acid (MA). 70
Table 4.4. Parameter estimates for the final model of <i>S</i> -phenyl mercapturic acid (SPMA) 71
Table 4.5. Parameter estimates for the final model of phenol (PH). 72
Table 4.6. Parameter estimates for the final model of catechol (CA)
Table 4.7. Parameter estimates for the final model of hydroquinone (HQ)74
Table 4.8. SNP effects on benzene metabolites at various levels of benzene exposure

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Postulated processes of ben	zene-induced leukemia
Figure 1.2. Simplified metabolic schen pathways and metabolizing	ne for benzene showing major g genes
Figure 2.1. Simplified metabolic schen	ne for benzene showing major pathways 17
Figure 2.2. Calibration curve for predic from the corresponding uri	cting air concentrations of benzene nary levels
Figure 2.3 Levels of urinary metabolite	es versus air exposures to benzene
Figure 2.4. Dose-related production of	urinary metabolites versus air exposure to benzene33
Figure 3.1. Simplified metabolic scher	ne for benzene showing major pathways 42
Figure 3.2. Basis functions of natural s	pline models fitting the 326 observations
Figure 3.3. Dose-dependent production	n of benzene metabolites
Figure 3.4. Dose-specific levels (µM/p spline models, for benzene	pm) of benzene metabolites, predicted by natural exposures between 0.03 and 88.9 ppm
Figure 4.1. Simplified metabolic schen pathways and metabolizing	ne for benzene showing major g genes
Figure 4.2. Effects of genetic polymorp of benzene in humans (rep	ohisms on urinary metabolites resentative plots)

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACGIH: American Conference Of Governmental Industrial Hygienists

AICc: bias corrected Akaike's Information Criterion

AML: acute myelocytic leukemia

ANLL: acute nonlymphocytic leukemia

BMI: bogy mass index [unit: kg/m²]

BO: benzene oxide

BQ: benzoquinone

CA: catechol

CNS: central nervous system

CV: coefficient of variation

CYP: cytochrome P450

EI: electron ionization

EPHX1: epoxide hydrolase

GC-MS: gas chromatography-mass spectrometry

GLM: generalized linear model

GLM+NS: generalized linear model with natural splines

GST: glutathione S-transferase

GSTM1: glutathione S-transferase mu1

GSTP1: glutathione S-transferase pi1

GSTT1: glutathione S-transferase theta1

HQ: hydroquinone

HS-SPME: headspace solid phase microextraction

IQ range: interquartile range

LOD: limit of detection

m/z: mass-to-charge ratio

MA: *E*,*E*-muconic acid

MCV: mean corpuscular volume

MDS: myelodysplastic syndrome

min: minute

ml: milliliter

mM: millimolar

MPO: myeloperoxidase

MUC: *E*,*E*-Muconaldehyde

nM: nanomolar

NQO1: NAD(P)H: Quinone Oxidoreductase

NS: natural splines (restricted cubic splines)

OSHA: Occupational Safety and Health Administration

PEL: permissible exposure limit

PH: phenol

ppb: parts per billion

ppm: parts per million

PTFE: polytetrafluoroethylene

ROS: reactive oxygen species

SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism

SPMA: S-phenylmercapturic acid

TMS: trimethylsilyl

UBz: urinary benzene

µl: microliter

µM: micromolar

CHAPTER 1.

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Benzene is a useful industrial chemical and is ubiquitous in the environment. It is an established human carcinogen (IARC, 1982; Wallace, 1996; ATSDR, 1997; NICNAS, 2001). Since early reports on benzene-induced hematotoxicities (Vigliani and Saita, 1964; Snyder, 2002), many studies have been carried out in the fields of epidemiology and exposure assessment. However, the mechanisms of hematotoxic effects and the shape of the exposure-response relationships [in particular below 1 ppm] are still controversial (Rothman *et al.*, 1996a; Savitz and Andrews, 1997; Ross, 2000; Snyder, 2000a; Snyder, 2002; Glass *et al.*, 2003; Lan *et al.*, 2004; Schnatter *et al.*, 2005). The present study is focused on these issues to provide a better understanding of human benzene metabolism, specifically, dose-dependant metabolic profiles of benzene and possible genetic predispositions involving benzene metabolism.

1.1. Exposure to Benzene

Benzene exposure occurs both in the workplace and the general environment. In the workplace, benzene is used primarily as an intermediate in production of Styrofoam, other plastics, synthetics and fibers. It is also an important raw material and excellent solvent for synthetic rubbers, lubricants, dyes, pharmaceuticals and pesticides (ATSDR, 2000). Strict

regulation of benzene exposure has been increasingly required due to the observed risks of exposure to benzene in occupational studies (ATSDR, 2000; ACGIH, 2004). The current permissible exposure limit (PEL) set by US OSHA is 1.0 ppm (OSHA, 1987) and the ACGIH threshold limit value (TLV) is 0.5 ppm (ACGIH, 2004). Environmental sources of benzene exposure are industrial pollution, automobile fuel and combustion products, and cigarette smoking. Ambient outdoor air levels of benzene globally are around 2 parts per billion (ppb) on average (range 0.6–3 ppb) (ATSDR, 1997). Smokers consuming a pack of cigarettes per day inhale a daily dose of approximately 1 mg of benzene, about 3 to 4% of the amount inhaled daily by a worker exposed at 1 ppm. Passive smokers typically have 50% greater exposure to benzene than nonsmokers (Wallace, 1996). Potential leakage from underground storage tanks and landfills and improper disposal of wastes can lead to benzene exposure via drinking water. Drinking water typically contains less than 0.1 ppb benzene. There have been reports that benzene has been detected at trace levels in bottled water, liquor, and food (ATSDR, 1997).

1.2. Health Effects of Benzene in Humans

While acute exposure to very high levels of benzene, occurring accidentally, can lead to death, depression of the central nervous system (CNS) or irritation, such situations are rare. Long-term chronic exposures are much more common, and can induce irreversibly fatal effects including leukemia (ATSDR, 1997; EPA, 2002). Hence, we focus on the chronic exposures to benzene.

1.2.1. Hematopoietic Toxicity

Exposure to excessive concentrations of benzene can induce bone marrow depression, which leads to reduction in blood cells and aplastic anemia (Aksoy, 1989; Rothman *et al.*,

1996a; Rothman *et al.*, 1996b; Hayes *et al.*, 1997; Snyder, 2002). Several mechanisms have been suggested to explain benzene-induced hematotoxicity, such as direct toxicity to hematopoietic progenitor cells by reactive benzene metabolites (Irons and Neptun, 1980; Chen *et al.*, 1994; Smith *et al.*, 2000; Zhang *et al.*, 2002), impairment of the bone marrow stromal microenvironment (Longacre *et al.*, 1981; Garnett *et al.*, 1983; Gaido and Wierda, 1985; Thomas *et al.*, 1990), and inhibition or alteration of regulatory cytokines produced by marrow cells (Miller *et al.*, 1994; Kalf *et al.*, 1996; Ross *et al.*, 1996).

Repeated benzene exposure at higher levels has been associated with benzene poisoning (Aksoy *et al.*, 1971; Midzenski *et al.*, 1992; Rothman *et al.*, 1996a; Rothman *et al.*, 1996b). Symptoms of benzene poisoning include decreased numbers of lymphocytes, white blood cells, red blood cells, platelets, hemoglobin and hematocrit, and an increase in the mean corpuscular volume (MCV) (Rothman *et al.*, 1996a). Dosemeci *et al.* showed a clear dose-response relationship between benzene exposure and benzene poisoning (Dosemeci *et al.*, 1997), and Rothman *et al.* reported that benzene poisoning was strongly associated with myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) and/or acute myelocytic leukemia (AML) with a 71-fold higher risk (95% CI, 11–439) relative to controls without benzene poisoning (Rothman *et al.*, 1997).

1.2.2. Genotoxicity and Leukemia

Benzene metabolites can give rise to DNA damage, subsequent translocations, or other insults associated with inhibition of topoisomerase II. 1,4-benzoquinone (BQ), a metabolite of benzene, was suggested to bind to guanine or adenine residues, and inhibit mRNA(Rushmore *et al.*, 1984). It has also been suggested that *E,E*-Muconaldehyde (MUC), the ring opening product of benzene, could bind to DNA by forming DNA-protein cross links

(Schoenfeld and Witz, 1999). Interestingly, DNA adducts appear to be minor products of benzene metabolism with uncertain health implications (Subrahmanyam *et al.*, 1991) (Creek *et al.*, 1997; Snyder, 2002). Benzene exposure unequivocally produces chromosome aberrations (Tough and Brown, 1965; Tough *et al.*, 1970; Forni, 1996). High exposure to benzene (+31 ppm) can cause aneuploidy, long-arm deletions and translocations in chromosomes 1, 5, 7, 8 9 and 21 (Rothman *et al.*, 1996b; Zhang *et al.*, 1996; Smith *et al.*, 1998; Zhang *et al.*, 1998) and gene duplication in nucleated erythrocyte stem cells at the glycophorin A locus on chromosome 4 (Rothman *et al.*, 1995). It appears that benzene-induced chromosome aberrations are important to benzene-induced leukemia (Zhang *et al.*, 2002). Using CD34+, a surface antigen found in pluripotent stem cells or early progenitor cells in bone marrow, the benzene metabolite, hydroquinone (HQ) induced more aneusomy in CD34+ carrying cells on chromosomes 7 and 8, which are consistent with findings in myeloid leukemia (Smith *et al.*, 2000).

Since early reports on benzene-induced leukemia (Vigliani and Forni, 1969; Aksoy *et al.*, 1971; Vigliani and Forni, 1976), numerous epidemiologic studies have shown associations between benzene exposure and leukemia (Snyder, 2002). In the Pliofilm cohort studies, the standardized mortality ratio (SMR) was 560 for the exposed group at large, and projected SMR for excess of leukemia was 109-6637 at 40-400 ppm-year (Rinsky *et al.*, 1981; Rinsky *et al.*, 1987). However, there were controversies regarding the exposure-estimates used in those studies (Kipen *et al.*, 1988; Kipen *et al.*, 1989; Paustenbach *et al.*, 1992; Cody *et al.*, 1993; Paxton *et al.*, 1994; Utterback and Rinsky, 1995; Crump, 1996). The Chinese cohort studies, which recruited much larger number of subjects, showed clear evidence of significantly increased risks for AML, MDS, and aplastic anemia (Yin *et al.*,

1996). In the extended Chinese cohort study, acute nonlymphocytic leukemia (ANLL [or AML]) or MDS was found to be associated with recent exposure (<10 year prior to diagnosis) (Hayes et al., 1997). A dose-response relationships was demonstrated between cumulative exposures to benzene and a spectrum of blood cancers and blood disorders, with increased risks at <40 ppm-yr. Relative risks for ANLL/MDS or other blood cancers were more than doubled with average exposures of about 10 ppm. Although there are further controversies regarding exposure estimates from the Chinese study (Dosemeci *et al.*, 1997; Schnatter et al., 2005), these results suggest the possibility of an increased risk of leukemia below the levels of exposure suggested by the earlier Pliofilm cohort. As such, benzene is widely accepted as a leukemogen (primarily for AML) (IARC, 1982; ATSDR, 1997; EPA, 1998). Furthermore, we cannot exclude the linkage of benzene exposure to other leukemias (Savitz and Andrews, 1997) such as acute and chronic lymphocytic and myeloid leukemia (Hayes et al., 1997; O'Connor et al., 1999; Wong and Raabe, 2000; Hayes et al., 2001; Schnatter *et al.*, 2005). It has recently been shown that cumulative exposures as low as 8 ppm-years have resulted in significantly increased leukemia risks (Glass *et al.*, 2003).

The mechanisms of leukemogenesis and benzene induced toxicities are not yet fully understood. Given that benzene metabolites can cause DNA damage, aneusomy or other insults (*e.g.* associated with inhibition of topoisomerase II), benzene metabolites can be termed as initiators. Also they can induce expansion of a less differentiated pool of myeloid cells, which is a property of a promoter (Snyder, 2000b; Snyder, 2000a). One suggested mechanism for benzene-induced leukemia is depicted in Fig. 1.1.



Figure 1. 1. Postulated processes of benzene-induced leukemia (modified from (Snyder, 2000b)). Legends: ROS, reactive oxygen species; HQ, hydroquinone.

1.2.3. Other Effects

Several reports have linked benzene exposure to a host of other effects (ATSDR, 1997) including menstruation disorders (Dahl *et al.*, 1999), spontaneous abortions (Xu *et al.*, 1998), melanoma, breast cancer (Petralia *et al.*, 1999) and childhood leukemia (Pearson *et al.*, 2000; Zeise and McDonald, 2000). However, causal relationships between exposure and these effects have not been established due to co-exposures to other xenobiotics and inconsistent results among studies (NICNAS, 2001).

1.3. Metabolism of Benzene

1.3.1. General Pathways of Benzene Metabolism

While it is generally accepted that benzene causes toxic effects via metabolism, the particular toxic metabolite(s) remains elusive (Snyder and Hedli, 1996; Snyder, 2000b). The major metabolic pathways are shown in Figure 1.2. Benzene is metabolized by cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes (primarily CYP2E1) to benzene oxide (BO, which is in equilibrium with its tautomer, oxepin), an electrophile that binds to macromolecules (Lindstrom *et al.*, 1998; Lindstrom et al., 1999; Yeowell-O'Connell et al., 2001; Rappaport et al., 2002) and is the source of all other metabolites. Spontaneous rearrangement of BO produces phenol (PH) (Jerina and Daly, 1974), which can undergo another CYP oxidation to give hydroquinone (HQ)(Koop et al., 1989; Valentine et al., 1996). Hydrolysis of BO via epoxide hydrolase (EPHX1) produces benzene dihydrodiol which can be converted to catechol (CA), via dihydrodiol dehydrogenases, or to benzene diolepoxides via CYP oxidation(Bolcsak and Nerland, 1983). Hydroquinone and CA can be oxidized to 1,4-BQ and 1,2-BQ, respectively, which also bind to macromolecules (McDonald *et al.*, 1993; Waidyanatha *et al.*, 1998; Yeowell-O'Connell et al., 2001). A second CYP oxidation of oxepin, followed by ring opening, produces the muconaldehydes (MUC) (Witz et al., 1996). These reactive species are also capable of binding to macromolecules (Golding and Watson, 1999; Amin and Witz, 2001; Oshiro et al., 2001) and are ultimately converted to E, E-muconic acid (MA) (Snyder and Hedli, 1996; Scherer et al., 1998). The major phenolic metabolites, i.e., PH, HQ, and CA, are easily conjugated and excreted in urine (Sabourin *et al.*, 1989; Seaton *et al.*, 1995; Snyder, 2004). Minor pathways of benzene metabolism include S-phenylmercapturic acid (SPMA) following reaction of BO with glutathione, supposedly via glutathione S-transferase (GST) (Boogaard and van Sittert, 1996; Henderson et al., 2005a), and 1,2,4trihydroxybenzene via CYP oxidation of HQ(Rushmore *et al.*, 1984; Ross, 2000). Of all the

benzene metabolites, 1,4-benzoquinone (derived from HQ) has most often been linked to the spectrum of toxic effects observed in humans and animals (Smith, 1999; Snyder, 2000a; Snyder, 2000b; Inayat-Hussain and Ross, 2005).



Figure 1. 2. Simplified metabolic scheme for benzene showing major pathways and metabolizing genes.

1.3.2. Toxicological Overview of Benzene Metabolites

As described earlier, there is no doubt that benzene must be metabolized in the liver before causing adverse effects on bone marrow depression. However, it has not been clearly determined (Snyder, 2002) whether the benzene metabolites from hepatic metabolism induce bone marrow depression, and if so, what the toxicological mechanism would be. Also, the role(s) that might be played by polymorphisms of metabolizing enzymes on susceptibility to benzene-induced toxicity (and/or metabolism) has not been established. Here, we provide a brief overview of benzene metabolism from a toxicological point of view.

It has been reported that a combination of benzene metabolites is needed to induce benzene toxicity in animal and human cells *in vitro* (Eastmond *et al.*, 1987; Snyder *et al.*, 1989; Subrahmanyam *et al.*, 1989; Subrahmanyam *et al.*, 1990; Levay and Bodell, 1992; Marrazzini *et al.*, 1994; Ross, 2000; Snyder, 2004). Specifically, Snyder *et al.* reported that the potency of metabolites (or their binary combinations) as potential inhibitors of erythropoesis in mice increased in the following order: HQ-sulfate < HQ < CA < 6-OH-*tt*-2,4-hexadienal < HQ + PH < PH < CA+ PH < 1,4-BQ < MUC < MUC + HQ (Snyder *et al.*, 1989; Snyder, 2004).

Numerous studies have showed that HQ and CA are further metabolized by myeloperoxidase (MPO) or prostaglandin H synthase to form semiquinones or benzoquinones, which can bind to macromolecules in bone marrow or blood (Post *et al.*, 1986; Bhat *et al.*, 1988; Schlosser and Kalf, 1989; Subrahmanyam *et al.*, 1989; Subrahmanyam *et al.*, 1990). Given more abundant MPO in bone marrow than in liver, it has been speculated that activation of HQ and CA to toxic quinones is more likely in bone marrow than human liver (Snyder, 2002).

In addition to further metabolism of HQ, the oxygen stress from redox cycling or autooxidation can convert molecular oxygen into the superoxide anion, which is then converted to hydrogen peroxide, and the very reactive hydroxyl radical. These reactive oxygen species (ROS) damage proteins, DNA bases, structural chromosomes, lipid membranes, etc. (NICNAS, 2001). While redox cycling among HQ, 1,4-semiquinone, and 1,4-BQ can also generate ROS, it is unlikely at physiological pH owing to protonation of the semiquinone, thus limiting superoxide production (Boersma *et al.*, 1994). Alternatively, Brunmark *et al.* suggested autooxidation as an alternative source of ROS (Brunmark and Cadenas, 1988). The proposed mechanism proceeds as follows: 1,4-BQ is converted to an epoxide (2,3-epoxy-1,4-BQ), and subsequently, via reaction with glutathione, to glutathinoyl-2,3,5-trihydroxybenzene, a species which is predisposed to autooxidize and participate in redox cycling by generating superoxide anions.

Despite the lack of an animal model for benzene-induced leukemia (Snyder, 2004), the metabolism of benzene in mammals has been accepted to be qualitatively similar to that in humans (Henderson, 1996). Among mammalian species, mice are more susceptibile to benzene-induced toxicity than rats, and mice have more HQ in urine than rats at a same benzene exposure (Sabourin *et al.*, 1987; Sabourin *et al.*, 1988; Sabourin *et al.*, 1992). Also, mice produce proportionally much more MA at low doses than at high doses (Witz *et al.*, 1990). Sabourin *et al.* demonstrated that proportionally more MA and HQ were generated at lower doses in several rodent species, particularly mice. The dose-dependant shift of metabolites, which favors MA and HQ at lower exposure to benzene, has also been suggested

in humans based upon studies of occupational exposures in China (Rothman *et al.*, 1998; Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2001; Melikian *et al.*, 2002; Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2004).

1.3.3. Genetic Polymorphisms of Metabolic Enzymes

The dose of a benzene metabolites at the target organ should depend on the level of metabolic enzyme in the liver (Snyder, 2002). Therefore, considering benzene-induced toxicity, we need to verify the role of key metabolic enzymes such as CYP (in particular CYP2E1), GSTs, EPHX1, dihydrodiol dehydrogenase, NAD(P)H: quinone Oxidoreductase (NQO1), peroxidases (notably myeloperoxidase (MPO)) (Fig. 1.2) (Note: Sulfotransferase and glucuronyl transferase are also important detoxifying enzymes for PH, CA, and HQ. Since we do not focus on the potential roles of those conjugates in this study, we report levels of total phenolic metabolites (combined amounts with the free and conjugated forms).

The phase-I enzyme CYP2E1 has been established as a primary metabolic enzyme for benzene (Seaton *et al.*, 1994; Valentine *et al.*, 1996; Nedelcheva *et al.*, 1999) forming BO and subsequently PH and HQ (see Fig. 1.2). According to Seaton *et al.*, the interindividual difference in CYP2E1 activity (determined by hydroxylation of *p*-nitrophenol) varied by 13-fold (Seaton *et al.*, 1994) in human liver specimens. The distribution of genetic polymorphisms was different by races (Kato *et al.*, 1992). While *in vitro* studies showed a reduction in transcriptional activity of the gene (Hayashi *et al.*, 1991), the effect of functionality and genotypes have not be established (Bolt *et al.*, 2003). Although results among studies have been observed regarding the functionality of CYP2E1 (Lucas *et al.*, 1995; Carriere *et al.*, 1996; Kim *et al.*, 1996; Rothman *et al.*, 1997; Nedelcheva *et al.*, 1999; Wang *et al.*, 1999; Wormhoudt *et al.*, 1999; Carere *et al.*, 2002) (Ingelman-Sundberg *et al.*, 2006) (Seaton *et al.*,

1994; Seaton *et al.*, 1995), a recent *in vivo* pharmacokinetic study demonstrated that variant *CYP2E1 (RsaI)* caused less activity than wild-type *CYP2E1* (Le Marchand *et al.*, 2002).

GSTs promote the reaction of glutathione with electrophilic benzene metabolites (in particular, BO, MUC, and the benzoquinones) (Jerina and Daly, 1974; Goon *et al.*, 1993). Several studies showed that variant forms of GSTs caused benzene-induced toxicities (Hsieh *et al.*, 1999; Morgan and Smith, 2002; Dirksen *et al.*, 2004; Kim *et al.*, 2004). There have also been suggestions that GST polymorphisms are associated with increased risks of oxidative stress (Hayes *et al.*, 2005).

The EPHX1 gene catalyzes hydrolysis of arene epoxides or other reactive aliphatic metabolites (usually produced by CYP) into dihydrodiol derivatives (Morisseau and Hammock, 2005). According to a recent study using EPHX1-deficient mice, EPHX1 seems to be an important detoxifying enzyme in male mice (Bauer *et al.*, 2003a). There have been reports of an 8-fold difference in the enzymatic activity (determined by levels of a benzo[a]pyrene metabolite in liver biopsy specimens) among 40 human subjects (Hassett *et al.*, 1997).

NQO1 catalyzes various substrates such as quinones via the two- or four-election reduction (Nebert *et al.*, 2002), and thereby can retain quinones in their reduced and nontoxic forms. Among the polymorphisms of NQO1 (Nebert *et al.*, 2002), *NQO1*2* was investigated extensively (Traver *et al.*, 1997; Siegel *et al.*, 1999; Ross *et al.*, 2000). Recent data suggest that active forms of NQO1 protect against benzene-induced toxicities (Rothman *et al.*, 1997; Long *et al.*, 2002; Bauer *et al.*, 2003b), and a high ratio of MPO to NQO1 in bone marrow has been suggested to confer more susceptibility to cellular damage (Ganousis *et al.*, 1992; Ross *et al.*, 1996; Ross, 2005). NQO1 can be highly inducible by electrophiles and oxidative

stress (De Long *et al.*, 1987; Moran *et al.*, 1999; Ross, 2005), and functions as a superoxide scavenger (Thor *et al.*, 1982; Ross, 2005).

1.4. Research Aims of this Project

Since the risks of hematotoxicity and leukemia are thought to arise from human metabolism of benzene, it is important that the dose-related production of benzene metabolites be understood. According to several recent studies (Rothman *et al.*, 1998; Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2001; Melikian *et al.*, 2002), benzene metabolism appears to be dosedependant. These studies had several limitations including the followings: insufficient sample size, no adjustment of background metabolites of benzene, no measurement of air exposure for control subjects, incomplete coverage of all key metabolites of benzene, limited consideration of factors influencing inter-individual variability (*e.g.* life style, metabolic polymorphisms, etc).

In chapter 2 we discuss dose-related patterns of human benzene metabolism using urinary biomarkers. Here, we group subjects by the levels of benzene exposure and aggregate metabolite levels in these groups using empirical (non-parametric) analysis after adjusting for background levels of benzene metabolites. Then, we determine the uncertainty from the estimates of environmental exposure using a boot-strapping technique.

In chapter 3, we construct a parametric model for metabolism of benzene in humans exposed to benzene both occupationally and environmentally. The model explains the dosespecific productions of metabolites more extensively while addressing nonlinear relationship between benzene exposure and urinary metabolites of benzene. Effects of covariates (other

than metabolic polymorphisms) on benzene metabolites are also tested. Then, we use bootstrapping to determine the uncertainties in estimated dose-metabolite models.

In chapter 4, we extend the models used in chapter 3 to evaluate effects of genetic polymorphisms of metabolic enzymes. Thus, the enhanced models include nonlinear effects of benzene exposure, life-style factors, single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) of the key enzymes for benzene metabolism, and two-way interactions between SNPs and exposure or smoking.

CHAPTER 2.

USING URINARY BIOMARKERS TO ELUCIDATE DOSE-RELATED PATTERNS OF HUMAN BENZENE METABOLISM

[Kim S, Vermeulen R, Waidyanatha S, Johnson AB, Lan Q, Rothman N, et al. Carcinogenesis 2006;27:772-781.]

2.1. Abstract

Although the toxicity of benzene has been linked to its metabolism, the dose-related production of metabolites is not well understood in humans, particularly at low levels of exposure. We investigated unmetabolized benzene in urine (UBz) and all major urinary metabolites [phenol (PH), *E*,*E*-muconic acid (MA), hydroquinone (HQ), and catechol (CA)] as well as the minor metabolite, *S*-phenylmercapturic acid (SPMA), in 250 benzene-exposed workers and 139 control workers in Tianjin, China. Median levels of benzene exposure were about 1.2 ppm for exposed workers (interquartile range: 0.53–3.34 ppm) and 0.005 ppm for control workers (interquartile range: 0.002 – 0.007 ppm). (Exposures of control workers to benzene were predicted from levels of benzene in their urine). Metabolite production was

investigated among groups of 30 workers aggregated by their benzene exposures. We found that the urine concentration of each metabolite was consistently elevated when the group's median benzene exposure was at or above the following air concentrations: 0.2 ppm for MA and SPMA, 0.5 ppm for PH and HQ, and 2 ppm for CA. Dose-related production of the 4 major metabolites and total metabolites (µmol/l per ppm benzene) declined between 2.5 and 26 fold as group median benzene exposures increased between 0.027 and 15.4 ppm. Reductions in metabolite production were most pronounced for CA and PH below one ppm, indicating that metabolism favored production of the toxic metabolites, HQ and MA, at low exposures.

2.2. Introduction

Benzene is an important industrial chemical that is also emitted into the air from gasoline, engine exhausts, and combustion of organic materials (including cigarette smoke) (IARC, 1987; Wallace, 1996). Occupational exposures to benzene at air levels greater than about 10 ppm, have long been linked to hematotoxicity and to acute myelogenous leukemia (IARC, 1982; Hayes *et al.*, 1997; Savitz and Andrews, 1997). A recent report of hematotoxic effects in workers exposed to benzene below one ppm (Lan *et al.*, 2004) has raised additional concerns regarding the health consequences of low exposures to this contaminant.

While it is generally accepted that benzene causes toxic effects via metabolism, the particular toxic metabolite(s) remains elusive(Snyder, 2000a). The major metabolic pathways are shown in Figure 2.1. Benzene is metabolized by CYP enzymes (primarily

CYP2E1) to benzene oxide (BO, which is in equilibrium with its tautomer, oxepin), an electrophile that binds to macromolecules (Lindstrom *et al.*, 1998; Lindstrom *et al.*, 1999; Yeowell-O'Connell *et al.*, 2001; Rappaport *et al.*, 2002) and is the source of all other metabolites. Spontaneous rearrangement of BO produces phenol (PH), which can undergo



Figure 2.1. Simplified metabolic scheme for benzene showing major pathways.

another CYP oxidation to give hydroquinone (HQ). Hydrolysis of BO via epoxide hydrolase produces benzene dihydrodiol which can be converted to catechol (CA), via dihydrodiol dehydrogenases, or to benzene diolepoxides via CYP oxidation. Hydroquinone and CA can be oxidized to 1,4-benzoquinone and 1,2-benzoquinone, respectively, which also bind to macromolecules (McDonald et al., 1993; Waidyanatha et al., 1998; Yeowell-O'Connell et al., 2001). A second CYP oxidation of oxepin, followed by ring opening, produces the muconaldehydes. These reactive species are also capable of binding to macromolecules (Golding and Watson, 1999; Amin and Witz, 2001; Oshiro et al., 2001; Henderson *et al.*, 2005b) and are ultimately converted to *E*,*E*-muconic acid (MA) (Snyder and Hedli, 1996). The major phenolic metabolites, i.e., PH, HQ, and CA are easily conjugated and excreted in urine (Sabourin et al., 1989; Kenyon et al., 1995; Seaton et al., 1995). Minor pathways of benzene metabolism include S-phenylmercapturic acid (SPMA) following reaction of BO with glutathione (Henderson et al., 2005a), and 1,2,4trihydroxybenzene via CYP oxidation of HQ. Of all the benzene metabolites, 1,4benzoquinone (derived from HQ) has most often been linked to the spectrum of toxic effects observed in humans and animals (Smith, 1996; Snyder, 2000a; Snyder, 2000b; Inayat-Hussain and Ross, 2005).

Since risks of hematotoxicity and leukemia are thought to arise from benzene metabolism, it is important that the dose-related production of benzene metabolites be understood. Two recent studies have reported levels of urinary metabolites in both benzeneexposed workers and control workers in China (Rothman *et al.*, 1998; Qu *et al.*, 2000; Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2001; Melikian *et al.*, 2002). Metabolite profiles from those studies suggested shifts among the competing metabolic pathways at increasing levels of benzene exposure. The Chinese studies also pointed to relatively high levels of the phenolic metabolites, PH, CA and HQ in control workers, presumably from dietary and endogenous sources of these compounds. These background levels of metabolites tend to obscure the amounts of PH, CA and HQ derived from ambient benzene exposure and from cigarette consumption. Also, because benzene air concentrations levels were not reported for control subjects in previous Chinese studies, they could not be used to determine the utility of the various metabolites as biomarkers of exposure to benzene at environmental levels.

In the present study we report levels of benzene in air and urine, as well as urinary levels of PH, CA, HQ, MA and SPMA, among 389 subjects (250 exposed and 139 controls) in a Chinese population that has shown evidence of hematotoxic effects (Lan *et al.*, 2004). Because some personal measurements of airborne benzene were below the limits of detection (LOD) or were missing, we predict benzene exposures in these (mostly control) subjects from the levels of unmetabolized benzene in urine (UBz). Then, we use the data to characterize relationships between metabolite levels and benzene exposures in groups of subjects stratified by exposure level. This analysis identifies useful ranges of the various metabolites as biomarkers of benzene exposure. Finally, we estimate the dose-related production of each metabolite (µM urine per ppm benzene) after adjusting for background levels.

2.3. Materials and Methods

2.3.1. Chemicals

Benzene, CA (99%) and HQ (>99%) were obtained from Fluka Chemical Co. (Switzerland). NaCl was purchased from Fisher Scientific (Pittsburg, PA) and was heated at

120°C overnight prior to use. PH (99%+, redistilled), MA (98%), and [${}^{2}H_{6}$]benzene (99.86%) were obtained from Aldrich Chemical (Milwaukee, WI). [${}^{13}C_{6}$]PH (99%) and [${}^{2}H_{6}$]CA (98%) were purchased from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories (Woburn, MA). Phenylmercapturic acid, Tri-Sil reagent, and concentrated hydrochloric acid (Optima grade) were purchased from TCI America (Portland, OR), Pierce (Rockford, IL), and Fisher Scientific (Pittsburgh, PA), respectively. Ethyl acetate (analytical reagent grade) and hexane (nanograde) were obtained from Mallinckrodt Baker (Paris, KT). Anhydrous Na₂SO₄ was purchased from J.T. Baker (Phillipsburg, NJ). 2,5-[${}^{13}C_{2}$]MA, [${}^{2}H_{5}$]SPMA and [${}^{13}C_{6}$]HQ were kindly provided by Drs. Avram Gold, Ramiah Sangaiah and Alistair Henderson from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. All headspace solid phase microextraction (HS-SPME) supplies were obtained from Supelco (Bellefonte, PA).

2.3.2. Subject Recruitment and Sample Collection

Subjects (n = 390) were recruited with informed consent from five factories in Tianjin, China. Exposed subjects (n = 250) worked in two shoe-making factories, and control subjects (n = 140) worked in three clothes-manufacturing factories as previously described (Lan *et al.*, 2004; Vermeulen *et al.*, 2004). The eligibility and exclusion criteria for participation were the same as in previous reports, and one control subject who did not provide a urine sample was removed. Exposed and control subjects were frequency matched by gender. As shown in Table 2.1, demographic characteristics were similar among exposed and control workers in terms of gender, age and smoking status. Smoking status was highly correlated with gender. Personal protective equipment was not used.
Exposure Status	Gender	n (%)	Age median (range)	Current smokers n (%)	Smoking intensity ^a median (range)
Control	Male	52 (37.4)	28 (18-51)	36 (69.2)	10 (1-40)
	Female	87 (62.5)	28 (18-51)	3 (3.45)	NR^{b}
	All	139 (100)	28 (18-51)	39 (28.1)	10 (1-40)
Exposed	Male	86 (34.4)	23 (18–44)	47 (54.7)	10 (1-30)
	Female	164 (65.6)	33 (18–52)	5 (3.05)	4.5 (2–10)
	All	250 (100)	29 (18-52)	52 (20.8)	7 (1–30)

 Table 2.1. Demographic characteristics of the study population.

^a Average number of cigarettes/day.

^b Not reported.

Full-shift exposures to benzene were monitored with passive samplers (Organic Vapor Monitors, 3M Corp., St. Paul, MN), and urine was collected from each participant at the end of each working shift for which air had been monitored. Air samples were analyzed for benzene by gas chromatography with flame-ionization detection as described previously (Vermeulen *et al.*, 2004). The nominal LOD was 0.20 ppm of benzene in air.

Urine samples were collected repeatedly (up to 4 times) in 139 subjects at intervals of about 42 days (median value) from June 2000 to June 2001. The other 250 subjects provided a single urine specimen. Urine samples were aliquoted immediately after collection, and stored at -80° C for 1.6 - 4.0 y (for UBz) and 2.2 - 3.8 y (for urinary metabolites) prior to analysis. Samples were identified by randomly assigned numbers. Information about exposure levels and demographic factors were released after all assays had been completed and results reported to collaborators. A total of 620 urine specimens were analyzed from 389 subjects. Urinary creatinine was quantified with a commercial kit (Monarch Instrument, Amherst, NH) as described previously (Rothman *et al.*, 1998).

For quality control purposes, positive controls were assayed with each batch of urine samples. They were prepared from a single urine specimen obtained from an unexposed volunteer to which had been added sufficient quantities of standard analytes to achieve the following concentrations: UBz – 24.5 nM, MA – 32.3 μ M, SPMA – 2.65 μ M, and PH – 92.8 μ M, CA – 94.1 μ M and HQ – 69.7 μ M. Batches of positive controls were aliquoted into 2-ml vials and stored at -80°C prior to analysis.

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of the University of North Carolina, the University of California, Berkeley, the U.S. National Cancer Institute and the Chinese Academy of Preventive Medicine.

2.3.3. Measurement of Urinary Benzene

Levels of UBz were determined according to the method of Waidyanatha *et al.* (Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2001), with minor modifications. Briefly, to 0.5 ml of urine in a 2-ml vial containing ca. 0.5 g of NaCl was added one μ l of 59.4 μ M [²H₆]benzene in methanol (internal standard). The vial was immediately sealed with a PTFE/silicone septum and benzene was extracted from the headspace with a 30- μ m polydimethylsiloxane fiber (Supelco, PA) at 40°C for 15 min. Samples were analyzed by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) in electron ionization (EI) mode using a HP 5980 Series II gas chromatograph coupled to a HP 5971-A mass selective detector. Sample injections were performed with a Varian Model 8200 autosampler (Walnut Creek, CA) equipped with a carousel (Strumenti Scientific, Padova, Italy). The injector, MS-transfer line and ion source temperatures were 200, 280, and 168°C, respectively. A DB-1 fused silica capillary column (60 m, 0.25-mm i.d., 0.25- μ m film thickness) was used with He as the carrier gas at a flow rate of 1 ml/min. The GC oven was held at 45°C for 9 min, and was then increased at 10

^oC/min to 100 ^oC. Late eluting compounds were removed by rapidly raising the oven temperature to 250^oC. The mass spectrometer was operated with an electron energy of 70 eV, and ions were monitored at m/z 78 and 84 for benzene and $[^{2}H_{6}]$ benzene, respectively. The retention times were 8.56 and 8.50 min for benzene and $[^{2}H_{6}]$ benzene, respectively. Quantification was based on peak areas relative to the isotopically labeled internal standard.

2.3.4. Measurement of Benzene Metabolites

Levels of CA, HQ, MA, PH and SPMA were determined according to the method of Waidyanatha *et al.*, with minor modifications (Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2001). Briefly, to 0.5 ml of urine in a 4-ml vial was added 10 μ l of a mixture (in methanol) of 1.73 mM [¹³C₂]MA, 0.205 mM [²H₅]SPMA, 6.24 mM [¹³C₆]PH, 2.19 mM [²H₄]CA, and 2.15 mM [¹³C₆]HQ (internal standards). After adding 50 μ l of concentrated HCl, the mixture was extracted with 1.5 ml of ethyl acetate and the organic phase, containing MA, SPMA, and free PH, CA, and HQ, was transferred to another 4-ml vial. Then, a 10- μ l aliquot of a mixture containing the above quantities of internal standards of PH, CA, and HQ was added to the aqueous phase, which was heated at 100°C for one h to hydrolyze the conjugates. After cooling to room temperature, the aqueous phase was extracted with an additional 1.5 ml of ethyl acetate. The two organic extracts were combined, dried with anhydrous Na₂SO₄, reduced under N₂, transferred to a 500- μ l flat-bottomed insert, and brought to dryness under N₂. The residue was dissolved in 100 μ l hexane and derivatized with 100 μ l Tri-Sil reagent at 70°C for one h.

Samples were analyzed by GC-MS in EI mode with the same instrumentation described above using automated liquid injection. A 2- μ l injection was analyzed in splitless mode for SPMA; here, the GC oven was maintained at 75°C for 4 min, and was then increased at 8°C/min to 245°C, where it was held for 10 min. A 1- μ l portion was analyzed in (1:20) split

mode for PH, CA, HQ, and MA; here, the GC oven was maintained at 75 °C for 4 min, and was then increased at 10 °C/min to 230°C and held for 4 min. In both cases, late eluting compounds were removed by rapidly raising the oven temperature to 270°C and holding this temperature for 15 min. The following ions were monitored for trimethylsilyl (TMS)-derivatives of the analytes: TMS-PH [m/z 166, M⁺], TMS-[¹³C₆]PH [m/z 172, M⁺], TMS-CA [m/z 254, M⁺], [²H₄]CA [m/z 258, M⁺], TMS-HQ [m/z 254, M⁺], TMS-[¹³C₆]HQ [m/z 260, M⁺], TMS-MA [m/z 271, (M-15)⁺], TMS-I¹³C₂]MA [m/z 273, (M-15)⁺], TMS-SPMA [m/z 252, (M-NH₂COCH₃)⁺], and TMS-[²H₅]SPMA [m/z 257, M-NH₂COCH₃)⁺]. The respective retention times were 12.66, 12.66, 17.65, 17.62, 18.83, 18.83, 21.91, and 21.91 min for TMS-PH, TMS-[¹³C₆]PH, TMS-CA, TMS-[²H₄]CA, TMS-HQ, TMS-[¹³C₆]HQ, TMS-MA, and TMS-[¹³C₂]MA in split mode, and 32.65 and 32.59 for TMS-SPMA and TMS-[²H₅]SPMA in splitless mode. Quantification was based on peak areas relative to the corresponding isotopically labeled internal standards.

2.3.5. Creatinine Adjustment for Benzene Metabolites

It is customary to adjust urinary metabolite levels for urinary creatinine to control for urine volume at the time of collection. However, such adjustments can introduce biases and reduce precision, due to variation of creatinine levels with gender, age, body mass index, and other physiological factors (Zacur *et al.*, 1997; Hall Moran *et al.*, 2001; Ikeda *et al.*, 2003). In preliminary regression models, we observed lower adjusted-R² values using creatinineadjusted metabolite levels compared to unadjusted values. We also found significant effects of age, gender and body mass index upon creatinine levels in our samples of workers. Thus, for all statistical analyses we used metabolite levels without adjustment for urinary creatinine. The following median levels of urinary creatinine were observed in our samples

of workers: all subjects – 11.6 mM; female controls – 10.4 mM; male controls – 11.5 mM; female exposed – 11.4 mM; and male exposed – 13.9 mM.

2.3.6. Predicting Low-level Exposures from Urinary Benzene

All air samples from control subjects were below the LOD (n = 160) and some measurements from exposed subjects were either below the LOD (n = 70) or were missing (n = 23). In order to predict the levels of benzene exposure in these samples, we used the logscale linear regression of UBz on air benzene (228 data pairs) shown in Figure 2.2.A. For subjects having multiple air and urine samples, the mean values of the natural logarithms of urine and air levels were used. The following calibration curve was derived from the parameters of the simple linear regression: benzene (ppm) = $\exp\left(\frac{\ln(UBz, nmol/l) - 5.42}{0.886}\right)$.

Note that these predicted values of benzene exposure include contributions from smoking. Uncertainties in this relationship were evaluated via a bootstrapping technique as described below.



Figure 2.2. Calibration curve for predicting air concentrations of benzene from the corresponding urinary levels. (A) Points represent observed air and urine concentrations and the line represents the least-squares regression equation: $\ln(\text{urinary benzene}, nM) = 5.42$

+ $0.886 \times \ln(\text{air benzene, ppm})$ (n = 228, adjusted $\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.428$; 95 confidence of intercept, 5.24 - 5.61; 95 confidence interval of slope, 0.752 - 1.02). The curves represent 95% confidence intervals and 95% prediction intervals. (B) Scatter plot of urinary benzene versus air benzene from the current study (open circles) and data from Ghittori *et al.* (Ghittori *et al.*, 1993) obtained from measurements from 63 nonsmoking subjects exposed to benzene (closed circles).

2.3.7. Investigating Exposure-Metabolite Relationships

The relationships between levels of metabolites and exposure were explored using median values and interquartile ranges. Based upon 13 groups of 30 subjects stratified by exposure the following median air concentrations (ppm) were observed: 0.001, 0.002, 0.004, 0.007, 0.027, 0.273, 0.508, 0.689, 1.02, 1.57, 2.41, 5.45, and 15.4. Multiple comparison tests were utilized to generate step-functions showing statistically significant increases in geometric mean (GM) metabolite levels from group to group. These step functions were used to define levels of benzene exposure at which metabolite concentrations were statistically distinguishable from background values.

A similar grouping scheme (30 subjects stratified by exposure level) was used to investigate the dose-related production of each benzene metabolite, after adjustment for background metabolite levels. Background levels were estimated as median metabolite concentrations in 60 subjects with the lowest benzene exposures (median predicted benzene concentration = 0.002 ppm). Adjustment involved subtracting background metabolite levels from the corresponding urine concentrations observed in each subject. After grouping by benzene exposure (n = 30 per group) the median metabolite level in each group was divided by the median air concentration of benzene to estimate dose-related production of each metabolite (μ M per ppm benzene) for the 9 groups with estimated median benzene exposures between 0.027 and 15.4 ppm. Uncertainties in estimated median values of benzene exposure and background-adjusted metabolite levels were evaluated via a bootstrapping technique as described below.

2.3.8. Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using SAS software for Windows v. 9.12 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC). Between one and four concurrent air and urine samples from each subject were available for statistical analysis (median = 2/subject). For subjects with multiple samples, estimated individual GM levels were used for all analyses. Non-detectable levels of urinary analytes were replaced by LOD/ $\sqrt{2}$ [UBz: n = 8 (1.29%); SPMA: n = 30 (4.84%)] (Hornung and Reed, 1990). The precision of the assay for each urinary analyte was estimated as the coefficient of variation (*CV*) from 84 pairs of duplicate urine samples (from exposed and control workers), which had been aliquoted and assigned random identification numbers prior to shipment to the laboratory. The *CV* was estimated as $CV = \sqrt{\exp(s_{\varepsilon}^2) - 1}$, where s_{ε}^2 is the estimated error variance obtained from a one-way analysis of variance of the log-transformed levels of each analyte (Proc NESTED of SAS).

To evaluate possible effects of sample storage at -80°C upon the levels of UBz and the benzene metabolites, the logged level of each urinary analyte was regressed upon the corresponding logged air concentration of benzene and the time of storage using a mixedeffects model, which included a random-subject effect to account for multiple urine specimens being collected from some persons (Proc MIXED of SAS).

Median levels of benzene exposure and those of the urinary metabolites were compared by exposure status, gender, and smoking status using the Wilcoxon two-sample test (twosided tests with a significance level of 0.05, Proc NPAR1WAY of SAS). Trends of (median) metabolite levels versus benzene exposure were tested with Spearman correlation coefficients, (Proc CORR of SAS). Differences in mean values of logged metabolite levels among groups of 30 subjects aggregated by benzene exposure were tested using Tukey's multiple comparisons test (Proc GLM of SAS). These tests were used to determine levels of benzene exposure where metabolite levels could be differentiated from background values.

We predicted air exposures of control subjects from their levels of urinary benzene and used these predicted exposures to group subjects for aggregated analyses. Thus, to estimate dose-related profiles of metabolite production, and the associated uncertainties, bootstrapping was performed based upon median values of background-adjusted metabolite levels and the corresponding levels of benzene exposure. First, resampling was conducted (with replacement) 1000 times to predict nondetected air exposures from urinary benzene levels, using the 228 data pairs shown in Figure 2.2. For each of the 1000 samples, predicted air concentrations were combined with observed air concentrations, median background levels from the lowest 60 exposed persons were subtracted from individual metabolite levels, and data were aggregated for groups of 30 subjects. Then, 5th, 50th and 95th percentiles of the distributions of estimated median values of air and metabolite concentrations were obtained. Differences in dose-related production of each metabolite between adjacent exposure groups were evaluated with Kruskal-Wallis tests for overall group effects and trends (Proc FREQ of SAS).

2.4. Results

2.4.1. Precision, Sensitivity and Storage Stability

Estimates of *CV*s for the urinary analytes were as follows: UBz - 21.1%, MA – 6.15%, SPMA – 46.2%, PH – 4.97%, CA – 6.50%, and HQ – 4.81%. Based on a volume of 0.5 ml urine and a signal-to-noise ratio of 3:1, the following LODs were estimated: UBz, 0.128 nM,

MA, 5.66 nM (one µl injected with 1:20 split), and SPMA, 0.836 nM (2 µl with splitless injection). Values of LOD were not estimated for PH, CA, and HQ due to the presence of background levels of these compounds in all urine specimens. The LOD for measurements of airborne benzene had previously been assigned a nominal value of 0.2 ppm (Vermeulen *et al.*, 2004). When the period of storage was included as a fixed effect in mixed-effects models of the logged levels of UBz and the benzene metabolites on the logged benzene air concentrations, the observed regression coefficients were very small relative to the intercepts and showed no evidence of statistical significance (p > 0.2). This indicates that all analytes were stable during long periods of storage at -80°C in this study.

2.4.2. Summary Statistics

Estimates of median levels, ranges and interquartile ranges of air exposures to benzene and all urinary analytes are summarized in Table 2.2, after stratification by exposure status, gender, and smoking status. Among occupationally exposed subjects, air levels of benzene ranged from 0.017 to 88.9 ppm (interquartile range: 0.529 - 3.34 ppm), with median values of about 1.2 ppm in all categories of subjects. Among control subjects, median exposures (predicted from UBz levels) were between 3 and 6 parts per billion (ppb) depending upon gender and smoking status. Although air and urinary concentrations of benzene were comparable in all categories of exposed workers, females had significantly higher median levels of SPMA (p = 0.048) and PH (p = 0.038) than males. No significant differences were observed between smokers and nonsmokers in the exposed group. Control subjects who were smokers had higher median levels of all urinary analytes than nonsmokers, notably UBz (p = 0.003), CA (p = 0.034) and HQ (p = 0.001), indicating the likely presence of these analytes in cigarette smoke. Although there were no significant effects of gender on

metabolite levels in control subjects, when nonsmokers were further stratified by gender,

females (n = 84) had significantly higher median levels of PH (63.3 vs. 46.4 μ M, p = 0.037)

and CA (13.2 vs. 7.99 μ M, p = 0.010) than males (n = 16).

<u> </u>					Exposed ^{§§}				
Variable	Female (<i>n</i> = 87)	Male (<i>n</i> = 52)	Nonsmoker $(n = 100)$	Smoker (<i>n</i> = 39)	Female (<i>n</i> = 164)	Male (<i>n</i> = 86)	Nonsmoker (<i>n</i> = 198)	Smoker (<i>n</i> = 52)	
Air benzene [†]									
Median	3.4	3.71	3.09	6.07	1.28	1.05	1.18	1.18	
Range	0.146-21.2	0.146-533	0.146 -21.2	0.146 -533	0.017-88.9	0.122-50.2	0.017-88.9	0.122-40.1	
IQ range	1.70-6.80	2.13-9.71	1.70 -5.91	2.56 -17.6	0.523-4.21	0.572-2.36	0.520-3.34	0.588-3.02	
p-value	0.2	273	0.0	03	0.588		0.889		
UBz (nM)									
Median	1.48	1.59	1.36	2.47	283	216	267	197	
Range	0.091-7.47	0.091-130	0.091-7.47	0.091-130	6.21-53900	19.4-42600	6.21-53900	19.4-41600	
IQ range	0.799-2.73	0.973-3.74	0.797-2.41	1.15-6.32	87.3-1020	96.3-643	96.3 -810	85.3-654	
p-value	0.2	273	0.0	03	0.6	535	0.702		
MA (µM)									
Median	1.06	1.09	1.06	1.11	13.5	10.3	12.3	12.4	
Range	0.152-6.17	0.132-5.78	0.152-6.17	0.132-4.96	0.644-426	1.50-370	0.644-426	2.15-347	
IQ range	0.549-1.75	0.774-1.72	0.543-1.70	0.803-1.74	6.33-34.5	5.39-22.4	6.13-28.5	6.22-28.4	
p-value	0.5	565	0.3	84	0.272		0.473		
SPMA (nM)									
Median	1.94	3.24	1.96	3.17	262	137	228	171	
Range	0.591-86.4	0.591-68.1	0.591-86.4	0.591-68.1	1.50-29400	3.68-33000	1.50-29400	4.06-33000	
IQ range	1.17-3.62	1.04-6.93	1.13-4.25	1.09-7.37	50.6-788	48.9-353	50.1-631	47.9 -412	
p-value	0.4	179	0.4	93	0.0)48	0.6	38	
PH (μM)									
Median	61.4	53.2	61.3	56.3	171	134	158	135	
Range	9.48-208	7.58-336	9.48-208	7.58-336	15.9-3740	41.8-4140	15.9-4140	41.8-3380	
IQ range	45.0-103	28.8-82.0	43.7-89.6	29.0-98.5	102-310	86.6-190	100-261	84.6-313	
p-value	0.1	17	0.4	15	0.0	0.038		0.391	
CA (µM)									
Median	13.3	12.7	12.1	15.7	21.8	21	20.5	23.7	
Range	2.30-61.1	2.45-46.6	2.30-61.1	2.45-46.6	3.50-420	4.20-438	3.50-438	7.08-348	
IQ range	8.06-17.0	7.07-18.9	7.50-15.8	9.90-19.8	13.3-33.0	12.6-29.4	12.6-32.1	13.8-35.5	
p-value	0.7	0.786 0.034		0.411		0.153			
HQ (µM)									
Median	5.95	7.35	5.93	8.52	17.7	18.5	17.1	19.6	
Range	1.54-39.1	1.32-41.7	1.40-39.1	1.32-41.7	2.29-427	3.20-341	2.29-427	5.76-375	
IQ range	4.44-8.88	4.48-11.7	4.11-8.86	5.65-13.9	11.2-36.8	11.5-27.8	10.4-29.1	14.9-35.9	
p-value	0.106		0.001		0.925		0.084		

Table 2.2. Summary statistics for exposure to benzene and urinary analytes.

Legend: IQ range - interquartile range, benzene - benzene in air, UBz - urinary benzene, MA - *E,E*- muconic acid, SPMA - *S*-phenylmercapturic acid, PH - phenol, CA - catechol, HQ - hydroquinone. [†] Exposure to benzene for control subjects was predicted from the relationship between UBz and air exposure. § unit of air benzene, ppb. §§ unit of air benzene, ppm.



Figure 2.3. Levels of urinary metabolites versus air exposures to benzene. Each vertical box depicts median, 25^{th} and 75^{th} percentiles of a given metabolite at the median level of exposure for data grouped by exposure levels (30 subjects per group). Horizontal lines represent groups with equivalent metabolite levels (Tukey's multiple comparison tests). Arrows represent air exposure levels where it is possible to distinguish benzene metabolites from background sources. Legend: MA - *E*,*E*-muconic acid, SPMA - *S*-phenylmercapturic acid, PH – phenol, CA - catechol, and HQ– hydroquinone.

2.4.3. Distinguishing Benzene Metabolites from Background Sources

Figure 2.3 shows median levels and interquartile ranges for concentrations of each metabolite among groups of 30 subjects aggregated by benzene exposure. As exposure increased, the levels of metabolites also increased (estimated Spearman coefficients of median values for PH: 0.973, HQ: 0.945, CA: 0.934, MA: 0.973, and SPMA: 0.973, all with p < 0.001). The step functions signify nominal exposure concentrations at which statistically significant increases in metabolite levels were observed. As exposure increased, the contribution of benzene to each metabolite could consistently be discerned at some point (Tukey's multiple comparisons test), as indicated by an arrow in Figure 2.3. Although there were marginal increases in median levels of MA, PH, CA, and HQ at median benzene exposures as low as 0.02 ppm, elevations were not unambiguous below air concentrations of 0.2 ppm for MA and SPMA, 0.5 ppm for PH and HQ and 2 ppm for CA. From these results, it appears that none of the metabolites would be useful for biomonitoring of benzene at environmental levels (generally below 0.01 ppm).

2.4.4. Dose-Related Production of Benzene Metabolites

Median urine concentrations of all metabolites per ppm of benzene exposure are presented in Figure 2.4 for the 9 groups of workers having exposures above 0.01 ppm (after adjustment for background values). Each point in the figure and the corresponding error bars represent median values and 5th and 95th percentiles of distributions of median values, as determined by bootstrapping. These curves point to the dose-related production of benzene metabolites according to the pathways shown in Figure 2.1. Over the range of exposures investigated (median benzene concentrations between 0.027 and 15.4 ppm) significant downward trends in metabolite production were observed (p < 0.001, Kruskal-Wallis tests)



Figure 2.4. Dose-related production of urinary metabolites versus air exposure to benzene. Each point and the corresponding error bars represent median values and 5^{th} and 95^{th} percentiles of distributions of estimated median values of air benzene and dose-related metabolite levels (background-adjusted metabolite concentration/air benzene concentration) for groups of 30 subjects, determined by bootstrapping (1000 iterations). Legend: MA - *E*,*E*-muconic acid, SPMA - *S*-phenylmercapturic acid, PH – phenol, CA - catechol, and HQ– hydroquinone Total – total metabolites.

for all major metabolites (PH, CA, HQ and MA) and for total metabolites (p < 0.001), while a significant upward trend was observed for SPMA (p < 0.001). The downward trend of total benzene metabolites is consistent with partial saturation of CYP metabolism of benzene between 0.027 and 15.4 ppm. The transitions were particularly apparent between the first and second exposure groups (median benzene concentrations between 0.027 and 0.274 ppm for all metabolites.

2.5. Discussion

The connections between benzene metabolism and toxicity have been extensively debated (Smith, 1996; Golding and Watson, 1999; Snyder, 2000b; Lovern *et al.*, 2001; Snyder, 2004). To gain a better understanding of human benzene metabolism, we measured the key metabolites (PH, CA, HQ, MA and SPMA) and UBz in 250 benzene exposed workers and 139 control workers from a Chinese population. Of the studies devoted to urinary biomarkers of benzene in Asian populations, none compared levels of all key metabolites with air levels representing both environmental and occupational exposures (Ong *et al.*, 1995; Ong *et al.*, 1996; Rothman *et al.*, 1998; Qu *et al.*, 2000; Melikian *et al.*, 2002; Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2004). Our goals were to determine the usefulness of the urinary metabolites as biomarkers of benzene exposure in exposed and control subjects and to elucidate the dose-related patterns of benzene metabolism along the prominent pathways shown in Figure 2.1.

Since control workers in our study were exposed to benzene in environmental air and tobacco smoke, we predicted their exposures from the corresponding UBz concentrations,

using a calibration curve obtained from exposed subjects (Figure 2.2). Such predictions should be reasonably unbiased, given previous findings of strong linear trends between levels of benzene in urine and environmental air (Ghittori et al., 1993; Ghittori et al., 1995; Fustinoni et al., 1999; Fustinoni et al., 2005a; Fustinoni et al., 2005b). This conjecture is reinforced by Figure 2.2B which plots levels of UBz versus air benzene from the current study (open circles) as well as those reported by Ghittori et al. (Ghittori et al., 1993) for 63 nonsmoking workers exposed to measured benzene concentrations between 0.01 and 4 ppm (closed circles). The two sets of measurements point to a linear log-scale relationship down to the lowest measured air level of about 0.01 ppm. Also, the median benzene air concentration predicted from UBz levels for our control subjects (3.55 ppb, n = 139) is similar to air concentrations estimated from personal monitoring of adult populations in the U.K. (3.82 ppb daytime mean value, n = 50) (Leung and Harrison, 1998), in Germany (3.44) ppb median value, n = 113) (Hoffmann *et al.*, 2000), in the U.S. (2.29 – 7.01 ppb range of median values for 5 cities, n = 421 (Rappaport and Kupper, 2004), and Italy (2.82 and 1.88) ppb for control subjects in two cities, n = 107) (Fustinoni *et al.*, 2005b).

Comparing levels of urinary analytes between smoking and nonsmoking controls, the median values of UBz, CA, HQ, MA and SPMA were all higher in smokers, while the median level of PH was marginally lower in smokers (Table 2.1). The apparent anomaly for PH is probably related to gender because male controls had lower PH levels than females and 92% of the smokers were male. [Among male controls, smokers had a higher median level of PH (58.7 μ M, *n* = 36) than male nonsmokers (46.4 μ M, *n* = 16)]. Other investigators have reported that non-occupationally exposed smokers had significantly higher urinary levels of UBz (Ghittori *et al.*, 1993; Ghittori *et al.*, 1995; Fustinoni *et al.*, 1999; Fustinoni *et al.*,

2005a), MA (Melikian *et al.*, 1994; Ghittori *et al.*, 1995; Scherer *et al.*, 1998; Melikian *et al.*, 1999; Taniguchi *et al.*, 1999; Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2004), and SPMA (Ghittori *et al.*, 1995; Maestri *et al.*, 1997; Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2004) than nonsmokers.

To estimate the equivalent air level of benzene from cigarette consumption, we regressed the (logged) predicted air concentration of benzene on the number of cigarettes smoked per day among control subjects. This led to the following relationship:

 $\ln(\text{benzene, ppm}) = -5.81 + 0.050(\text{cigarettes/d})$ (n = 134, p-value for slope = 0.003),

from which we predict that smoking 20 cigarettes/d would be equivalent to an occupational benzene exposure of 8.2 ppb ($26 \mu g/m^3$). This estimated benzene exposure of 8.2 ppb is the same as that predicted from British data (Duarte-Davidson *et al.*, 2001) for an urban smoker consuming 20 cigarettes/d.

In order to distinguish benzene-derived metabolites from background levels of the same compounds, we investigated median metabolite levels for groups of 30 subjects, aggregated by benzene exposure (Figure 2.3). Using statistical significance to discern exposure-related increases in urinary levels, we detected marginal elevations at benzene exposures between 0.02 and 0.1 ppm for all metabolites except SPMA. However, when we considered exposure levels which produced unambiguous increases in metabolite concentrations, MA and SPMA were the most sensitive biomarkers of exposure to benzene (about 0.2 ppm), followed by PH and HQ (about 0.5 ppm) and CA (about 2 ppm).

Using aggregated data, we also observed changes in dose-related metabolism of benzene (Figure 2.4) for median benzene exposures between 0.027 and 15.4 ppm. We anticipated that saturable metabolism would be detected in this range, given results from other Chinese studies (Rothman *et al.*, 1998; Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2001; Melikian *et al.*, 2002; Waidyanatha

et al., 2004), and because benzene, oxepin and PH are all thought to compete for the same enzymes (CYP2E1) (Gilmour *et al.*, 1986; Snyder *et al.*, 1993; ATSDR, 1997). And, in fact, downward trends were apparent for dose-related production of PH (9.9-fold), CA (26-fold), HQ (3.4-fold), MA (2.5-fold), and total metabolites (14-fold) (Figure 2.4). The 2.5-fold decrease observed for MA is comparable to a 3.3-fold reduction that we estimated from grouped data reported by Melikian *et al.* (Melikian *et al.*, 2002) (using differences between post-work and pre-work measurements of MA) for Chinese workers exposed to benzene concentrations between 0.34 and 22.6 ppm (estimated mean values).

Surprisingly, SPMA displayed an upward trend of production, with a 5.8-fold increase between 0.027 and 15.4 ppm (Figure 2.4). This might reflect the action of glutathione-*S*transferase or be the result of mechanisms (Henderson *et al.*, 2005a) or sites of formation of SPMA which differ fundamentally from those of the other metabolites.

It is noteworthy that the most dramatic reductions in dose-related metabolism occurred between the first two groups in Figure 2.4, with benzene exposures of 0.027 and 0.274 ppm, respectively. In this range, production of CA dropped by 16-fold and that of PH by 4.4-fold. Yet, only marginal reductions were observed in this exposure range for production of MA (44% reduction) and HQ (36% reduction). Thus, it appears that metabolism shifted away from CA and PH at low doses in favor of MA and HQ, the only major benzene metabolites requiring two CYP oxidations (Figure 2.1). When exposures exceeded about one ppm, the curves in Figure 2.4, representing major metabolites (PH, MA, HQ, and CA), became quasi-parallel, suggesting that metabolism of benzene to BO had become rate-limiting.

If our conjecture is correct that exposures to benzene below one ppm favor production of HQ and MA, there could be important implications for risk assessment. Certainly, HQ is the precursor of 1,4-benzoquinone, which is generally regarded as most hematotoxic of the benzene metabolites (Smith, 1996; Snyder and Hedli, 1996; Smith *et al.*, 2004; Snyder, 2004; Inayat-Hussain and Ross, 2005), and MA is derived from the extremely reactive and toxic muconaldehydes (Witz *et al.*, 1990; Witz *et al.*, 1996; Golding and Watson, 1999; Amin and Witz, 2001; Oshiro *et al.*, 2001). We are currently applying various nonlinear models to these data to more fully examine the dose-related metabolism of benzene and to estimate effects of physiological and genetic factors upon benzene metabolites.

CHAPTER 3.

MODELING HUMAN METABOLISM OF BENZENE FOLLOWING OCCUPATIONAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL EXPOSURES

[Kim S, Vermeulen R, Waidyanatha S, Johnson AB, Lan Q, Rothman N, et al. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2006, in press.]

3.1. Abstract

We used natural spline (NS) models to investigate nonlinear relationships between levels of benzene metabolites [*E*,*E*-muconic acid (MA), *S*-phenylmercapturic acid (SPMA), phenol (PH), hydroquinone (HQ), and catechol (CA)] and benzene exposure among 386 exposed and control workers in Tianjin, China. After adjusting for background levels (estimated from the 60 control subjects with the lowest benzene exposures), expected mean trends of all metabolite levels increased with benzene air concentrations over 0.03 - 88.9ppm. Molar fractions for PH, HQ and MA changed continuously with increasing air concentrations, suggesting that competing CYP-mediated metabolic pathways favored MA and HQ below 20 ppm and favored PH above 20 ppm. Mean trends of dose-specific levels (μ M/ppm benzene) of MA, PH, HQ, and CA all decreased with increasing benzene exposure, with an overall 9-fold reduction of total metabolites. Surprisingly, about 90% of the reductions in dose-specific levels occurred below about 3 ppm for each major metabolite. Using general linear models (GLM) with NS-smoothing functions we detected significant effects upon metabolite levels of gender, age and smoking status. Metabolite levels were about 20% higher in females and decreased between one and two percent per year of life. Also, levels of HQ and CA were greater in smoking subjects. Overall, our results indicate that benzene metabolism is highly nonlinear with increasing benzene exposure above 0.03 ppm and that current human toxicokinetic models do not accurately predict benzene metabolism below 3 ppm. Our results also suggest that GLM+NS models are ideal for evaluating nonlinear relationships between environmental exposures and levels of human biomarkers.

3.2. Introduction

Benzene is an important industrial chemical that is also ubiquitous in the environment due to emissions from gasoline and combustion of hydrocarbons and tobacco (Wallace, 1996; ATSDR, 1997). Occupational exposure to benzene can cause blood disorders, including aplastic anemia, myelodisplastic syndrome, and acute myelogenous leukemia (Hayes *et al.*, 1997; Savitz and Andrews, 1997). Significant decreases in the numbers of white blood cells and platelets have recently been reported in workers exposed to less than one ppm of benzene (Lan *et al.*, 2004). These toxic effects are thought to arise from metabolism of benzene, which proceeds along several lines, as illustrated in Figure 3.1. Of the various metabolites, 1,4-benzoquinone and the muconaldehydes are regarded as the most toxic species. However, the mechanism by which benzene causes toxicity and the shape of the exposure-response relationship are not well understood (Ross, 2000; Snyder, 2004).

We recently reported dose-specific urine concentrations of the major urinary metabolites of benzene, namely, phenol (PH), catechol (CA), hydroquinone (HQ), and *E,E*-muconic acid (MA), and a minor metabolite, *S*-phenylmercapturic acid (SPMA), in 250 benzene-exposed and 139 control workers from Tianjin, China (Kim *et al.*, 2006b). After grouping subjects according to their benzene exposures (30 subjects per group), median metabolite levels increased non-linearly with increasing median benzene concentrations between 0.03 and 20 ppm while median dose-specific levels of total metabolites (μ M/ppm benzene) decreased about 10 fold.

We sought a parsimonious statistical model with which to elaborate on our previous grouped analyses (Kim *et al.*, 2006b) and to determine effects of significant covariates, such as gender, age and smoking status, on the levels of benzene metabolites. Given the nonlinear relationships involved, we selected natural splines (NS) as basis functions for these models because they use standard (least-squares or maximum-likelihood) methods for estimating parameters and for conducting formal tests; they can be used to represent predictors in final models; and they can easily be added to generalized linear models (GLM) for considering covariate effects (Durrleman and Simon, 1989; Heuer, 1997; Harrell, 2001; Samoli *et al.*, 2005). Although generalized linear models with natural splines (GLM+NS) have been used in time-series studies of health effects associated with community air pollution (Dominici *et al.*, 2002), we could find no reports of their applications to characterize exposure-biomarker relationships.



Figure 3.1. Simplified metabolic scheme for benzene showing major pathways.

3.3. Materials and Methods

3.3.1. Subject Recruitment and Sample Collection

Exposed and control subjects, from two shoe-making factories and three clothesmanufacturing factories, respectively, in Tianjin, China, were recruited with informed consent as described previously (Lan *et al.*, 2004; Vermeulen *et al.*, 2004; Kim *et al.*, 2006b). After excluding three control subjects, who had missing values of at least one metabolite, the samples included 250 exposed subjects and 136 control subjects. Exposed and control subjects were frequency matched by region and gender. Table 3.1 shows summary statistics for the gender, age and smoking status of participants. Demographic data were obtained by questionnaires at the time of recruitment.

Exposure Status	Gender	n (%)	Air Benzene	Age	Current smokers	Smoking intensity ^a
			Median (range)	Median (range)	n (%)	Median (range)
Control	Male	52 (38.2)	3.71 (0.146 – 533) ppb	28 (18–51)	36 (69.2)	10 (1-40)
	Female	84 (61.8)	3.39 (0.146 – 21.2) ppb	28 (18–51)	3 (3.57)	NR ^b
	All	136 (100)	3.48 (0.146 – 533) ppb	28 (18–51)	39 (28.71)	10 (1-40)
Exposed	Male	86 (34.4)	1.05 (0.122 – 50.2) ppm	23 (18–44)	47 (54.7)	10 (1-30)
	Female	164 (65.6)	1.28 (0.017 – 88.9) ppm	33 (18–52)	5 (3.05)	4.5 (2–10)
	All	250 (100)	1.18 (0.017 – 88.9) ppm	29 (18-52)	52 (20.8)	7 (1-30)

 Table 3.1. Demographic characteristics of the study population.

^a Average number of cigarettes/day.

^b Not reported.

Methods of sampling air and urine were also previously described (Lan *et al.*, 2004; Vermeulen *et al.*, 2004; Kim *et al.*, 2006b). Briefly, personal full-shift air measurements were matched with post-shift urine samples from exposed and control workers. Of the 386 subjects in this analysis, 139 had repeated measurements of air and urine, making a total of 617 matched air/urine samples. Among subjects with repeated measurements, the median number of paired air and urine samples was three (range: 2 - 4).

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of the University of North Carolina, the University of California, Berkeley, the U.S. National Cancer Institute and the Chinese Academy of Preventive Medicine.

3.3.2. Measurements of Air and Urinary Analytes

The methods of measuring analytes in air and urine were described previously (Vermeulen *et al.*, 2004; Kim *et al.*, 2006b). Briefly, benzene and toluene were measured in air using passive personal monitors (Organic Vapor Monitors, 3M, St. Paul, MN) followed by solvent desorption and gas chromatography (Vermeulen *et al.*, 2004). Urinary benzene was determined by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) using head-space solidphase microextraction according to Waidyanatha *et al.* (Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2001). Urinary PH, CA, HQ, MA and SPMA were measured as trimethylsilylether derivatives by GC-MS according to Waidyanatha *et al.* (Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2004). Quantification of all urinary analytes was based on peak areas relative to the corresponding isotopically labeled internal standards.

All air samples from control subjects were below the nominal limits of detection (LOD) of 0.2 ppm for benzene and 0.3 ppm for toluene. In addition, some air measurements from exposed subjects were below the LOD (n = 70 for benzene and 67 for toluene) or were missing (n = 23). Air concentrations for these samples were predicted from the simple linear regression of levels of urinary benzene or toluene on the corresponding air levels (in log scale) as described previously for benzene(Kim *et al.*, 2006b). The minor metabolite, SPMA, was not detected in 30 urine specimens; a value of LOD/ $\sqrt{2} = 0.591$ nM was imputed to these samples (Hornung and Reed, 1990).

3.3.3. Statistical Analysis

For subjects with multiple measurements of air and urine, the estimated geometric mean air and urine concentrations were used in all statistical analyses. Relationships between levels of the urinary metabolites and the corresponding air concentrations of benzene were

examined using NS models with fixed knots. Since metabolite levels from the 60 subjects with the lowest benzene exposures were used to estimate background levels of these metabolites (described later), NS models were applied to the remaining 326 subjects. Each full NS model had the form,

$$E[\ln(Y_{m,j}) | \ln(X_j)] = \beta_{m,0} + \beta_{m,1} \ln(X_j) + \sum_{i=1}^{\kappa} \beta_{m,2i} [\ln(X_j) - \xi_i]_+^3$$
(1)

where $E[\ln(Y_{m,j})\ln(X_j)]$ is the conditional mean value of $\ln(Y_{m,j})$ representing the natural-log transform of the level of the m^{th} metabolite level in the j^{th} subject at $\ln(X_j)$, the corresponding (logged) air concentration of benzene (ppm), and ξ_i is the location of the i^{th} knot (in log-scale of benzene exposure) among total κ knots. The function $[\ln(X_j) - \xi_i]_*^3$ equals $[\ln(X_j) - \xi_i]^3$ for positive values and equals zero otherwise. Knots are joints of log-transformed air levels of benzene, showing different polynomial trends. They were assigned using equally spaced quantiles of the observations (Harrell, 2001). After comparing NS models with 3 to 7 knots, based upon 'corrected Akaike's Information Criteria' (AICc) (Burnham *et al.*, 2002), a 6-knot model was selected as a basis function for each metabolite. Then a final model was assigned to each metabolite after removing insignificant knots by stepwise elimination (p = 0.10 for retention) (Marsh, 1986), while retaining the linear term representing benzene exposure, $\beta_i \ln(X_i)$.

Effects of covariates on metabolite levels were determined using GLM+NS models having the form:

$$E[\ln(Y_{m,j}) | \ln(X_j)] = \beta_{m,0} + \beta_{m,1} \ln(X_j) + \sum_{i^*=1}^{K} \beta_{m,2i^*} [\ln(X_j) - \xi_{i^*}]_{+}^3 + \beta_{m,3k} \sum_{k=1}^{K} C_{kj}$$
(2)

where i^* indicates the i^{th} knot in final NS model for the m^{th} metabolite (m = 1, ..., 5, representing MA, SPMA, PH, CA and HQ, respectively), C_{kj} is the value of the k^{th} covariate (k = 1, ..., K) in the j^{th} subject, and the remaining terms were the same as for Model (1). The following covariates were evaluated: gender (0, female; 1, male), age (centered around the estimated mean value of 30.1 y, n = 326), smoking status (0, nonsmoker; 1, smoker), body mass index (BMI, centered around the estimated mean value of 22.5 kg/m², n = 325), coexposure to toluene (0, low exposure relative to the median concentration of 3.29 ppm (n =326) ; 1, high exposure; antibiotics used within 30 days, (0, no; 1, yes), and current alcohol consumption status (0, no; 1, yes). Main effects and two-way interactions were evaluated using Proc GLMSELECT of SAS, with backward selection based upon the smallest AICc values (Burnham *et al.*, 2002), while retaining gender, age, BMI, and smoking status in all models. With these main effects in the model, no other covariate effects or interactions were retained in final models.

All statistical analyses were performed using SAS software for Windows v. 9.12 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).

3.3.4. Molar Fractions and Dose-specific Metabolism

Let $\hat{Y}_{m,j|X_j}$ be the conditional mean value of $Y_{m,j}$, representing the m^{th} metabolite level in the j^{th} subject, given exposure level X_j under final Model (1). The molar fraction of the m^{th} metabolite, derived from benzene exposure of the j^{th} subject, was estimated as

 $\frac{(\hat{Y}_{m,j|X_j} - Y_{m,b})}{\sum_{m=1}^{5} (\hat{Y}_{m,j|X_j} - Y_{m,b})}, \text{ where } Y_{m,b} \text{ is the background level of the } m^{\text{th}} \text{ metabolite and the}$

denominator term represents 'total' metabolites from benzene. We assigned values to $Y_{m,b}$ using the median levels of $Y_{m,j}$ observed in the 60 control subjects with the lowest benzene exposures (MA, 1.03 µM; SPMA, 0.002 µM; PH, 54.4 µM; CA, 11.7 µM; HQ, 6.43 µM) (Kim *et al.*, 2006b). Dose-specific production (µM/ppm benzene) of the *m*th metabolite in the *j*th subject was estimated as $(\hat{Y}_{m,j|X_j} - Y_{m,b})/X_j$, where X_j is that subject's benzene exposure. Negative values of $(\hat{Y}_{m,j|X_j} - Y_{m,b})$ in the above computations were replaced by zeros. Because the proportions of negative values increased rapidly with decreasing exposure levels below 0.03 ppm, molar fractions and dose-specific metabolite levels were only evaluated for subjects exposed to benzene at or above 0.03 ppm (n = 267). The following percentages of negative values were observed between 0.03 and 88.9 ppm: MA - 0.29% and HQ - 14.6%.

Uncertainties in the model predictions of dose-specific metabolite levels were evaluated via bootstrap resampling with 500 iterations (implemented with the SAS macro, %*boot*). The pool of all observed benzene exposures (each representing a different subject, n = 386) was sampled, with replacement, to select a reference group (the 60 lowest observations) and an exposed group (the 326 remaining observations). Data from the exposed group (n = 326 observations) were then used to construct NS models for the various metabolites, as described above for the original data set.

3.4. Results

3.4.1. Natural Spline Models

After removal of non-significant terms from Model (1), the following reduced models were selected for the 5 metabolites:

$$\begin{aligned} \text{MA: } & \text{E}[\ln(Y_{MA,j}) \mid \ln(X_{j})] = 1.11 + 0.188[\ln(X_{j})] + 0.007[\ln(X_{j}) - \xi_{1}]_{+}^{3} - 0.022[\ln(X_{j}) - \xi_{3}]_{+}^{3}, \\ \text{SPMA: } & \text{E}[\ln(Y_{SPMA,j}) \mid \ln(X_{j})] = -6.16 - 0.072[\ln(X_{j})] + 0.040[\ln(X_{j}) - \xi_{1}]_{+}^{3} - 0.077[\ln(X_{j}) - \xi_{2}]_{+}^{3} + 0.110[\ln(X_{j}) - \xi_{3}]_{+}^{3} \\ \text{PH: } & \text{E}[\ln(Y_{PH,j}) \mid \ln(X_{j})] = 4.21 + 0.009[\ln(X_{j})] + 0.004[\ln(X_{j}) - \xi_{1}]_{+}^{3}, \\ \text{CA: } & \text{E}[\ln(Y_{CA,j}) \mid \ln(X_{j})] = 2.64 + 0.034[\ln(X_{j})] + 0.007[\ln(X_{j}) - \xi_{2}]_{+}^{3}, \\ \text{HQ: } & \ln(Y_{HQ,j}) = 2.01 + 0.036[\ln(X_{j})] + 0.004[\ln(X_{j}) - \xi_{1}]_{+}^{3} - 0.202[\ln(X_{j}) - \xi_{6}]_{+}^{3}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\xi_1 = \ln(0.004 \text{ ppm})$, $\xi_2 = \ln(0.040 \text{ ppm})$, $\xi_3 = \ln(0.513 \text{ ppm})$, $\xi_4 = \ln(1.05 \text{ ppm})$, $\xi_5 = \ln(2.37 \text{ ppm})$; $\xi_6 = \ln(13.8 \text{ ppm})$. These models are shown in Figures 3.2A-E along with the corresponding 95% confidence intervals and the individual observations for the 326 subjects.

3.4.2. Effects of Covariates

Effects of covariates, determined under Model (2) after adjustment for benzene exposure, are summarized in Table 3.2. Age and/or gender were important explanatory variables for all 5 metabolites, with males and older subjects typically having lower metabolite levels. Smokers had significantly higher levels of CA and HQ while lean subjects (lower BMI values) had significantly higher levels of CA. Co-exposure to toluene was not significant in any of the models. Likewise, alcohol consumption was not a significant predictor of any benzene metabolite, either all subjects (n = 326 including 95 current drinkers) or in male subjects (n = 118 including 88 current drinkers).



Figure 3.2. Basis functions of natural spline models fitting the 326 observations. Legends: MA, *E*,*E*-muconic acid; SPMA, *S*-phenylmercapturic acid; PH, phenol; CA, catechol; HQ, hydroquinone; open circle, observation; solid line, expected mean trends from the model; short dash, upper or lower bound of 95% confidence limit for expected means of dependant variable

Metabolite	adj.R ²	Covariate	Parameter estimate	<i>p</i> -value
MA	0.814	Intercept	1.12	<.0001
		Age	-0.019	0.001
		Sex (male)	-0.273	0.013
		BMI	0.012	0.332
		Smoking	0.109	0.345
SPMA	0.741	Intercept	-6.19	<.0001
		Age	-0.015	0.136
		Sex (male)	-0.447	0.034
		BMI	-0.016	0.478
		Smoking	0.203	0.360
РН	0.605	Intercept	4.21	<.0001
		Age	-0.011	0.025
		Sex (male)	-0.209	0.032
		BMI	-0.003	0.773
		Smoking	0.042	0.684
СА	0.504	Intercept	2.65	<.0001
		Age	-0.002	0.716
		Sex (male)	-0.257	0.007
		BMI	-0.021	0.052
		Smoking	0.329	0.001
HQ	0.690	Intercept	1.95	<.0001
		Age	-0.011	0.015
		Sex (male)	-0.209	0.026
		BMI	-0.013	0.204
		Smoking	0.356	< 0.001

Table 3.2. Effects of significant covariates on metabolite levels (after adjustment for benzene exposure).

Legend: MA, E, E,-Muconic acid; SPMA, S-phenylmercapturic acid; PH, phenol; CA, catechol; HQ, hydroquinone; adj.R², adjusted R² of final model; 95% CI 95% confidence interval of parameter; age, centered around the mean value of 30.2 y; gender, (female, reference); BMI, body mass index, centered around the mean value of 22.5 kg/m²; smoking (nonsmoker, reference).

3.4.3. Molar Fractions and Dose-specific Metabolism

The background-adjusted urine concentration of m^{th} benzene metabolite in the j^{th} subject, i.e., $(\hat{Y}_{m,j|X_i} - Y_{m,b})$, increased monotonically with benzene exposure from 0.03 to 88.9 ppm, as shown in Figure 3.3A. The corresponding molar fractions, i.e., $\frac{(\hat{Y}_{m,jX_j} - Y_{m,b})}{\sum_{m=1}^{5} (\hat{Y}_{m,jX_j} - Y_{m,b})}$ are plotted versus benzene exposure in Figure 3.3B.



Figure 3.3. Dose-dependent production of benzene metabolites. Expected mean trends from natural spline models applied to subjects with benzene exposures between 0.03 and 88.9 ppm (n = 267). (A) Background-adjusted levels of benzene metabolites. (B) Molar fractions of benzene metabolites.

Molar fractions for MA and HQ increased 3-fold (4% to 12%) and 4-fold (3% to 11%), respectively, with benzene exposure from 0.03 to 20 ppm, and then decreased with benzene exposure above 20 ppm. The molar fraction of PH showed the opposite behavior, with reduction from about 88% to 68%, for benzene exposures between 0.03 and 20 ppm, followed by increases above 20 ppm. Molar fractions for CA and SPMA remained fairly constant, at about 6% and <1%, respectively, over the whole range of benzene levels, with some upwards curvature above 20 ppm.

As shown in Figure 3.4, dose-specific metabolite levels [values of $(\hat{Y}_{m,j|X_j} - Y_{m,b})/X_j$], decreased with increasing benzene exposure for all but the minor product, SPMA. At air concentrations above 20 ppm, shifts in dose-specific metabolism are apparent, with decreasing values for MA and HQ and increasing values for PH, CA and SPMA. Uncertainties in model predictions of dose-specific metabolite levels are indicated in Figure 3.4 by iteration-trajectory plots, interquartile ranges, and 95% confidence intervals from the 500 realizations of bootstrap resampling. Although the 95% confidence intervals tended to be large for PH, HQ and CA at low benzene exposures (< 0.1 ppm), interquartile ranges were very modest for all metabolites over the entire range of predicted benzene exposures (0.03 – 88.9 ppm). Also, the median values from bootstrap analyses were very close to predictions from the NS models applied to the original 386 subjects in our study.



Figure 3.4. Dose-specific levels (μ M/ppm) of benzene metabolites, predicted by natural spline models, for benzene exposures between 0.03 and 88.9 ppm. Expected mean trends are indicated by red curves. Yellow curves are the corresponding 50th percentiles of the sampling distributions of expected mean trends from 500 iterations of bootstrap resampling. The corresponding interquartile ranges (blue curves) and 95% confidence intervals (brown curves) of expected mean trends from bootstrap resampling are shown along with the individual iteration-trajectories (grey curves).

3.5. Discussion

This study of 386 workers in Tianjin, China represents the most extensive set of measurements reported to date for paired air and urine samples from benzene-exposed workers and matched controls. We previously published the empiric relationships between urinary metabolite levels and benzene exposure, based upon groups of these same subjects who had been aggregated by their exposure levels (Kim *et al.*, 2006b). Those preliminary analyses defined crude shapes of the exposure-biomarker relationships, which showed evidence of background levels of phenolic metabolites and MA (from dietary sources and smoking) and also of partial saturation of metabolic enzymes. However, the preliminary analyses did not permit expected metabolite levels to be predicted at given air concentrations of benzene, nor did they allow effects of age, gender and other covariates to be estimated, after adjusting for benzene exposure. In the current study, we found that GLM+NS models were ideal for characterizing the continuous relationships between metabolite levels and benzene exposures (Figure 3.2) and for testing effects of demographic factors (Table 3.2). Moreover, using GLM+NS models, we can avoid problems that have plagued generalized additive models that apply backfitting algorithms (Dominici et al., 2002; Ramsay et al., 2003; He et al., 2006).

Although various spline regression models have been applied to investigate covariates in time-to-health-effects or survival analyses (Durrleman and Simon, 1989; Hess, 1994; Herndon and Harrell, 1995; Heinzl and Kaider, 1997; Heuer, 1997; Little *et al.*, 2000; Royston, 2000; Zhang *et al.*, 2000; Dominici *et al.*, 2002; Jemal *et al.*, 2002; Binquet *et al.*, 2003; European Collaborative Study, 2003; HEI, 2003; Samoli *et al.*, 2003; Vogt *et al.*, 2003; Mar *et al.*, 2005; Samoli *et al.*, 2005), we are unaware of any such applications involving

human metabolism or exposure-biomarker relationships. Since GLM+NS models are flexible and robust, they offer great promise as tools for investigating human metabolites and other biomarkers of environmental toxicants.

We used GLM+NS models to test for effects upon metabolite levels of several demographic factors (Table 3.2). Of the covariates considered, only age and/or gender consistently showed significant effects among the 5 metabolites, after adjustment for benzene exposure. Male subjects had exposure-adjusted metabolite levels that were about 20% lower than those of females. (For example, males had $100 \times (1 - e^{-0.209}) = 18.9\%$ less HQ than females at a given exposure level). Likewise, levels of 4 metabolites (MA, SPMA, PH, and HQ) diminished with age, at rates between 1.1 and 1.9 percent per year of life (Table 3.2). This range is the same as that reported for albumin adducts of benzene oxide and 1,4-benzoquinone in a different sample of Chinese workers (Rappaport *et al.*, 2002). Although we expected that co-exposure to toluene (a competitive inhibitor of benzene for CYP metabolism) would affect metabolite levels, this was not the case, possibly due to the relatively low toluene concentrations in our study (median, 3.29 ppm ; 10^{th} –90th percentile range, 0.012–21.9 ppm *n* =326).

After adjusting for benzene exposure, smoking subjects had about 40% higher levels of HQ and CA than nonsmokers (Table 3.2). Since significant smoking effects were not observed for MA, SPMA and PH, we attribute this result to the uptake of HQ and CA *per se* from cigarette smoke (Hecht *et al.*, 1981; IARC., 1986; McDonald *et al.*, 2001; McCue *et al.*, 2003). To quantify the contributions of HQ and CA derived per cigarette, we regressed the logged levels of HQ and CA on self-reported smoking frequencies in 131 control subjects, who provided this information. This resulted in the following relationships:

ln(HQ, μ M) = 1.79 + 0.021(cig./d) (p < 0.01) and ln(CA, μ M) = 2.41 + 0.011(cig./d) (p = 0.19). Based upon these models, smoking 20 cigarettes would result in 52% more HQ [i.e., $100 \times (1 - e^{(0.021 \times 20)})$ %] and 20% more CA than observed in nonsmoking control subjects.

Although background-adjusted levels of all metabolites increased monotonically with benzene exposures up to about 30 ppm (Figure 3.3A), the molar fractions for PH, HQ and MA changed continuously with increasing air concentrations (Figure 3.3B) while those for CA and SPMA remained relatively constant. This indicates that the competing CYPmediated pathways (Figure 3.1) were sensitive to the air levels of benzene inhaled by these subjects. Below 20 ppm, molar fractions of HQ and MA increased with exposure, while those of PH decreased with exposure; above 20 ppm the opposite behavior was observed. Since production of HQ and MA was preferred to that of PH (below 20 ppm), we infer that PH and oxepin were either higher-affinity substrates than benzene for the particular CYP enzymes or were more accessible to these enzymes. This conjecture is supported by studies showing that K_M values for CYP-mediated metabolism of PH and oxepin were smaller than those of benzene in tissues from humans and/or animals (Medinsky et al., 1989; Schlosser et al., 1993; Snyder et al., 1993; Seaton et al., 1994). Above 20 ppm, the second CYP oxidation steps, leading to HQ and MA, appear to have become increasingly saturated; this led to the buildup of PH and, to lesser extents, of CA and SPMA (other products of a single CYP-oxidation step) (Henderson et al., 2005a).

Using mean trends from the NS models (Figure 3.4) we investigated dose-specific levels $(\mu M/ppm)$ of the 5 benzene metabolites and their sum (total metabolites). The spaghetti plots from the 500 bootstrap realizations were dense along the observed mean trends, and interquartile ranges were relatively small. Wide 95% confidence bands were observed below
about 0.1 ppm, due to the large relative errors from background subtraction in this region, particularly for PH, HQ and CA, which have important dietary and endogenous sources (McDonald *et al.*, 2001; National Library of Medicine, 2003; EPA, 2006). However, given the narrow interquartile ranges, our conclusions regarding the mean trends should be reasonable. Overall, expected median values of dose-specific levels of total metabolites decreased about 9-fold between 0.03 and 88.9 ppm of benzene. For benzene exposures below 20 ppm, the decreasing trends were more pronounced for PH and CA (7 – 11-fold) than for HQ and MA (2 – 3-fold), reflecting the apparent preference for metabolism of the latter metabolites at low exposures (described above). At benzene exposures above 20 ppm, the trends accelerate downwards for MA and HQ and turn upwards for PH and CA, consistent with results from previous investigations of workers heavily exposed to benzene (Rothman *et al.*, 1998; Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2001; Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2004). The mean trend for the minor product, SPMA, increased over the observed range of exposures and, therefore, displayed completely different behavior than those of the major metabolites.

Interestingly, about 90% of the reductions in dose-specific metabolite levels occurred below about 3 ppm for each major product. This behavior was unexpected, given current toxicokinetic models which indicate that saturable benzene metabolism should not be observed below about 3 - 10 ppm in humans (Travis *et al.*, 1990; Rappaport *et al.*, 2005). Thus, our results suggest that current toxicokinetic models for benzene are not accurate for air concentrations below 3 ppm.

It is also important to point out that human health risks associated with benzene exposure are based upon linear extrapolation from epidemiology studies involving workers exposed, on average, to air concentrations of tens to hundreds of ppm (Hayes *et al.*, 1997;

Savitz and Andrews, 1997). Our results indicate that persons exposed to air concentrations less than 0.1 ppm metabolize benzene about 9-times more efficiently that such heavily exposed workers (see Figure 3.4F). Since the toxic effects of benzene are thought to result from metabolism, this suggests that the health risks associated with low and very low benzene exposures can be considerably greater than those currently predicted from occupational studies.

CHAPTER 4.

GENETIC POLYMORPHISMS AND BENZENE METABOLISM IN HUMANS EXPOSED TO A WIDE RANGE OF AIR CONCENTRATIONS

[Kim S, Lan Q, Waidyanatha S, Johnson AB, Vermeulen R, Smith MT, et al. Pharmacogenet Genomics 2006 (submitted)]

4.1. Abstract

Using generalized linear models with natural-spline smoothing functions, we detected effects of particular metabolizing genes and gene-environment interactions on levels of benzene metabolites in 250 benzene-exposed and 136 control workers in Tianjin, China (for all subjects the median exposure was 0.694 ppm and the 10th and 90th percentiles were 0.006 and 7.79 ppm, respectively). We investigated 5 urinary metabolites [*E*, *E*-muconic acid (MA), *S*-phenylmercapturic acid (SPMA), phenol (PH), catechol (CA) and hydroquinone (HQ)] and 9 SNPs of metabolizing genes [cytochrome P450 2E1 (CYP2E1), NAD(P)H: quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1), microsomal epoxide hydrolase (EPHX1), glutathione-*S*-transferases (GSTT1, GSTM1 and GSTP1) and myeloperoxidase (MPO)]. After adjusting for covariates, including gender, age and smoking status, *NQO1*2* affected all five metabolites, *CYP2E1* (-1054C>T) affected all metabolites except CA, *EPHX1* (Ex3-28T>C

or Ex4+52A>G) affected CA and SPMA, and GSTT1 and GSTM1 affected SPMA. Significant interactions were also detected between benzene exposure and all four genes and between smoking status and NQO1 and EPHX1. No significant effects were detected for GSTP1 or MPO. Results generally support prior associations between benzene hematotoxicity and specific gene mutations, confirm earlier evidence that GSTT1 affects production of SPMA, and provide additional evidence that SNPs of NQO1, CYP2E1, and EPHX1 are functional in humans exposed to benzene.

4.2. Introduction

Benzene is an important industrial chemical that is ubiquitous in the environment due to vaporization from petroleum products and combustion of hydrocarbons (IARC, 1982; Wallace, 1996; ATSDR, 1997). Occupational exposures to benzene can cause blood disorders, including aplastic anemia, myelodysplastic syndrome, and acute myelogenous leukemia (Aksoy, 1985; Yin *et al.*, 1989; Rothman *et al.*, 1996a; Savitz and Andrews, 1997). Significant decreases in the numbers of white blood cells and platelets have been reported in workers exposed to less than one ppm of benzene (Lan *et al.*, 2004). Although these toxic effects are related to metabolism of benzene in the liver, the particular metabolite(s) that damage bone marrow cells and the mode of toxic action are subjects of debate (Ross, 2000) (Snyder, 2000a; Snyder, 2002).

Since the pioneering work of Parke and Williams' (Parke and Williams, 1953b; Parke and Williams, 1953a), the metabolism of benzene has been extensively investigated (reviewed in (Ross, 2000) (Snyder, 2002)). The major metabolic pathways, shown in Figure 4.1, begin with cytochrome P450 CYP2E1-mediated oxidation of benzene to benzene oxide (BO), which is in equilibrium with its tautomer, oxepin. BO-oxepin is the source of all other major metabolites, namely, phenol (PH), *E*,*E*-muconic acid (MA), hydroquinone (HQ), and catechol (CA), as well as the minor product, *S*-phenylmercapturic acid (SPMA). All of these metabolites are excreted in urine, either free or in conjugated form. Additional metabolism of the primary metabolites produces additional electrophilic species, including the muconaldehydes (from CYP oxidation of oxepin followed by ring-opening), and 1,2- and 1,4-benzoquinone (BQ) (from spontaneous or peroxidase-mediated oxidation of CA and HQ, respectively).

As shown in Figure 4.1, numerous enzyme systems are involved in the metabolism of benzene and its metabolites. In addition to the CYP oxidations of benzene (to BO), oxepin (to the muconaldehydes and ultimately MA) and PH (to HQ) (Gilmour *et al.*, 1986; Snyder and Hedli, 1996; Witz *et al.*, 1996), microsomal epoxide hydrolase (EPHX) catalyzes the hydrolysis of BO to initiate the CA pathway (Penning and Sharp, 1990; Snyder and Hedli, 1996), various glutathione-S-transferases (GSTs) catalyze production of SPMA (Verdina *et al.*, 2001), and NAD(P)H: quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1) and peroxidases (notably myeloperoxidase (MPO)) are thought catalyze transformations between CA and HQ and the corresponding quinones (1,2-BQ and 1,4-BQ, respectively) (Snyder and Hedli, 1996; Smith, 1999; Snyder, 2002; Ross, 2005).

It has been speculated that polymorphic genes of the above enzymes predispose some individuals to benzene toxicity through metabolism (Seaton *et al.*, 1994; Rothman *et al.*, 1997; Nedelcheva *et al.*, 1999). In particular, individuals with wild-type MPO (more active) and a variant of NQO1 (less active) were found to be at greater risk of reduced numbers of white blood cells at low levels of benzene exposure (Lan *et al.*, 2004). Yet, although GSTT1

polymorphisms have been shown to affect production of the minor metabolite SPMA (Sorensen *et al.*, 2003; Sorensen *et al.*, 2004; Qu *et al.*, 2005), there is only sketchy evidence that the major metabolites (PH, MA, HQ, and CA) are affected by polymorphic forms of CYP2E1, EPHX, NQO1 or MPO.



Figure 4.1. Simplified metabolic scheme for benzene showing major pathways and metabolizing genes.

A major difficulty in elucidating the connections between genotypes of metabolizing genes and the corresponding *in vivo* phenotypes has been the inability to control for the effects of benzene exposure, as well as of important physiological and lifestyle factors, in observational studies. Indeed, the relationship between metabolite levels and benzene exposure is highly nonlinear and is significantly affected by gender, smoking status, and body mass index (BMI) (Kim *et al.*, 2006b; Kim *et al.*, 2006a). Using generalized linear models (GLM) with natural spline (NS) smoothing functions, we were able to elucidate the effects of gender, BMI, and smoking status, after adjustment for benzene exposure (between 0.01 and 88.9 ppm) in a sample of 386 benzene-exposed and control workers in Tianjin, China (Kim *et al.*, 2006a). In the current paper we extend our application of GLM+NS models to investigate the effects of polymorphic forms of CYP2E1, EPHX, NQO1, MPO, and GSTs on urinary levels of PH, MA, HQ, CA and SPMA in these workers.

4.3. Materials and Methods

4.3.1. Study Population, and Air and Biological Sample Collection

Exposed and control subjects were recruited with informed consent from two shoemaking factories and three clothes-manufacturing factories, respectively, in Tianjin, China as described in Lan *et al.* (Lan *et al.*, 2004), and benzene exposure and workplace characteristics have been previously described in detail (Lan *et al.*, 2004; Vermeulen *et al.*, 2004; Kim *et al.*, 2006b). After excluding 4 control subjects, who were missing values of metabolite and/or exposure measurements, the samples included 250 exposed subjects and 136 control subjects. Exposed and control subjects were frequency matched by gender. Table 4.1 shows summary statistics for the gender, age and smoking status of participants.

Methods of sampling air and urine were also previously described (Lan et al., 2004;

Vermeulen *et al.*, 2004; Kim *et al.*, 2006b). Briefly, personal full-shift air measurements were matched with post-shift urine samples from exposed and control workers. Of the 386 subjects in this analysis, 139 had repeated measurements of air and urine, making a total of 617 matched air/urine samples. Among subjects with repeated measurements, the median number of paired air and urine samples was three (range: 2 - 4). Information about height, weight, smoking status and other relevant factors were obtained by questionnaire (Lan *et al.*, 2004).

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of the University of North Carolina, the University of California, Berkeley, the U.S. National Cancer Institute and the Chinese Academy of Preventive Medicine.

		Female	Male			All	
Occupational exposure*	:						
Controls	84	(61.8%)	52	(38.2%)	136	(100.0%)	
Exposed	164	(65.6%)	86	(34.4%)	250	(100.0%)	
Benzene exposure [†]							
Air benzene (ppm)	0.770	(0.006 - 7.74)	0.616	(0.006–9.21)	0.694	(0.006–7.79)	
Age $(y)^{\dagger}$	31	(21–44)	24	(20–39)	28	(21–43)	
BMI $(kg/m^2)^{\dagger}$	21.8	(18.7–27.0)	22.0	(18.4–26.5)	21.9	(18.7–26.9)	
Current smoking status*	<						
Non-smoker	240	(81.4%)	55	(18.6%)	295	(100.0%)	
Smoker	8	(8.8%)	83	(91.2%)	91	(100.0%)	
Toluene exposure*							
Low (≤1.79 ppm)	130	(67.4%)	63	(32.6%)	193	(100.0%)	
High (>1.79 ppm)	118	(61.1%)	75	(38.9%)	193	(100.0%)	

Table 4.1. Demographics, benzene exposure and other characteristics of study population (n = 386).

^{*} Number (percent). [†] Median (10^{th}_{-90} th percentiles)

4.3.2. Measurements of Air and Urinary Analytes

Measurements of analytes in air and urine were described previously (Vermeulen *et al.*, 2004; Kim *et al.*, 2006b; Kim *et al.*, 2006a). Briefly, benzene and toluene were measured in air using passive personal monitors (Organic Vapor Monitors, 3M, St. Paul, MN) followed by solvent desorption and gas chromatography (Vermeulen *et al.*, 2004). Air measurements of benzene and toluene were below limits of detection (LOD, nominally 0.2 ppm for benzene and 0.3 ppm for toluene) and were missing for all control subjects and for some exposed subjects (missing values, n = 23; measurements below the LOD for exposed subjects: n = 70 for benzene, n = 67 for toluene). Air levels were predicted in these censored and missing air samples from the corresponding urinary levels of benzene and toluene, as described previously for benzene (Kim *et al.*, 2006a). As summarized in Table 4.1, the median air level of benzene was 0.694 ppm, the 10th percentile level was 0.006 ppm and the 90th percentile was 7.79 ppm. The median air level of toluene was 1.79 ppm.

Urinary benzene was determined by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) using head-space solid-phase microextraction according to Waidyanatha *et al.* (Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2001). Urinary PH, CA, HQ, MA, and SPMA were measured as trimethylsilylether derivatives by GC-MS, after digestion of urine to release conjugates, according to Waidyanatha *et al.* (Waidyanatha *et al.*, 2004). Quantification of all urinary analytes was based on peak areas relative to the corresponding isotopically labeled internal standards. The minor metabolite, SPMA, was not detected in 30 urine specimens; a value of LOD/2 = 0.591 nM was imputed to these samples (Hornung and Reed, 1990).

4.3.3. Genotyping

We selected 9 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in 7 genes coding for enzymes that presumably play a role in benzene metabolism, based on the evidence of functionality in experimental or human studies (described in the discussion section).

Gene name SNP region SNP ID	Genotype	No. subjects	(%)	Presumed phenotype	Reference
(Notes)					
CYP2E1	C/C	239	(62.1)	Active	(Marchand <i>et al.</i> , 1999)
-1054C>T	С/Т	127	(33)	Less active	
Rs2031920	T/T	19	(4.9)	Least active	
(ascribed to Rsal)					
NQO1	C/C	105	(27.3)	Active	(Ross <i>etal.</i> , 2000)
Ex6+40C>T	С/Т	173	(44.9)	Less active	
Rs1800566	T/T	107	(27.8)	Inactive	
(NQO1*2)					
NQO1	C/C	359	(93.7)	Active	(Pan <i>etal.</i> , 1995)
Ex4-3C>T	С/Т	24	(6.3)	Less active	(Eguchi-Ishimae et al., 2005)
Rs4986998	T/T	0	(0.0)	Least active	
(NQO1*3)					
MPO	G/G	297	(77.3)	Active	(Williams, 2001)
-642G>A	G/A	76	(19.8)	Less active	
Rs2333227	A/A	11	(2.9)	Least active	
GSTM1	+/+	28	(7.4)	Conjugator	(Hsieh et al., 1999)
del{GSTM1}	+/-	141	(37.2)		
n/a	-/-	210	(55.4)	Null	
GSTT1	+/+	33	(8.6)	Conjugator	(Hsieh et al., 1999)
del{GSTT1}	+/-	187	(48.8)		
n/a	-/-	163	(42.6)	Null	
GSTP1	A/A	224	(58.6)	Conjugator	(Morgan and Smith, 2002)
Ex5-24A>G	A/G	142	(37.2)		
Rs947894	G/G	16	(4.2)	Less active	
EPHX1	T/T	143	(38)	Normal	(Jourenkova-Mironova et al., 2000)
Ex3-28T>C	T/C	176	(46.8)		(Lodovici et al., 2004)
Rs1051740	C/C	57	(15.2)	Slow metabolizer	
(Y113H)					
EPHX1	A/A	302	(79.9)	Normal	(Jourenkova-Mironova et al., 2000)
Ex4+52A>G	AG	71	(18.8)		(Lodovici et al., 2004)
Rs2234922	G/G	5	(1.3)	Rapid metabolizer	
(H139R)					

Table 4.2. Distributions of SNPs among subjects in the study.

As summarized in Table 4.2, the following SNPs were chosen: *CYP2E1* (-1054C>T, contributes to *CYP2E1*5B*, aka -1053), two alleles of *NQO1* [*NQO1*2* (Ex6+640C>T) bearing P187S and *NQO1*3* (Ex4-3C>T) bearing R139W], *MPO* (-642G>A, aka -463 promoter variant), *GSTM1*, *GSTT1*, and *GSTP1* (Ex5-24A>G) bearing I105V, and two alleles of *EPHX1* (Ex3-28T>C and Ex4+52A>G) bearing Y113H and H139R, respectively. Genotyping was performed with an ABI 7900HT detection system using TaqMan end point reads as described on the website, <u>http://snp500cancer.nci.nih.gov</u> (Packer *et al.*, 2004). The numbers of subjects with each SNP of the various metabolizing genes are summarized in Table 4.2. Quality control procedures have been described previously (Lan *et al.*, 2005). In brief, blind replicate samples were randomly interspersed throughout the study sample plates and showed intrasubject agreement >99% for all genotype assays.

4.3.4. Statistical Analyses

Relationships between levels of the urinary metabolites and the corresponding air concentrations of benzene were examined using GLM+NS models, as previously described (Kim *et al.*, 2006a). The smoothing functions were based upon 5-knot models for all metabolites, after comparing NS models with 5 – 7 knots by visual inspection and corrected Akaike's Information Criteria (AICc) (Burnham *et al.*, 2002). (The candidate knots in the 5-knot model were 0.001, 0.009, 0.512, 1.54 and 11.3 ppm of benzene in air, corresponding to the 5th, 27.5th, 50th, 72.5th and 95th percentiles (Harrell, 2001), respectively). To avoid overparameterization, non-significant knots for each exposure-metabolite relationship were removed by stepwise elimination using a value of p < 0.10 for retention (PROC REG of SAS) (Kim *et al.*, 2006a). For subjects with repeated measurements of air and urine, the

estimated geometric mean air and metabolite concentrations were used in all statistical analyses.

After establishing NS smoothing functions for each metabolite, we used GLM to investigate effects of SNPs and their interactions with benzene exposure and smoking status, after adjusting for the following covariates: gender (0, female; 1, male), age (centered around the estimated mean value of 29.8 y, n = 386), smoking status (0, nonsmoker; 1, smoker), BMI (centered around the estimated mean value of 22.5 kg/m², n = 384). We also investigated effects of toluene exposure (0, low exposure; 1, high exposure; median as a cut-off point, 1.79 ppm) on levels of each metabolite.

Potential effects of SNPs were screened in two stages to explore exposure-related interactions and smoking-related interactions, respectively. In both stages, the number of effects was restricted to less than 10% of observations to avoid overfitting. Then, important main effects and interactions were pooled from the two stages to build final models. Every candidate model for a given benzene metabolite was sorted by AICc, and the final model was selected from the best and second-best candidates, using the following criteria: Δ AICc, evidence ratio, and the significance and biologically plausible of explanatory variables (Burnham *et al.*, 2002). Modeling was performed using PROC GLMSELECT of SAS/STAT with the selection/stop option of AICc (Burnham *et al.*, 2002; SAS Institute., 2005).

In coding each SNP, the homozygous wild-type was defined as the reference group. Data for *EPHX1* (Ex4+52A>G), variant homozygotes and heterozygotes were combined in the analysis because the former contained only five subjects (1.3%) (Lan *et al.*, 2005). Tests for Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) among subjects were conducted based on observed genotype frequencies using PROC ALLELE of SAS/GENETICS (using a Pearson's χ^2 test

with one degree of freedom). All genotypes were in HWE except *MPO* (-642G>A) (p = 0.04). The quality control data were rechecked and the precision of genotyping for this SNP in blind replicates was confirmed, so this slight departure from HWE is likely due to chance. Tukey-Cramer adjustment was carried out for multiple comparisons of least-squares means among SNPs in the final models.

All statistical analyses were performed using SAS software for Windows ver. 9.13 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).

4.4. Results

4.4.1. GLM+NS Models and Covariate Effects

The following NS smoothing functions were used for the 5 benzene metabolites:

MA:
$$E[\ln(Y_{MA,j}) | \ln(X_j)] = 0.754 + 0.127[\ln(X_j)] + 0.005[\ln(X_j) - \xi_1]_+^3 - 0.019[\ln(X_j) - \xi_3]_+^3,$$

SPMA: $E[\ln(Y_{SPMA,j}) | \ln(X_j)] = -6.65 - 0.119[\ln(X_j)] + 0.030[\ln(X_j) - \xi_1]_+^3 - 0.040[\ln(X_j) - \xi_2]_+^3,$
PH: $E[\ln(Y_{PH,j}) | \ln(X_j)] = 4.38 + 0.053[\ln(X_j)] + 0.005[\ln(X_j) - \xi_2]_+^3,$
CA: $E[\ln(Y_{CA,j}) | \ln(X_j)] = 3.02 + 0.098[\ln(X_j)] - 0.005[\ln(X_j) - \xi_1]_+^3 + 0.011[\ln(X_j) - \xi_2]_+^3,$ and
HQ: $E[\ln(Y_{HQ,j}) | \ln(X_j)] = 1.72 - 0.016[\ln(X_j)] + 0.004[\ln(X_j) - \xi_1]_+^3 - 0.123[\ln(X_j) - \xi_5]_+^3.$

where $E[\ln(Y_{m,j})|\ln(X_j)]$ is the conditional mean value of $\ln(Y_{m,j})$ representing the naturallog transform of the level of the m^{th} metabolite level in the j^{th} subject at $\ln(X_j)$, the corresponding (logged) air concentration of benzene (ppm), and ξ_i is the location of the i^{th} knot (in log-scale of benzene exposure): $\xi_1 = \ln(0.001 \text{ ppm}), \xi_2 = \ln(0.009 \text{ ppm}), \xi_3 =$ ln(0.512 ppm), $\xi_4 = \ln(1.54 \text{ ppm})$, $\xi_5 = \ln(11.3 \text{ ppm})$. The function $[\ln(X_j) - \xi_i]_+^3$ equals $[\ln(X_i) - \xi_i]^3$ for positive values and equals zero otherwise.

Final GLM+NS models are summarized in Tables 4.3 - 4.7 for the 5 benzene metabolites. Referring to the non-genetic effects, results are similar to those reported previously without adjustment for SNPs (Kim *et al.*, 2006a). Female subjects had higher levels of MA, PH, CA and HQ than males (p < 0.05) and younger subjects (below 30 yr) had higher levels of MA, PH and HQ than older subjects. Smokers generally had higher levels of benzene metabolites than nonsmokers, but the relationships were complicated by genesmoking interactions for SPMA, PH and CA. No significant effects were observed on any of the benzene metabolites for either BMI or co-exposure to toluene.

Table 4.3. Parameter estimates for the final model of *E*,*E*-muconic acid (MA). [The dependent variable was the natural logarithm of the MA concentration, (μ M); n = 382, R²=85.0%]

Independent variable	Description	Parm. est.	Std. err.	<i>p</i> -value	Cumulative ΔR^2 (%)	
Intercept		0.937	0.197	<.0001		
Age	Centered at mean (29.8 yr)	-0.017	0.005	< 0.001		
Sex	Male	-0.276	0.099	0.005		
Smoking	Smoker	0.177	0.107	0.099		
BMI	Centered at mean (22.5 kg/m ²)	0.019	0.011	0.076		
	$\ln(X_j) \times *1/*2$, less active	-0.076	0.027	0.005	0.37	
$\operatorname{III}(X_j) \times \operatorname{IV} QOI^{+2}$	$\ln(X_j) \times *2/*2$, least active	-0.070	0.029	0.016		
NQ01*2	*1/*2, less active	-0.174	0.099	0.081	0.38	
	*2/*2, least active	-0.184	0.110	0.094		
$\mathbf{L}(\mathbf{V}) = \mathbf{C} \mathbf{V} \mathbf{D} 2 \mathbf{E} 1$	$\ln(X_j) \times C/T$, less active	0.001	0.024	0.955	1.00	
$In(X_j) \times CYP2E1$	$\ln(X_j) \times T/T$, least active	-0.150	0.042	< 0.001		
CYP2E1 (-1054C>T)	C/T, less active	0.037	0.087	0.667	1.01	
	T/T, least active	-0.406	0.191	0.034	1.01	

Legend: $ln(X_i)$ represents the natural logarithm of the air benzene concentration (ppm) in the j^{th} subject.

Independent variable	Description	Parm. est.	Std. err.	<i>p</i> -value	Cumulative $\Delta R^2 (\%)$
Intercept	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-4.811	0.685	<.0001	
Age	Centered at mean (29.8 yr)	-0.012	0.009	0.161	
Sex	Male	-0.280	0.181	0.123	
Smoking	Smoker	-0.690	0.337	0.042	
BMI	Centered at mean (22.5 kg/m ²)	-0.025	0.019	0.189	
GSTM1	+/-, less active	-0.458	0.254	0.072	0.31
	-/-, null	-0.590	0.248	0.018	
$\ln(X_j) \times EPHX1$	$\ln(X_j) \times (A/G \text{ or } G/G, \text{ faster})$	0.101	0.051	0.049	0.55
EPHX1 (Ex4+52A>G)	A/G or G/G, faster	0.234	0.187	0.213	0.56
	$\ln(X_j) \times *1/*2$, less active	-0.149	0.049	0.003	0.98
$III(A_j) \times NQOI*2$	$\ln(X_j) \times *2/*2$, least active	-0.069	0.053	0.199	
$\ln(V) \propto CVD2E1$	$\ln(X_j) \times C/T$, less active	0.114	0.045	0.011	1.44
$III(A_j) \times CIP2EI$	$\ln(X_j) \times T/T$, least active	-0.038	0.076	0.617	
CVD2E1 (1054C5 T)	C/T, less active	0.146	0.159	0.357	1.50
CIF2EI (-1034C>I)	T/T, least active	-0.480	0.345	0.164	
Smalin av NOO1*2	Smoker $\times *1/*2$, less active	1.108	0.385	0.004	1.94
Smoking×NQO1*2	Smoker \times *2/*2, least active	1.041	0.413	0.012	
NQ01*2	*1/*2, less active	-0.654	0.203	0.001	2.01
	*2/*2, least active	-0.646	0.227	0.005	
$l_{\mathbf{r}}(\mathbf{V}) \dots CSTT1$	$\ln(X_j) \times +/-$, less active	-0.035	0.069	0.614	2.63
$ln(X_j) \times GSIII$	$\ln(X_j) \times -/-$, null	-0.143	0.070	0.041	
GSTT1	+/-, less active	-0.592	0.251	0.019	4.86
	-/-, null	-1.444	0.258	<.0001	

Table 4.4. Parameter estimates for the final model of S-phenyl mercapturic acid

(SPMA). [The dependent variable was the natural logarithm of the SPMA concentration, (μM) ; n = 365, R²=82.0%]

Legend: $\ln(X_j)$ represents the natural logarithm of the air benzene concentration (ppm) in the j^{th} subject.

Independent variable	Description	Parm. est.	Std. err.	<i>p</i> -value	Cumulative $\Delta R^2 (\%)$
Intercept		4.645	0.100	<.0001	•
Age	Centered at mean (29.8 yr)	-0.010	0.004	0.014	
Sex	Male	-0.313	0.090	0.001	
Smoking	Smoker	-0.204	0.167	0.222	
BMI	Centered at mean (22.5 kg/m ²)	0.007	0.010	0.477	
Smoking×NQ01*2	Smoker $\times *1/*2$, less active	0.311	0.192	0.106	0.67
	Smoker \times *2/*2, least active	0.538	0.204	0.009	0.07
NQ01*2	*1/*2, less active	-0.196	0.085	0.022	1 2 1
	*2/*2, least active	-0.337	0.097	0.001	1.31
	$\ln(X_j) \times C/T$, less active	0.026	0.022	0.230	0.75
$In(X_j) \times CYP2E1$	$\ln(X_j) \times T/T$, least active	-0.141	0.038	< 0.001	2.75
<i>CYP2E1 (-1054C>T)</i>	C/T, less active	0.037	0.079	0.640	2.00
	T/T, least active	-0.613	0.174	0.001	3.08

Table 4.5. Parameter estimates for the final model of phenol (PH). [The dependent variable was the natural logarithm of the PH concentration, (μ M); n = 382, R²=64.8%]

Legend: $ln(X_j)$ represents the natural logarithm of the air benzene concentration (ppm) in the j^{th} subject.

Independent variable	Description	Parm. est.	Std. err.	<i>p</i> -value	Cumulative ΔR^2 (%)	
Intercept		3.072	0.285	<.0001		
Age	Centered at mean (29.8 yr)	< 0.001	0.004	0.997		
Sex	Male	-0.272	0.087	0.002		
Smoking	Smoker	0.567	0.127	<.0001		
BMI	Centered at mean (22.5 kg/m ²)	-0.007	0.009	0.448		
ln(X _j)×NQO1*2	$\ln(X_j) \times *1/*2$, less active	-0.037	0.023	0.113	0.67	
	$ln(X_j) \times *2/*2$, least active	-0.058	0.025	0.021	0.07	
NQ01*2	*1/*2, less active	-0.186	0.089	0.036	0.96	
	*2/*2, least active	-0.237	0.097	0.015		
EPHX1 (Ex4+52A>G)	A/G or G/G, faster	0.143	0.076	0.061	1.43	
ln(X _j) × <i>EPHX1</i>	$\ln(X_j) \times (T/C, slow)$	-0.039	0.021	0.063	2.22	
(Ex3-28T>C)	$\ln(X_j) \times (C/C, \text{slower})$	-0.069	0.028	0.014	2.22	
Smalt EDUV1	Smoker \times (T/C, slow)	-0.163	0.156	0.299	2 22	
Smoking× <i>EPHX1</i>	Smoker \times (C/C, slower)	-0.633	0.206	0.002	5.52	
	T/C, slow	-0.019	0.086	0.827	2.26	
<i>EPHXI (Ex3-281>C)</i>	C/C, slower	0.096	0.118	0.420	3.36	

Table 4.6. Parameter estimates for the final model of catechol (CA). [The dependent variable was the natural logarithm of the CA concentration, (μ M); n = 370, R²=57.2%]

Legend: $ln(X_j)$ represents the natural logarithm of the air benzene concentration (ppm) in the *j*th subject.

Independent variable	Description	Parm. est.	Std. err.	<i>p</i> -value	Cumulative ΔR^2 (%)	
Intercept		1.758	0.118	<.0001		
Age	Centered at mean (29.8 yr)	-0.011	0.004	0.006		
Sex	Male	-0.302	0.082	< 0.001		
Smoking	Smoker	0.473	0.089	<.0001		
BMI	Centered at mean (22.5 kg/m ²)	-0.010	0.009	0.248		
NOO1*2	*1/*2, less active	-0.087	0.070	0.215	0.34	
NQ01*2	*2/*2, least active	-0.164	0.078	0.036		
$l_{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbf{V}) \sim C \mathbf{V} \mathbf{D} 2 \mathbf{E} 1$	$\ln(X_j) \times C/T$, less active	-0.008	0.020	0.676	1.05	
$III(X_j) \times CIP2EI$	$\ln(X_j) \times T/T$, least active	-0.125	0.035	< 0.001	1.23	
CYP2E1	C>T, C/T, less active	-0.036	0.072	0.617	1 77	
	C>T, T/T, least active	-0.657	0.160	<.0001	1.//	

Table 4.7. Parameter estimates for the final model of hydroquinone (HQ). [The dependent variable was the natural logarithm of the HQ concentration, (μ M); n = 382, R²=72.6%]

Legend: $\ln(X_i)$ represents the natural logarithm of the air benzene concentration (ppm) in the j^{th} subject.

4.4.2. Effects of Genetic Polymorphisms

After adjusting for exposure and covariates, the following SNPs were found to significantly affect levels of the various metabolites, either as main effects or as interactions with benzene exposure and/or smoking: NQO1*2 for all metabolites, CYP2E1 for all metabolites except CA, GSTT1 and GSTM1 for SPMA, EPHX1 (Ex4+52A>G) for SPMA and CA, and EPHX1 (Ex3-28T>C) for CA. The interaction between CYP2E1 and benzene exposure accentuated the effects of polymorphic forms of this gene on levels of MA, SPMA, PH and HQ among subjects exposed to higher benzene concentrations (Tables 4.3, 4.4, 5 and 4.7). For each of these metabolites, subjects having both variant alleles of CYP2E1 had lower metabolite levels than those with at least one wild-type allele. For example, the relationships for HQ, shown in Fig. 4.2A, indicate that homozygous variants produced appreciably less metabolite than heterozygotes or homozygous wild types at air concentrations greater than 0.1 ppm (Tukey's test, p < 0.05). Similar behaviors were observed for PH, where significant departure was observed above 0.2 ppm, and for MA above 2 ppm. For SPMA, subjects with both variant alleles of CYP2E1 had the lowest metabolite levels at benzene concentrations between 0.02 and 88.9 ppm; however, the difference was not statistically significant (p > 0.05).

Subjects with at least one variant allele of NQO1*2 had lower levels of all metabolites than homozygous wild types or heterozygotes (Tables 4.3 – 4.7). This gene was also found to interact strongly with either benzene exposure (for MA, SPMA, and CA) and/or smoking status (for PH and SPMA). These interactions with benzene exposure resulted in subjects with at least one variant allele of NQO1*2 having lower levels of CA above 0.8 ppm (p <0.05, Fig. 4.2B), lower levels of MA above 6 ppm (p < 0.05), and lower levels of HQ over

the entire range of exposure (significance, p < 0.1). Among nonsmokers, subjects with NQO1*1/*1 produced more SPMA above 0.5 ppm (Fig. 4.2C, p < 0.05) and more PH over the entire range of exposure (Fig. 4.2D, p < 0.01) than subjects with NQO1*2/*2. However, among smokers, these effects were diminished (Fig. 4.2D and 2E). No effects were observed for NQO1*3 polymorphisms.

Strong effects of *GSTT1* and *GSTM1* were observed on levels of SPMA, with homozygous variants producing the highest levels, followed by heterozygotes and homozygous null subjects (Table 4.4). A significant interaction was also observed between benzene exposure and *GSTT1* null subjects, such that these workers produced increasingly less SPMA at higher air concentrations (see Fig. 4.1E). No effect of polymorphic forms of *GSTP1* was observed on SPMA levels.

Subjects with variant alleles of *EPHX1* (Ex3-28T>C) had lower levels of CA, particularly among smokers, than homozygous wild types (see Table 4.6). Due to the interaction of *EPHX1* (Ex3-28T>C) with benzene exposure, this effect was accentuated among smokers at air concentrations above 0.8 ppm (p < 0.05) (Fig.4.1.F). Subjects with at least one variant allele of *EPHX1* (Ex4+52A>G) had higher CA levels than homozygous wild types (p = 0.06). Interestingly, subjects with variant *EPHX1* (Ex4+52A>G) also had higher levels of SPMA at benzene concentrations above 6 ppm (p < 0.1).

No effects were observed for polymorphic forms of MPO.



Figure 4.2. Effects of genetic polymorphisms on urinary metabolites of benzene in humans (representative plots). Each panel depicts effects of a particular SNP on levels of a given metabolite at versus the air concentration of benzene.

4.5. Discussion

Although the hematotoxicity of benzene was reported more than a century ago, the mechanism is not yet fully understood (Ross, 2000). It has been speculated that genetic and life-style factors can influence the toxic effects of benzene, but current evidence is far from conclusive (Ross, 2000; Snyder, 2000a; Snyder, 2002). Rothman et al. reported that heavily benzene-exposed workers who were rapid chlorzoxazone metabolizers (a measure of CYP2E1 phenotype) and also possessed variant NOO1*2, were at elevated risk of benzenepoisoning (Rothman et al., 1997). More recently, Wan et al. (Wan et al., 2002) reported increased benzene poisoning in workers with variant NQO1*2 as well as in those with nulltype GSTT1 or CYP2E1 DraI, and Lan et al. (Lan et al., 2004) found lower white blood cell counts in workers with variants of NOO1*3 and MPO (-642G>A). Other studies of polymorphisms among benzene-exposed workers reported that subjects with variant NQ01*2 had increased DNA single-strand breaks (Garte et al., 2005) but decreased aneuploidy (Kim et al., 2004) in peripheral lymphocytes. The latter study also reported increased an euploidy in benzene-exposed workers with null deletions of GSTT1 and GSTM1 and with either of two CYP2E1 mutations (DraI or RsaI) (Kim et al., 2004).

In the present study, we focused upon the effects of metabolizing genes on production of 5 prominent metabolites (MA, SPMA, PH, CA and HQ). These metabolites are not 'biological effect markers' (Wogan, 1992) *per se*, but rather reflect primary metabolism in the liver, which appears to be a necessary prelude to benzene-induced toxicity in target organs (Ross, 2000; Snyder, 2002). Previous attempts to link levels of benzene metabolites with polymorphic forms of metabolizing genes have been hampered by methodological and practical problems, including low benzene exposures (below 0.1 ppm) (Rossi *et al.*, 1999;

Verdina *et al.*, 2001; Sorensen *et al.*, 2003; Sorensen *et al.*, 2004; Fustinoni *et al.*, 2005b), no measurements of air exposure (Hsieh *et al.*, 1999; Wan *et al.*, 2002; Avogbe *et al.*, 2005; Testa *et al.*, 2005), small numbers of subjects (Rossi *et al.*, 1999; Sorensen *et al.*, 2003; Kim *et al.*, 2004; Sorensen *et al.*, 2004), and difficulties in adjusting for covariates and nonlinear effects of exposure (Garte *et al.*, 2005; Qu *et al.*, 2005). Since benzene exposures were typically very low in prior studies, only SPMA and MA (metabolites with high specificity for benzene) tended to be measured, and the only consistent effect of any SNP was that of lower SPMA levels in subjects with *GSTT1 (null deletion)* (Sorensen *et al.*, 2003; Sorensen *et al.*, 2004; Qu *et al.*, 2005).

We detected several effects of SNPs on benzene metabolite patterns and interactions with benzene exposure that have not been reported previously (Tables 4.3 - 4.7). Our study had substantially more subjects (386) and therefore greater power to detect such effects. Further strengths of our study were the ability to examine effects over a wide range of benzene exposures, determined in both benzene-exposed workers and controls, broad exploration of genetic variants in key genes, evaluation of all major benzene urinary metabolites, and use of GLM+NS models to adjust for exposure and covariates. At the same time, it is possible that some findings could be false positives, and these findings need to be replicated in other large studies.

Subjects with *NQO1**2 had lower levels of all 5 metabolites in our study. Since NQO1 catalyzes two- or four-election reductions of quinones (Nebert *et al.*, 2002) (Traver *et al.*, 1997; Siegel *et al.*, 1999; Ross *et al.*, 2000), it is reasonable that levels of CA and HQ would be lower in subjects with *NQO1**2 (less active), as we observed (Tables 4.6 and 4.7). When combined with evidence that less active forms of NQO1 are associated with benzene

poisoning and DNA damage (Rothman et al., 1997; Wan et al., 2002; Lan et al., 2004; Garte et al., 2005), this finding is also consistent with speculation that 1,4-BQ and/or 1,2-BQ (the oxidized forms of HQ and CA, respectively) play roles in benzene-induced toxicity (Subrahmanyam et al., 1990; Subrahmanyam et al., 1991; McDonald et al., 1994; Snyder and Hedli, 1996; Snyder, 2002). The fact that levels of the other three metabolites (MA, SPMA, and PH) were also lower among subjects with NQO1*2, suggests a more general role for NOO1. Furthermore, the interaction effects between NOO1 *2 and both benzene exposure and smoking status point to induction of NQO1 by reactive benzene metabolites or other reactive species (De Long et al., 1987; Moran et al., 1999; Ross, 2005). Such induction could come about via either the antioxidant or xenobiotic response element in the NQO1 promoter region (Ross, 1997; Smith, 1999; Jaiswal, 2000). We found that that NQO1*2 but not NOO1*3 was associated with lower levels of benzene metabolites and that SNPs of MPO did not affect metabolism. In contrast, we previously reported in the same study the presence of greater hematotoxicity in workers having the combination of NQO1*3 (C/T, less active) and MPO (A/A, more active) (Lan et al., 2004). These contrasting results probably point to differences in the balance between NQO1 and MPO activities in liver (where metabolites are produced) and bone marrow (where metabolites are activated and deactivated in target hematopoietic cells).

We observed significant effects of *CYP2E1* variants on levels of MA, SPMA, PH, and HQ (Tables 4.3, 4.4, 5 and 4.7). Controversy has surrounded the relationship between the genotype and phenotype of CYP2E1, an important gene that metabolizes small molecules of toxicological interest, including benzene (Hayashi *et al.*, 1991; Lucas *et al.*, 1995; Carriere *et al.*, 1996; Kim *et al.*, 1996; Nedelcheva *et al.*, 1999; Wang *et al.*, 1999; Wormhoudt *et al.*,

1999; Carere *et al.*, 2002; Le Marchand *et al.*, 2002) (Ingelman-Sundberg *et al.*, 2006) (Seaton *et al.*, 1994; Seaton *et al.*, 1995; Bolt *et al.*, 2003). There is some evidence that a variant type *CYP2E1* (-1054C>T, also referred to as *Rsa*I-), is associated with decreased CYP2E1 activity *in vivo* (Carriere *et al.*, 1996; Powell *et al.*, 1998; Marchand *et al.*, 1999; Wang *et al.*, 1999; Choi *et al.*, 2003; Fustinoni *et al.*, 2005b). In the present study, we found that subjects with variant *CYP2E1* (-1054C>T) produced lower levels of benzene metabolites at a given benzene exposure than homozygous wild types, and that the effect was accentuated at higher benzene levels due to gene-environment interactions. The difference in metabolite levels between homozygous wild-types and homozygous variants was detected at benzene exposures in the range of 0.1 - 2 ppm for HQ, PH and MA (Tables 4.3, 4.5 and 4.7 and Fig. 4.2A). This interaction effect could point to induction of *CYP2E1* (-1054C>T) by benzene exposure, or to more rapid saturation of metabolism among homozygous variant subjects (Nedelcheva *et al.*, 1999). Our results substantially support evidence from prior studies that *CYP2E1* (-1054C>T) mutations functionally reduce the metabolism of CYP2E1 substrates.

Subjects with variant alleles of *EPHX1* (Ex3-28T>C) produced lower levels of CA in our study (Table 4.6 and Fig. 4.2F). EPHX1 enzymes hydrolyze epoxides through the formation of hydroxyl alkyl-enzyme intermediates (Morisseau and Hammock, 2005). Although EPHX1 should logically be involved in benzene metabolism, notably in catalyzing BO to the dihydrodiol, the functional role of this enzyme has been ambiguous in benzeneexposed subjects (Lovern *et al.*, 1999; Nebert *et al.*, 2002). Two polymorphisms have been identified; one, in exon 3, decreased enzymatic activity 50% *in vitro* while the other, in exon 4, increased activity 25% (Hassett *et al.*, 1994). Our findings that workers with variant allele(s) of *EPHX1* (Ex3-28T>C) had lower levels of CA than homozygous wild-types while

those with at least one variant of *EPHX1* (Ex4+52A>G) had marginally higher CA levels, support the in vitro results. We also detected significant interactions between EPHX1 (Ex3-28T>C) and both benzene exposure and smoking status. The gene-smoking interaction tended to accentuate differences in CA levels between smoking subjects who had different alleles of EPHX1 (Ex3-28T>C) and to obscure effects among nonsmokers (Fig 4.2F). The gene-exposure interaction produced differences in CA levels that could be distinguished between smokers having homozygous wild- and variant-types of EPHX1 (Ex3-28T>C) at benzene concentrations above one ppm. Our results are intriguing in light of recent epidemiologic studies indicating that, among smokers, fast EPHX1 metabolizers had greater risks of colorectal adenomas (Cortessis et al., 2001; Huang et al., 2005) than slow metabolizers. Interestingly, fast metabolizers of EPHX1 (Ex4+52A>G) also had marginally higher levels of SPMA at benzene concentrations above 6 ppm (p < 0.10). Although the mechanism for production of SPMA is not yet established (Snyder et al., 1993; Henderson et al., 2005a), the apparent effect of EPHX1 on SPMA levels may offer clues regarding formation of this minor benzene metabolite (Morisseau and Hammock, 2005).

Among the GST isozymes, both GSTM1 and GSTT1 affected the production of SPMA (Table 4.4, Fig. 4.2B), with subjects having variant forms of these enzymes producing lower levels. Of the two isozymes, GSTT1 produced more substantial effects, based upon evidence ratios (Burnham *et al.*, 2002) (data not shown), and produced different profiles for each combination of alleles (Fig. 4.2B). This finding of is consistent with previous studies (Sorensen *et al.*, 2003; Sorensen *et al.*, 2004; Qu *et al.*, 2005). No effect of GSTP1 was detected.

Finally, it is worth commenting upon the amounts of variability in metabolite levels that were explained by the observed genetic effects and the magnitudes of interindividual differences in metabolism that can be attributed to particular genes. The GLM+NS models summarized in Tables 4.3 - 4.7 had R² (%) values of 85.0 for MA, 82.0 for SPMA 64.8 for PH, 57.2 for CA and 72.6 for HQ, among which benzene exposure and non-genetic covariates explained between 53 and 84% of the variability in metabolite levels. The corresponding percentages of variability explained by all significant genes and gene-environment interactions were 1.0 for MA, 4.9 for SPMA 3.1 for PH, 3.4 for CA and 1.8 for HQ. Thus, although many significant genetic effects were detected, they collectively contributed rather little to the explained variation in benzene metabolism.

Metabolite	SNP	Ai	Air concentration (ppm)				
	511	0.1	1	10	100		
<i>E,E</i> -Muconic acid (MA)	<i>CYP2E1</i> (-1054C>T)	0.941	0.666	0.472	0.333		
	NQO1*2	0.976	0.832	0.708	0.603		
	<i>CYP2E1</i> (-1054C>T)	0.675	0.619	0.567	0.519		
	<i>EPHX1</i> (Ex4+52A>G)	1.00	1.26	1.59	2.01		
S-Phenylmercapturic acid	GSTT1	0.328	0.236	0.17	0.122		
(SPMA)	GSTM1	0.554	0.554	0.554	0.554		
	NQO1*2 (Nonsmokers)	0.614	0.524	0.448	0.382		
	NQO1*2 (Smokers)	1.74	1.48	1.27	1.08		
	CYP2E1	0.75	0.542	0.392	0.283		
Phenol (PH)	NQO1*2 (Nonsmokers)	0.714	0.714	0.714	0.714		
	NQO1*2 (Smokers)	1.22	1.22	1.22	1.22		
	<i>EPHX1</i> (Ex4+52A>G)	1.15	1.15	1.15	1.15		
Catachol (CA)	NQO1*2	0.902	0.789	0.69	0.603		
Catechol (CA)	EPHX1 (Ex3-28T>C, nonsmokers)	1.29	1.10	0.938	0.8		
	<i>EPHX1</i> (Ex3-28T>C, smokers)	0.685	0.584	0.498	0.425		
Undro quinono (UO)	<i>CYP2E1</i> (-1054C>T)	0.692	0.518	0.389	0.291		
Hydroquinone (HQ)	NQO1*2	0.849	0.849	0.849	0.849		

Table 4.8. SNP effects on benzene metabolites at various levels of benzene exposure.[Least-squares-mean ratios of *variant/variant* to *wild/wild*].

Regarding interindividual differences in metabolism that would be expected for a given SNP, Table 4.8 lists the ratios of predicted metabolite levels for homozygote variants to homozygous wild-types, based upon least-squares means of the models summarized in Tables 4.3 - 4.7. These ratios represent the mean fold-ranges for variant/referent that would be expected for each SNP after adjusting for benzene exposure as well as covariates and other genetic effects. Since several gene-environment interactions were identified, the tables cover benzene concentrations between 0.1 and 100 ppm and differentiate between smokers and nonsmokers when appropriate. The values shown in Table 4.8 suggest that interindividual differences in metabolite production were generally rather modest, with most ratios lying between about 0.3 and 2.0. Indeed, differences as great as 2- to 3.5-fold would only be anticipated for most metabolite-gene combinations when persons were exposed to very high benzene concentrations (100 ppm). The exception to this rule is the large effect of GSTT1 on SPMA production, where homozygous referents would typically have SPMA levels 3- to 8-fold greater than those of homozygous variants. This large fold range undoubtedly contributed to the earlier reports of significant effects of GSTT1 on SPMA levels (Sorensen et al., 2003; Sorensen et al., 2004; Qu et al., 2005).

In conclusion, we used GLM+NS regression to detect numerous effects of particular metabolizing genes and gene-environment interactions on levels of benzene metabolites in 386 Chinese workers. Of the 9 SNPs investigated, *NQO1*2* affected all five metabolites, *CYP2E1* (-1054C>T) affected all metabolites but CA, *EPHX1* (Ex3-28T>C or Ex4+52A>G) affected CA and SPMA, and GSTT1 and GSTM1 affected SPMA. Significant interactions were detected between benzene exposure and all four genes and between smoking status and

NQO1 and EPHX1. Results are generally consistent with prior reports of associations between benzene hematotoxicity and specific gene mutations and provide additional evidence regarding functionality of SNPs of NQO1, CYP2E1, and EPHX1 in humans exposed to benzene.

CHAPTER 5.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

5.1. Summary and Conclusions

Although the toxicity of benzene has been linked to its metabolites, the dose-related production of metabolites is not well understood in humans, particularly at low exposure levels. The present study was intended to elucidate the profiles of the main benzene metabolites in humans exposed to a wide range of benzene levels, and the effects of genetic and other factors upon metabolite levels. In order to do so, we analyzed a dataset containing air and metabolite levels along with personal information (including SNPs of key metabolic enzymes) from 389 subjects exposed to benzene in either workplace or general environment.

5.1.1. Dose-related Patterns of Human Benzene Metabolism

As exposure increased, the levels of benzene metabolites also increased. We used stepfunctions to depict nominal exposures which were associated with a statistically significant increase in metabolite levels for subjects grouped by their exposure levels (n=30 per group). While there were marginal increases in MA, PH, CA and HQ at air benzene levels as low as 0.02 ppm, levels of benzene metabolites were demonstrably different from background levels at about 0.2 ppm for MA and SPMA, 0.5 ppm for PH and HQ, and 2 ppm for CA (Fig. 2.2). After adjustment for the background levels of benzene, MA, PH, CA and HQ showed significant downward trends of dose-related production [*i.e.*, metabolite levels per ppm of benzene], whereas SPMA had an upwards trend between 0.027 and 15.4 ppm. The transitions were particularly accentuated at lower exposure (0.027 – 0.274 ppm), where a 16-fold reduction for CA, 4.4-fold for PH, 1.8-fold reduction for MA and 1.6-fold reduction for HQ. Thus, it appears that metabolism shifted away from CA and PH at low doses in favor of MA and HQ, which are the only major benzene metabolites requiring two CYP oxidations (Figure 2.1). When exposures exceeded about one ppm, the dose-related profiles of PH, MA, HQ, and CA became quasi-parallel, suggesting that metabolism of benzene to BO had become rate-limiting.

5.1.2. Modeling Human Metabolism of Benzene

In order to verify the dose-related production of benzene metabolites, we needed a statistical model to address covariate effects on metabolites after adjustment for the nonlinear relationship between urinary metabolites and air benzene. From this perspective, a GLM+NS model was constructed. Based on analysis of the molar fractions of 5 major benzene metabolites (Fig.3.3B), CYP-mediated metabolic pathways favored MA and HQ below 20 ppm and favored PH above 20 ppm. Mean trends of dose-specific levels (µM/ppm benzene) of MA, PH, HQ, and CA decreased with increasing benzene exposure. Noticeably, about 90% of the reductions in dose-specific levels (from 0.03 to 88.9 ppm) occurred below about 3 ppm for each major metabolite. GLM+NS model also allowed us to detect significant effects of gender, age and smoking status on benzene metabolites. The level of each metabolite was about 20% or higher in females. Likewise, the levels of 4 metabolites (MA, SPMA, PH, and HQ) diminished with age, at rates between 1.1 and 1.9 percent per year of

life. The levels of HQ and CA were greater in smoking subjects (Table 3.2). Overall, these results indicate that benzene metabolism is highly nonlinear with increasing benzene exposure above 0.03 ppm (even after adjustment of background metabolites of benzene). Therefore, current human toxicokinetic models may not accurately predict benzene metabolism below 3 ppm.

5.1.3. Genetic Polymorphisms and Benzene Metabolism in Humans

We extended the GLM+NS model to investigate the effects of genetic polymorphisms of key enzymes for benzene metabolism including CYP2E1, NQO1, MPO, GSTs and EPHX1, after adjustment for age, gender, BMI and smoking status. The following SNPs showed significant effects on various metabolites, either as main effects or as interactions with benzene exposure and/or smoking: NOO1*2 for all metabolites, CYP2E1 for all metabolites except CA, GSTT1 and GSTM1 for SPMA, EPHX1 (Ex4+52A>G) for SPMA and CA, and EPHX1 (Ex3-28T>C) for CA. Interestingly, variant or deficient alleles of all genes [except *EPHX1* (Ex4+52A>G)] appeared to be associated with lower levels of benzene metabolites relative to homozygous wild alleles. While it was expected that the levels of CA and HQ would be lower in subjects with NQO1*2 (less active), lower levels of MA, SPMA, and PH among subjects with NQO1*2 seemed to be associated with a more general role for NQO1. We also found that NQO1*3 and MPO did not affect metabolism. As for CYP2E1 (-1054C>T), significant differences in metabolite levels between homozygous wild-types and homozygous variants weres detected at benzene exposures in the range of 0.1 - 2 ppm for HQ, PH and MA (Tables 3, 5 and 7 and Fig. 2A). This interaction effect may reflect induction of CYP2E1 (-1054C>T) by benzene exposure, or more rapid saturation of metabolism among homozygous variant subjects. Our results substantially support evidence

from previous studies that *CYP2E1* (-1054C>T) mutations functionally reduced the metabolism of CYP2E1 substrates. *GSTT1* affected the production of SPMA with a clear gene-dose relationship. While *GSTM1* showed similar effects on SPMA, there was no effect of *GSTP1* on SPMA. Subjects with variant allele(s) of *EPHX1* (Ex3-28T>C) had lower levels of CA than homozygous wild-types while those with at least one variant of *EPHX1* (Ex4+52A>G) had marginally higher CA levels, supporting previous *in vitro* results. Also, differences in CA levels seemed distinguishable between homozygous wild- and variant-types of *EPHX1* (Ex3-28T>C) among smokers exposed to benzene at one ppm or more. It is of interest that fast EPHX1 metabolism is a risk factor among smokers. Although we detected many influential SNP effects on benzene metabolites, the portion of SNP effects as explanatory variables appeared limited, that is, less than 5% of the total variation of the level of any benzene metabolite could be explained by SNPs.

5.2. Implications and Suggestions for Future Research

In the present study, we observed highly nonlinear relationships with regards to dosespecific production of benzene metabolites. Considering that MUC and HQ are thought to be the most hematotoxic metabolites of benzene (Snyder, 2004), and that metabolism of benzene appears to favor these species at lower exposure (Fig. 3.3B, Fig. 3.4) the general population might be at higher risk of benzene-induced health effects than generally thought from linear extrapolation of risks from studies involving highly exposed subjects. Also, the overall rate of metabolism, expressed as excretion of total benzene metabolites per ppm of benzene exposure points to more efficient metabolism at lower exposure (Fig. 3.4F). Based upon the results from the NS basis functions defined in Chapter 2 for total metabolites we

estimate that the percentage of the absorbed benzene dose that was excreted as urinary metabolites diminished from about 90% at 0.7 ppm, to 56% at 1 ppm, to 46% at 3 ppm. These calculations assume a ventilation minute volume of 7.5 l/min (Krishnan and Andersen, 2001), that 50% of the inhaled benzene is retained (Nomiyama and Nomiyama, 1974), an 8-h working day, and a 1 ml/min urine generation rate (Ritschel *et al.*, 1999). These apparent dose-related shifts in benzene metabolism need to be reproduced in other populations.

Age, gender, and smoking were important explanatory variables for our models of urinary benzene metabolites after adjusting for benzene exposure (Chapter 2). Considering that AML tends to be a disease of children and young adults (EPA, 2002), it is possible that enhanced benzene metabolism in younger persons might be a risk factor for this disease. Also, the fact that females appear to metabolize more benzene than males should also be considered as a potential risk factor for leukemia, although rates of AML in the U.S. tend to be greater for males than females of all races (Xie *et al.*, 2003). Finally, since cigarette smoke appears to contain significant quantities of benzene, HQ and CA (see Chapter 2), links between smoking and leukemia (McDonald *et al.*, 2001) could well reflect exposures to benzene and its metabolites.

We identified relatively small effects of SNPs of metabolizing genes on levels of urinary metabolites, which primarily reflect metabolism in liver (Chapter 3). Since liver is not a target organ, the roles of SNPs operating in the target blood-forming tissues might be different (Lan *et al.*, 2004). Therefore, our results should be considered as reflecting primary rates of benzene metabolism and not necessarily as reflecting particular activation and deactivation pathways in target cells. It is important that future studies consider the possible

interactions between primary (liver) metabolism and subsequent transformations in target tissues to more fully elucidate the mechanism(s) of benzene induced hematotoxic effects.

References

- ACGIH (Ed.) (2004). *Threshold limit values and biological exposure indices*, Cincinnati, Ohaio, USA.
- Aksoy, M. (1985). Malignancies due to occupational exposure to benzene. *Am J Ind Med* 7, 395-402.
- Aksoy, M. (1989). Hematotoxicity and carcinogenicity of benzene. *Environ Health Perspect* 82, 193-197.
- Aksoy, M., Dincol, K., Akgun, T., Erdem, S., and Dincol, G. (1971). Haematological effects of chronic benzene poisoning in 217 workers. *Br J Ind Med* **28**, 296-302.
- Amin, R. P., and Witz, G. (2001). DNA-protein crosslink and DNA strand break formation in HL-60 cells treated with trans,trans-muconaldehyde, hydroquinone and their mixtures. *Int J Toxicol* 20, 69-80.
- ATSDR (1997). Toxicological profile for benzene. In *PB/98/101157/AS*. (US. DHHS, Ed.). Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.
- ATSDR (2000). Case Studies in Environmental Medicine: Benzene Toxicity. In ATSDR Publication No.: ATSDR-HE-CS-2001-0003. (U. DHHS, Ed.). Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.
- Avogbe, P. H., Ayi-Fanou, L., Autrup, H., Loft, S., Fayomi, B., Sanni, A., Vinzents, P., and Moller, P. (2005). Ultrafine particulate matter and high-level benzene urban air pollution in relation to oxidative DNA damage. *Carcinogenesis* 26, 613-620.
- Bauer, A. K., Faiola, B., Abernethy, D. J., Marchan, R., Pluta, L. J., Wong, V. A., Gonzalez, F. J., Butterworth, B. E., Borghoff, S. J., Everitt, J. I., and Recio, L. (2003a). Male mice deficient in microsomal epoxide hydrolase are not susceptible to benzeneinduced toxicity. *Toxicol Sci* 72, 201-209.
- Bauer, A. K., Faiola, B., Abernethy, D. J., Marchan, R., Pluta, L. J., Wong, V. A., Roberts, K., Jaiswal, A. K., Gonzalez, F. J., Butterworth, B. E., Borghoff, S., Parkinson, H., Everitt, J., and Recio, L. (2003b). Genetic susceptibility to benzene-induced toxicity: role of NADPH: quinone oxidoreductase-1. *Cancer Res* 63, 929-935.
- Bhat, R. V., Subrahmanyam, V. V., Sadler, A., and Ross, D. (1988). Bioactivation of catechol in rat and human bone marrow cells. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **94**, 297-304.
- Binquet, C., Wallon, M., Quantin, C., Kodjikian, L., Garweg, J., Fleury, J., Peyron, F., and Abrahamowicz, M. (2003). Prognostic factors for the long-term development of ocular lesions in 327 children with congenital toxoplasmosis. *Epidemiol Infect* 131, 1157-1168.
- Boersma, M. G., Balvers, W. G., Boeren, S., Vervoort, J., and Rietjens, I. M. (1994).
 NADPH-cytochrome reductase catalysed redox cycling of 1,4-benzoquinone; hampered at physiological conditions, initiated at increased pH values. *Biochem Pharmacol* 47, 1949-1955.
- Bolcsak, L. E., and Nerland, D. E. (1983). Purification of mouse liver benzene dihydrodiol dehydrogenases. J Biol Chem 258, 7252-7255.
- Bolt, H. M., Roos, P. H., and Thier, R. (2003). The cytochrome P-450 isoenzyme CYP2E1 in the biological processing of industrial chemicals: consequences for occupational and environmental medicine. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* **76**, 174-185.
- Boogaard, P. J., and van Sittert, N. J. (1996). Suitability of S-phenyl mercapturic acid and trans-trans-muconic acid as biomarkers for exposure to low concentrations of benzene. *Environ Health Perspect* **104 Suppl 6**, 1151-1157.
- Brunmark, A., and Cadenas, E. (1988). Reductive addition of glutathione to p-benzoquinone, 2-hydroxy-p-benzoquinone, and p-benzoquinone epoxides. Effect of the hydroxy- and glutathionyl substituents on p-benzohydroquinone autoxidation. *Chem Biol Interact* 68, 273-298.
- Burnham, K. P., Anderson, D. R., and Burnham, K. P. (2002). *Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach*. Springer, New York.
- Carere, A., Andreoli, C., Galati, R., Leopardi, P., Marcon, F., Rosati, M. V., Rossi, S., Tomei, F., Verdina, A., Zijno, A., and Crebelli, R. (2002). Biomonitoring of exposure to urban air pollutants: analysis of sister chromatid exchanges and DNA lesions in peripheral lymphocytes of traffic policemen. *Mutat Res* 518, 215-224.
- Carriere, V., Berthou, F., Baird, S., Belloc, C., Beaune, P., and de Waziers, I. (1996). Human cytochrome P450 2E1 (CYP2E1): from genotype to phenotype. *Pharmacogenetics* **6**, 203-211.
- Chen, H., Rupa, D. S., Tomar, R., and Eastmond, D. A. (1994). Chromosomal loss and breakage in mouse bone marrow and spleen cells exposed to benzene in vivo. *Cancer Res* 54, 3533-3539.

- Choi, J. Y., Lee, K. M., Cho, S. H., Kim, S. W., Choi, H. Y., Lee, S. Y., Im, H. J., Yoon, K. J., Choi, H., Choi, I., Hirvonen, A., Hayes, R. B., and Kang, D. (2003). CYP2E1 and NQO1 genotypes, smoking and bladder cancer. *Pharmacogenetics* 13, 349-355.
- Cody, R. P., Strawderman, W. W., and Kipen, H. M. (1993). Hematologic effects of benzene. Job-specific trends during the first year of employment among a cohort of benzeneexposed rubber workers. *J Occup Med* 35, 776-782.
- Cortessis, V., Siegmund, K., Chen, Q., Zhou, N., Diep, A., Frankl, H., Lee, E., Zhu, Q. S., Haile, R., and Levy, D. (2001). A case-control study of microsomal epoxide hydrolase, smoking, meat consumption, glutathione S-transferase M3, and risk of colorectal adenomas. *Cancer Res* 61, 2381-2385.
- Creek, M. R., Mani, C., Vogel, J. S., and Turteltaub, K. W. (1997). Tissue distribution and macromolecular binding of extremely low doses of [14C]-benzene in B6C3F1 mice. *Carcinogenesis* 18, 2421-2427.
- Crump, K. S. (1996). Risk of benzene-induced leukemia predicted from the Pliofilm cohort. *Environ Health Perspect* **104 Suppl 6**, 1437-1441.
- Dahl, J. E., Sundby, J., Hensten-Pettersen, A., and Jacobsen, N. (1999). Dental workplace exposure and effect on fertility. *Scand J Work Environ Health* **25**, 285-290.
- De Long, M. J., Santamaria, A. B., and Talalay, P. (1987). Role of cytochrome P1-450 in the induction of NAD(P)H:quinone reductase in a murine hepatoma cell line and its mutants. *Carcinogenesis* **8**, 1549-1553.
- Dirksen, U., Moghadam, K. A., Mambetova, C., Esser, C., Fuhrer, M., and Burdach, S. (2004). Glutathione S transferase theta 1 gene (GSTT1) null genotype is associated with an increased risk for acquired aplastic anemia in children. *Pediatr Res* 55, 466-471.
- Dominici, F., McDermott, A., Zeger, S. L., and Samet, J. M. (2002). On the use of generalized additive models in time-series studies of air pollution and health. Am J Epidemiol 156, 193-203.
- Dosemeci, M., Rothman, N., Yin, S. N., Li, G. L., Linet, M., Wacholder, S., Chow, W. H., and Hayes, R. B. (1997). Validation of benzene exposure assessment. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 837, 114-121.

- Duarte-Davidson, R., Courage, C., Rushton, L., and Levy, L. (2001). Benzene in the environment: an assessment of the potential risks to the health of the population. *Occup Environ Med* 58, 2-13.
- Durrleman, S., and Simon, R. (1989). Flexible regression models with cubic splines. *Stat Med* **8**, 551-561.
- Eastmond, D. A., Smith, M. T., and Irons, R. D. (1987). An interaction of benzene metabolites reproduces the myelotoxicity observed with benzene exposure. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **91**, 85-95.
- Eguchi-Ishimae, M., Eguchi, M., Ishii, E., Knight, D., Sadakane, Y., Isoyama, K., Yabe, H., Mizutani, S., and Greaves, M. (2005). The association of a distinctive allele of NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase with pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemias with MLL fusion genes in Japan. *Haematologica* **90**, 1511-1515.
- EPA (1998). Carcinogenic effects of benzene: an update. (US. EPA, Ed.).
- EPA (2002). Toxicological review of benzene (noncancer effects) (CAS No. 71-43-2). (US. EPA, Ed.).
- EPA, (2006). The Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS) Database for Risk Assessment.
- European Collaborative Study (2003). Are there gender and race differences in cellular immunity patterns over age in infected and uninfected children born to HIV-infected women? *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* **33**, 635-641.
- Forni, A. (1996). Benzene-induced chromosome aberrations: a follow-up study. *Environ Health Perspect* **104 Suppl 6**, 1309-1312.
- Fustinoni, S., Buratti, M., Campo, L., Colombi, A., Consonni, D., Pesatori, A. C., Bonzini, M., Farmer, P., Garte, S., Valerio, F., Merlo, D. F., and Bertazzi, P. A. (2005a).
 Urinary t,t-muconic acid, S-phenylmercapturic acid and benzene as biomarkers of low benzene exposure. *Chem Biol Interact* 153-154, 253-256.
- Fustinoni, S., Consonni, D., Campo, L., Buratti, M., Colombi, A., Pesatori, A. C., Bonzini, M., Bertazzi, P. A., Foa, V., Garte, S., Farmer, P. B., Levy, L. S., Pala, M., Valerio, F., Fontana, V., Desideri, A., and Merlo, D. F. (2005b). Monitoring low benzene exposure: comparative evaluation of urinary biomarkers, influence of cigarette smoking, and genetic polymorphisms. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 14, 2237-2244.

- Fustinoni, S., Giampiccolo, R., Pulvirenti, S., Buratti, M., and Colombi, A. (1999).
 Headspace solid-phase microextraction for the determination of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylenes in urine. *J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl* 723, 105-115.
- Gaido, K. W., and Wierda, D. (1985). Modulation of stromal cell function in DBA/2J and B6C3F1 mice exposed to benzene or phenol. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **81**, 469-475.
- Ganousis, L. G., Goon, D., Zyglewska, T., Wu, K. K., and Ross, D. (1992). Cell-specific metabolism in mouse bone marrow stroma: studies of activation and detoxification of benzene metabolites. *Mol Pharmacol* 42, 1118-1125.
- Garnett, H. M., Cronkite, E. P., and Drew, R. T. (1983). Effect of in vivo exposure to benzene on the characteristics of bone marrow adherent cells. *Leuk Res* **7**, 803-810.
- Garte, S., Popov, T., Georgieva, T., Bolognesi, C., Taioli, E., Bertazzi, P., Farmer, P., and Merlo, D. F. (2005). Biomarkers of exposure and effect in Bulgarian petrochemical workers exposed to benzene. *Chem Biol Interact* 153-154, 247-251.
- Ghittori, S., Fiorentino, M. L., Maestri, L., Cordioli, G., and Imbriani, M. (1993). Urinary excretion of unmetabolized benzene as an indicator of benzene exposure. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 38, 233-243.
- Ghittori, S., Maestri, L., Fiorentino, M. L., and Imbriani, M. (1995). Evaluation of occupational exposure to benzene by urinalysis. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 67, 195-200.
- Gilmour, S. K., Kalf, G. F., and Snyder, R. (1986). Comparison of the metabolism of benzene and its metabolite phenol in rat liver microsomes. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 197, 223-235.
- Glass, D. C., Gray, C. N., Jolley, D. J., Gibbons, C., Sim, M. R., Fritschi, L., Adams, G. G., Bisby, J. A., and Manuell, R. (2003). Leukemia risk associated with low-level benzene exposure. *Epidemiology* 14, 569-577.
- Golding, B. T., and Watson, W. P. (1999). Possible mechanisms of carcinogenesis after exposure to benzene. *IARC Sci Publ*, 75-88.
- Goon, D., Saxena, M., Awasthi, Y. C., and Ross, D. (1993). Activity of mouse liver glutathione S-transferases toward trans, trans-muconaldehyde and trans-4-hydroxy-2nonenal. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **119**, 175-180.

- Hall Moran, V., Leathard, H. L., and Coley, J. (2001). Urinary hormone levels during the natural menstrual cycle: the effect of age. *J Endocrinol* **170**, 157-164.
- Harrell, F. E. (2001). *Regression modeling strategies: with applications to linear models, logistic regression, and survival analysis.* Springer, New York.
- Hassett, C., Aicher, L., Sidhu, J. S., and Omiecinski, C. J. (1994). Human microsomal epoxide hydrolase: genetic polymorphism and functional expression in vitro of amino acid variants. *Hum Mol Genet* 3, 421-428.
- Hassett, C., Lin, J., Carty, C. L., Laurenzana, E. M., and Omiecinski, C. J. (1997). Human hepatic microsomal epoxide hydrolase: comparative analysis of polymorphic expression. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 337, 275-283.
- Hayashi, S., Watanabe, J., and Kawajiri, K. (1991). Genetic polymorphisms in the 5'-flanking region change transcriptional regulation of the human cytochrome P450IIE1 gene. J *Biochem (Tokyo)* **110**, 559-565.
- Hayes, J. D., Flanagan, J. U., and Jowsey, I. R. (2005). Glutathione transferases. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **45**, 51-88.
- Hayes, R. B., Songnian, Y., Dosemeci, M., and Linet, M. (2001). Benzene and lymphohematopoietic malignancies in humans. *Am J Ind Med* **40**, 117-126.
- Hayes, R. B., Yin, S. N., Dosemeci, M., Li, G. L., Wacholder, S., Travis, L. B., Li, C. Y., Rothman, N., Hoover, R. N., and Linet, M. S. (1997). Benzene and the dose-related incidence of hematologic neoplasms in China. Chinese Academy of Preventive Medicine--National Cancer Institute Benzene Study Group. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 89, 1065-1071.
- He, S., Mazumdar, S., and Arena, V. C. (2006). A comparative study of the use of GAM and GLM in air pollution research. *Environmetrics* **17**, 81-93.
- Hecht, S. S., Carmella, S., Mori, H., and Hoffmann, D. (1981). A study of tobacco carcinogenesis. XX. Role of catechol as a major cocarcinogen in the weakly acidic fraction of smoke condensate. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 66, 163-169.
- HEI, (2003). Revised Analyses of Time-Series Studies of Air Pollution and Health. Special Report. Health Effects Institute, Boston MA.

- Heinzl, H., and Kaider, A. (1997). Gaining more flexibility in Cox proportional hazards regression models with cubic spline functions. *Comput Methods Programs Biomed* 54, 201-208.
- Henderson, A. P., Barnes, M. L., Bleasdale, C., Cameron, R., Clegg, W., Heath, S. L.,
 Lindstrom, A. B., Rappaport, S. M., Waidyanatha, S., Watson, W. P., and Golding, B.
 T. (2005a). Reactions of benzene oxide with thiols including glutathione. *Chem Res Toxicol* 18, 265-270.
- Henderson, A. P., Bleasdale, C., Delaney, K., Lindstrom, A. B., Rappaport, S. M., Waidyanatha, S., Watson, W. P., and Golding, B. T. (2005b). Evidence for the formation of Michael adducts from reactions of (E,E)-muconaldehyde with glutathione and other thiols. *Bioorg Chem* 33, 363-373.
- Henderson, R. F. (1996). Species differences in the metabolism of benzene. *Environ Health Perspect* **104 Suppl 6**, 1173-1175.
- Herndon, J. E., 2nd, and Harrell, F. E., Jr. (1995). The restricted cubic spline as baseline hazard in the proportional hazards model with step function time-dependent covariables. *Stat Med* 14, 2119-2129.
- Hess, K. R. (1994). Assessing time-by-covariate interactions in proportional hazards regression models using cubic spline functions. *Stat Med* **13**, 1045-1062.
- Heuer, C. (1997). Modeling of time trends and interactions in vital rates using restricted regression splines. *Biometrics* **53**, 161-177.
- Hoffmann, K., Krause, C., Seifert, B., and Ullrich, D. (2000). The German Environmental Survey 1990/92 (GerES II): sources of personal exposure to volatile organic compounds. *J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol* **10**, 115-125.
- Hornung, R. W., and Reed, L. D. (1990). Estimation of average concentration in the presence of nondetectable values. *Appl Occup Environ Hyg* **5**, 46-51.
- Hsieh, L. L., Liou, S. H., Chiu, L. L., and Chen, Y. H. (1999). Glutathione S-transferase (GST) M1 and GST T1 genotypes and hematopoietic effects of benzene exposure. *Arch Toxicol* 73, 80-82.
- Huang, W. Y., Chatterjee, N., Chanock, S., Dean, M., Yeager, M., Schoen, R. E., Hou, L. F., Berndt, S. I., Yadavalli, S., Johnson, C. C., and Hayes, R. B. (2005). Microsomal epoxide hydrolase polymorphisms and risk for advanced colorectal adenoma. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 14, 152-157.

- IARC (1982). IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans. Some Industrial Chemicals and Dyestuffs. World Health Organization Inernation Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, France.
- IARC (1987). *IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Overall evaluations of carcinogenicity: An updating of IARC Monographs.* World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, France.
- IARC. (1986). *Tobacco smoking*. World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, France.
- Ikeda, M., Ezaki, T., Tsukahara, T., Moriguchi, J., Furuki, K., Fukui, Y., Okamoto, S., Ukai, H., and Sakurai, H. (2003). Bias induced by the use of creatinine-corrected values in evaluation of beta2-microgloblin levels. *Toxicol Lett* 145, 197-207.
- Inayat-Hussain, S. H., and Ross, D. (2005). Intrinsic pathway of hydroquinone induced apoptosis occurs via both caspase-dependent and caspase-independent mechanisms. *Chem Res Toxicol* **18**, 420-427.
- Ingelman-Sundberg, M., Daly, A. K., and Nebert, D. W. (2006). Human Cytochrome P450 (CYP) Allele Nomenclature Committee at <u>http://www.imm.ki.se/CYPalleles/</u>.
- Irons, R. D., and Neptun, D. A. (1980). Effects of the principal hydroxy-metabolites of benzene on microtubule polymerization. *Arch Toxicol* **45**, 297-305.
- Jaiswal, A. K. (2000). Regulation of genes encoding NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductases. *Free Radic Biol Med* **29**, 254-262.
- Jemal, A., Graubard, B. I., Devesa, S. S., and Flegal, K. M. (2002). The association of blood lead level and cancer mortality among whites in the United States. *Environ Health Perspect* 110, 325-329.
- Jerina, D. M., and Daly, J. W. (1974). Arene oxides: a new aspect of drug metabolism. *Science* **185**, 573-582.
- Jourenkova-Mironova, N., Mitrunen, K., Bouchardy, C., Dayer, P., Benhamou, S., and Hirvonen, A. (2000). High-activity microsomal epoxide hydrolase genotypes and the risk of oral, pharynx, and larynx cancers. *Cancer Res* 60, 534-536.
- Kalf, G. F., Renz, J. F., and Niculescu, R. (1996). p-Benzoquinone, a reactive metabolite of benzene, prevents the processing of pre-interleukins-1 alpha and -1 beta to active

cytokines by inhibition of the processing enzymes, calpain, and interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme. *Environ Health Perspect* **104 Suppl 6**, 1251-1256.

- Kato, S., Shields, P. G., Caporaso, N. E., Hoover, R. N., Trump, B. F., Sugimura, H., Weston, A., and Harris, C. C. (1992). Cytochrome P450IIE1 genetic polymorphisms, racial variation, and lung cancer risk. *Cancer Res* 52, 6712-6715.
- Kenyon, E. M., Seeley, M. E., Janszen, D., and Medinsky, M. A. (1995). Dose-, route-, and sex-dependent urinary excretion of phenol metabolites in B6C3F1 mice. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 44, 219-233.
- Kim, R. B., Yamazaki, H., Chiba, K., O'Shea, D., Mimura, M., Guengerich, F. P., Ishizaki, T., Shimada, T., and Wilkinson, G. R. (1996). In vivo and in vitro characterization of CYP2E1 activity in Japanese and Caucasians. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 279, 4-11.
- Kim, S., Vermeulen, R., Waidyanatha, S., Johnson, B., Lan, Q., Rothman, N., Smith, M. T., Zhang, L., Li, G., Shen, M., Yin, S., and Rappaport, S. M. (2006a). Modeling Human Metabolism of Benzene Following Occupational and Environmental Exposures. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.*
- Kim, S., Vermeulen, R., Waidyanatha, S., Johnson, B., Lan, Q., Rothman, N., Smith, M. T., Zhang, L., Li, G., Shen, M., Yin, S., and Rappaport, S. M. (2006b). Using urinary biomarkers to elucidate dose-related patterns of human benzene metabolism. *Carcinogenesis* 27, 772-781.
- Kim, S. Y., Choi, J. K., Cho, Y. H., Chung, E. J., Paek, D., and Chung, H. W. (2004). Chromosomal aberrations in workers exposed to low levels of benzene: association with genetic polymorphisms. *Pharmacogenetics* 14, 453-463.
- Kipen, H. M., Cody, R. P., Crump, K. S., Allen, B. C., and Goldstein, B. D. (1988). Hematologic effects of benzene: a thirty-five year longitudinal study of rubber workers. *Toxicol Ind Health* 4, 411-430.
- Kipen, H. M., Cody, R. P., and Goldstein, B. D. (1989). Use of longitudinal analysis of peripheral blood counts to validate historical reconstructions of benzene exposure. *Environ Health Perspect* 82, 199-206.
- Koop, D. R., Laethem, C. L., and Schnier, G. G. (1989). Identification of ethanol-inducible P450 isozyme 3a (P450IIE1) as a benzene and phenol hydroxylase. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 98, 278-288.

- Krishnan, K., and Andersen, M. E. (2001). Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling in toxicology. In *Principles and methods of toxicology* (A. W. Hayes, Ed.), pp. 193-241. Taylor & Francis, Philadelphia, PA.
- Lan, Q., Zhang, L., Li, G., Vermeulen, R., Weinberg, R. S., Dosemeci, M., Rappaport, S. M., Shen, M., Alter, B. P., Wu, Y., Kopp, W., Waidyanatha, S., Rabkin, C., Guo, W., Chanock, S., Hayes, R. B., Linet, M., Kim, S., Yin, S., Rothman, N., and Smith, M. T. (2004). Hematotoxicity in workers exposed to low levels of benzene. *Science* 306, 1774-1776.
- Lan, Q., Zhang, L., Shen, M., Smith, M. T., Li, G., Vermeulen, R., Rappaport, S. M., Forrest, M. S., Hayes, R. B., Linet, M., Dosemeci, M., Alter, B. P., Weinberg, R. S., Yin, S., Yeager, M., Welch, R., Waidyanatha, S., Kim, S., Chanock, S., and Rothman, N. (2005). Polymorphisms in cytokine and cellular adhesion molecule genes and susceptibility to hematotoxicity among workers exposed to benzene. *Cancer Res* 65, 9574-9581.
- Le Marchand, L., Donlon, T., Seifried, A., and Wilkens, L. R. (2002). Red meat intake, CYP2E1 genetic polymorphisms, and colorectal cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* **11**, 1019-1024.
- Leung, P. L., and Harrison, R. M. (1998). Evaluation of personal exposure to monoaromatic hydrocarbons. *Occup Environ Med* **55**, 249-257.
- Levay, G., and Bodell, W. J. (1992). Potentiation of DNA adduct formation in HL-60 cells by combinations of benzene metabolites. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **89**, 7105-7109.
- Lindstrom, A. B., Yeowell-O'Connell, K., Waidyanatha, S., McDonald, T. A., Golding, B.
 T., and Rappaport, S. M. (1998). Formation of hemoglobin and albumin adducts of benzene oxide in mouse, rat, and human blood. *Chem Res Toxicol* 11, 302-310.
- Lindstrom, A. B., Yeowell-O'Connell, K., Waidyanatha, S., McDonald, T. A., and Rappaport, S. M. (1999). Investigation of benzene oxide in bone marrow and other tissues of F344 rats following metabolism of benzene in vitro and in vivo. *Chem Biol Interact* 122, 41-58.
- Little, R. J., An, H., Johanns, J., and Giordani, B. (2000). A comparison of subset selection and analysis of covariance for the adjustment of confounders. *Psychol Methods* 5, 459-476.
- Lodovici, M., Luceri, C., Guglielmi, F., Bacci, C., Akpan, V., Fonnesu, M. L., Boddi, V., and Dolara, P. (2004). Benzo(a)pyrene diolepoxide (BPDE)-DNA adduct levels in

leukocytes of smokers in relation to polymorphism of CYP1A1, GSTM1, GSTP1, GSTT1, and mEH. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* **13**, 1342-1348.

- Long, D. J., 2nd, Gaikwad, A., Multani, A., Pathak, S., Montgomery, C. A., Gonzalez, F. J., and Jaiswal, A. K. (2002). Disruption of the NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1) gene in mice causes myelogenous hyperplasia. *Cancer Res* 62, 3030-3036.
- Longacre, S. L., Kocsis, J. J., and Snyder, R. (1981). Influence of strain differences in mice on the metabolism and toxicity of benzene. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **60**, 398-409.
- Lovern, M. R., Cole, C. E., and Schlosser, P. M. (2001). A review of quantitative studies of benzene metabolism. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 31, 285-311.
- Lovern, M. R., Maris, M. E., and Schlosser, P. M. (1999). Use of a mathematical model of rodent in vitro benzene metabolism to predict human in vitro metabolism data. *Carcinogenesis* 20, 1511-1520.
- Lucas, D., Menez, C., Girre, C., Berthou, F., Bodenez, P., Joannet, I., Hispard, E., Bardou, L. G., and Menez, J. F. (1995). Cytochrome P450 2E1 genotype and chlorzoxazone metabolism in healthy and alcoholic Caucasian subjects. *Pharmacogenetics* 5, 298-304.
- Maestri, L., Ghittori, S., and Imbriani, M. (1997). Determination of specific mercapturic acids as an index of exposure to environmental benzene, toluene, and styrene. *Ind Health* **35**, 489-501.
- Mar, T. F., Ito, K., Koenig, J. Q., Larson, T. V., Eatough, D. J., Henry, R. C., Kim, E., Laden, F., Lall, R., Neas, L., Stolzel, M., Paatero, P., Hopke, P. K., and Thurston, G. D. (2005). PM source apportionment and health effects. 3. Investigation of inter-method variations in associations between estimated source contributions of PM(2.5) and daily mortality in Phoenix, AZ. J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol.
- Marchand, L. L., Wilkinson, G. R., and Wilkens, L. R. (1999). Genetic and dietary predictors of CYP2E1 activity: a phenotyping study in Hawaii Japanese using chlorzoxazone. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 8, 495-500.
- Marrazzini, A., Chelotti, L., Barrai, I., Loprieno, N., and Barale, R. (1994). In vivo genotoxic interactions among three phenolic benzene metabolites. *Mutat Res* **341**, 29-46.
- Marsh, L. C. (1986). Estimating the Number and Location of Knots in Spline Regressions. *Journal of Applied Business Research* **3**, 60-70.

- McCue, J. M., Lazis, S., John Cohen, J., Modiano, J. F., and Freed, B. M. (2003). Hydroquinone and catechol interfere with T cell cycle entry and progression through the G1 phase. *Mol Immunol* **39**, 995-1001.
- McDonald, T. A., Holland, N. T., Skibola, C., Duramad, P., and Smith, M. T. (2001).Hypothesis: phenol and hydroquinone derived mainly from diet and gastrointestinal flora activity are causal factors in leukemia. *Leukemia* 15, 10-20.
- McDonald, T. A., Waidyanatha, S., and Rappaport, S. M. (1993). Production of benzoquinone adducts with hemoglobin and bone-marrow proteins following administration of [13C6]benzene to rats. *Carcinogenesis* 14, 1921-1925.
- McDonald, T. A., Yeowell-O'Connell, K., and Rappaport, S. M. (1994). Comparison of protein adducts of benzene oxide and benzoquinone in the blood and bone marrow of rats and mice exposed to [14C/13C6]benzene. *Cancer Res* 54, 4907-4914.
- Medinsky, M. A., Sabourin, P. J., Lucier, G., Birnbaum, L. S., and Henderson, R. F. (1989). A physiological model for simulation of benzene metabolism by rats and mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 99, 193-206.
- Melikian, A. A., O'Connor, R., Prahalad, A. K., Hu, P., Li, H., Kagan, M., and Thompson, S. (1999). Determination of the urinary benzene metabolites S-phenylmercapturic acid and trans,trans-muconic acid by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Carcinogenesis* 20, 719-726.
- Melikian, A. A., Prahalad, A. K., and Secker-Walker, R. H. (1994). Comparison of the levels of the urinary benzene metabolite trans, trans-muconic acid in smokers and nonsmokers, and the effects of pregnancy. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 3, 239-244.
- Melikian, A. A., Qu, Q., Shore, R., Li, G., Li, H., Jin, X., Cohen, B., Chen, L., Li, Y., Yin, S., Mu, R., Zhang, X., and Wang, Y. (2002). Personal exposure to different levels of benzene and its relationships to the urinary metabolites S-phenylmercapturic acid and trans,trans-muconic acid. *J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci* 778, 211-221.
- Midzenski, M. A., McDiarmid, M. A., Rothman, N., and Kolodner, K. (1992). Acute high dose exposure to benzene in shipyard workers. *Am J Ind Med* **22**, 553-565.
- Miller, A. C., Schattenberg, D. G., Malkinson, A. M., and Ross, D. (1994). Decreased content of the IL1 alpha processing enzyme calpain in murine bone marrow-derived

macrophages after treatment with the benzene metabolite hydroquinone. *Toxicol Lett* **74**, 177-184.

- Moran, J. L., Siegel, D., and Ross, D. (1999). A potential mechanism underlying the increased susceptibility of individuals with a polymorphism in NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1) to benzene toxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96, 8150-8155.
- Morgan, G. J., and Smith, M. T. (2002). Metabolic enzyme polymorphisms and susceptibility to acute leukemia in adults. *Am J Pharmacogenomics* **2**, 79-92.
- Morisseau, C., and Hammock, B. D. (2005). Epoxide hydrolases: mechanisms, inhibitor designs, and biological roles. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **45**, 311-333.
- National Library of Medicine, N. (2003). Hazardous Substances Data Bank (HSDB) Fact Sheet.
- Nebert, D. W., Roe, A. L., Vandale, S. E., Bingham, E., and Oakley, G. G. (2002). NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1) polymorphism, exposure to benzene, and predisposition to disease: a HuGE review. *Genet Med* 4, 62-70.
- Nedelcheva, V., Gut, I., Soucek, P., Tichavska, B., Tynkova, L., Mraz, J., Guengerich, F. P., and Ingelman-Sundberg, M. (1999). Metabolism of benzene in human liver microsomes: individual variations in relation to CYP2E1 expression. *Arch Toxicol* 73, 33-40.
- NICNAS (2001). Benzene Priority Existing chemical Assessment Report No.21. National Industrial Chemicals Notification and Assessment Scheme, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra.
- Nomiyama, K., and Nomiyama, H. (1974). Respiratory retention, uptake and excretion of organic solvents in man. *Int Arch Arbeitsmed* **32**, 75-83.
- O'Connor, S. R., Farmer, P. B., and Lauder, I. (1999). Benzene and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *J Pathol* **189**, 448-453.
- Ong, C. N., Kok, P. W., Lee, B. L., Shi, C. Y., Ong, H. Y., Chia, K. S., Lee, C. S., and Luo, X. W. (1995). Evaluation of biomarkers for occupational exposure to benzene. *Occup Environ Med* 52, 528-533.

- Ong, C. N., Kok, P. W., Ong, H. Y., Shi, C. Y., Lee, B. L., Phoon, W. H., and Tan, K. T. (1996). Biomarkers of exposure to low concentrations of benzene: a field assessment. *Occup Environ Med* 53, 328-333.
- OSHA (1987). Occupational exposure to benzene. Final Rule. *Federal Register 52:34460-34578*.
- Oshiro, Y., Balwierz, P. S., and Witz, G. (2001). Micronucleus formation in mouse bone marrow cells in vivo in response to trans, trans-muconaldehyde. *Toxicol Lett* **121**, 159-166.
- Packer, B. R., Yeager, M., Staats, B., Welch, R., Crenshaw, A., Kiley, M., Eckert, A., Beerman, M., Miller, E., Bergen, A., Rothman, N., Strausberg, R., and Chanock, S. J. (2004). SNP500Cancer: a public resource for sequence validation and assay development for genetic variation in candidate genes. *Nucleic Acids Res* 32, D528-532.
- Pan, S. S., Forrest, G. L., Akman, S. A., and Hu, L. T. (1995). NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase expression and mitomycin C resistance developed by human colon cancer HCT 116 cells. *Cancer Res* 55, 330-335.
- Parke, D. V., and Williams, R. T. (1953a). Studies in detoxication. 54. The metabolism of benzene. (a) The formation of phenylglucuronide and phenylsulphuric acid from [14C]benzene. (b) The metabolism of [14C]phenol. *Biochem J* 55, 337-340.
- Parke, D. V., and Williams, R. T. (1953b). Studies in detoxication. XLIX. The metabolism of benzene containing (14C1) benzene. *Biochem J* 54, 231-238.
- Paustenbach, D. J., Price, P. S., Ollison, W., Blank, C., Jernigan, J. D., Bass, R. D., and Peterson, H. D. (1992). Reevaluation of benzene exposure for the Pliofilm (rubberworker) cohort (1936-1976). *J Toxicol Environ Health* 36, 177-231.
- Paxton, M. B., Chinchilli, V. M., Brett, S. M., and Rodricks, J. V. (1994). Leukemia risk associated with benzene exposure in the pliofilm cohort. II. Risk estimates. *Risk Anal* 14, 155-161.
- Pearson, R. L., Wachtel, H., and Ebi, K. L. (2000). Distance-weighted traffic density in proximity to a home is a risk factor for leukemia and other childhood cancers. *J Air Waste Manag Assoc* 50, 175-180.
- Penning, T. M., and Sharp, R. B. (1990). Characterization of dihydrodiol dehydrogenase in human liver and lung. *Carcinogenesis* **11**, 1203-1208.

- Petralia, S. A., Vena, J. E., Freudenheim, J. L., Dosemeci, M., Michalek, A., Goldberg, M. S., Brasure, J., and Graham, S. (1999). Risk of premenopausal breast cancer in association with occupational exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and benzene. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 25, 215-221.
- Post, G., Snyder, R., and Kalf, G. F. (1986). Metabolism of benzene and phenol in macrophages in vitro and the inhibition of RNA synthesis by benzene metabolites. *Cell Biol Toxicol* 2, 231-246.
- Powell, H., Kitteringham, N. R., Pirmohamed, M., Smith, D. A., and Park, B. K. (1998). Expression of cytochrome P4502E1 in human liver: assessment by mRNA, genotype and phenotype. *Pharmacogenetics* 8, 411-421.
- Qu, Q., Melikian, A. A., Li, G., Shore, R., Chen, L., Cohen, B., Yin, S., Kagan, M. R., Li, H., Meng, M., Jin, X., Winnik, W., Li, Y., Mu, R., and Li, K. (2000). Validation of biomarkers in humans exposed to benzene: urine metabolites. *Am J Ind Med* 37, 522-531.
- Qu, Q., Shore, R., Li, G., Su, L., Jin, X., Melikian, A. A., Roy, N., Chen, L. C., Wirgin, I., Cohen, B., Yin, S., Li, Y., and Mu, R. (2005). Biomarkers of benzene: urinary metabolites in relation to individual genotype and personal exposure. *Chem Biol Interact* 153-154, 85-95.
- Ramsay, T. O., Burnett, R. T., and Krewski, D. (2003). The effect of concurvity in generalized additive models linking mortality to ambient particulate matter. *Epidemiology* 14, 18-23.
- Rappaport, S. M., and Kupper, L. L. (2004). Variability of environmental exposures to volatile organic compounds. *J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol* 14, 92-107.
- Rappaport, S. M., Kupper, L. L., and Lin, Y. S. (2005). On the importance of exposure variability to the doses of volatile organic compounds. *Toxicol Sci* **83**, 224-236.
- Rappaport, S. M., Waidyanatha, S., Qu, Q., Shore, R., Jin, X., Cohen, B., Chen, L. C., Melikian, A. A., Li, G., Yin, S., Yan, H., Xu, B., Mu, R., Li, Y., Zhang, X., and Li, K. (2002). Albumin adducts of benzene oxide and 1,4-benzoquinone as measures of human benzene metabolism. *Cancer Res* 62, 1330-1337.
- Rinsky, R. A., Smith, A. B., Hornung, R., Filloon, T. G., Young, R. J., Okun, A. H., and Landrigan, P. J. (1987). Benzene and leukemia. An epidemiologic risk assessment. N Engl J Med 316, 1044-1050.

- Rinsky, R. A., Young, R. J., and Smith, A. B. (1981). Leukemia in benzene workers. *Am J* Ind Med **2**, 217-245.
- Ritschel, W. A., Kearns, G. L., and American Pharmaceutical Association (1999). *Handbook* of basic pharmacokinetics-- including clinical applications. American Pharmaceutical Association, Washington, D.C.
- Ross, D. (1997). Quinone Reductases. In *Comprehensive toxicology* (F. Guengeric, Ed.), pp. sec.3.12. Pergamon, Oxford, UK; New York, NY, USA.
- Ross, D. (2000). The role of metabolism and specific metabolites in benzene-induced toxicity: evidence and issues. *J Toxicol Environ Health A* **61**, 357-372.
- Ross, D. (2005). Functions and distribution of NQO1 in human bone marrow: potential clues to benzene toxicity. *Chem Biol Interact* 153-154, 137-146.
- Ross, D., Kepa, J. K., Winski, S. L., Beall, H. D., Anwar, A., and Siegel, D. (2000). NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1): chemoprotection, bioactivation, gene regulation and genetic polymorphisms. *Chem Biol Interact* **129**, 77-97.
- Ross, D., Siegel, D., Schattenberg, D. G., Sun, X. M., and Moran, J. L. (1996). Cell-specific activation and detoxification of benzene metabolites in mouse and human bone marrow: identification of target cells and a potential role for modulation of apoptosis in benzene toxicity. *Environ Health Perspect* **104 Suppl 6**, 1177-1182.
- Rossi, A. M., Guarnieri, C., Rovesti, S., Gobba, F., Ghittori, S., Vivoli, G., and Barale, R. (1999). Genetic polymorphisms influence variability in benzene metabolism in humans. *Pharmacogenetics* 9, 445-451.
- Rothman, N., Bechtold, W. E., Yin, S. N., Dosemeci, M., Li, G. L., Wang, Y. Z., Griffith, W. C., Smith, M. T., and Hayes, R. B. (1998). Urinary excretion of phenol, catechol, hydroquinone, and muconic acid by workers occupationally exposed to benzene. *Occup Environ Med* 55, 705-711.
- Rothman, N., Haas, R., Hayes, R. B., Li, G. L., Wiemels, J., Campleman, S., Quintana, P. J., Xi, L. J., Dosemeci, M., Titenko-Holland, N., and et al. (1995). Benzene induces gene-duplicating but not gene-inactivating mutations at the glycophorin A locus in exposed humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **92**, 4069-4073.
- Rothman, N., Li, G. L., Dosemeci, M., Bechtold, W. E., Marti, G. E., Wang, Y. Z., Linet, M., Xi, L. Q., Lu, W., Smith, M. T., Titenko-Holland, N., Zhang, L. P., Blot, W., Yin, S.

N., and Hayes, R. B. (1996a). Hematotoxocity among Chinese workers heavily exposed to benzene. *Am J Ind Med* **29**, 236-246.

- Rothman, N., Smith, M. T., Hayes, R. B., Li, G. L., Irons, R. D., Dosemeci, M., Haas, R.,
 Stillman, W. S., Linet, M., Xi, L. Q., Bechtold, W. E., Wiemels, J., Campleman, S.,
 Zhang, L., Quintana, P. J., Titenko-Holland, N., Wang, Y. Z., Lu, W., Kolachana, P.,
 Meyer, K. B., and Yin, S. (1996b). An epidemiologic study of early biologic effects
 of benzene in Chinese workers. *Environ Health Perspect* 104 Suppl 6, 1365-1370.
- Rothman, N., Smith, M. T., Hayes, R. B., Traver, R. D., Hoener, B., Campleman, S., Li, G.
 L., Dosemeci, M., Linet, M., Zhang, L., Xi, L., Wacholder, S., Lu, W., Meyer, K. B.,
 Titenko-Holland, N., Stewart, J. T., Yin, S., and Ross, D. (1997). Benzene poisoning,
 a risk factor for hematological malignancy, is associated with the NQO1 609C-->T
 mutation and rapid fractional excretion of chlorzoxazone. *Cancer Res* 57, 2839-2842.
- Royston, P. (2000). Choice of scale for cubic smoothing spline models in medical applications. *Stat Med* **19**, 1191-1205.
- Rushmore, T., Snyder, R., and Kalf, G. (1984). Covalent binding of benzene and its metabolites to DNA in rabbit bone marrow mitochondria in vitro. *Chem Biol Interact* 49, 133-154.
- Sabourin, P. J., Bechtold, W. E., Birnbaum, L. S., Lucier, G., and Henderson, R. F. (1988). Differences in the metabolism and disposition of inhaled [3H]benzene by F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 94, 128-140.
- Sabourin, P. J., Bechtold, W. E., Griffith, W. C., Birnbaum, L. S., Lucier, G., and Henderson, R. F. (1989). Effect of exposure concentration, exposure rate, and route of administration on metabolism of benzene by F344 rats and B6C3F1 mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 99, 421-444.
- Sabourin, P. J., Chen, B. T., Lucier, G., Birnbaum, L. S., Fisher, E., and Henderson, R. F. (1987). Effect of dose on the absorption and excretion of [14C]benzene administered orally or by inhalation in rats and mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 87, 325-336.
- Sabourin, P. J., Muggenburg, B. A., Couch, R. C., Lefler, D., Lucier, G., Birnbaum, L. S., and Henderson, R. F. (1992). Metabolism of [14C]benzene by cynomolgus monkeys and chimpanzees. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **114**, 277-284.
- Samoli, E., Analitis, A., Touloumi, G., Schwartz, J., Anderson, H. R., Sunyer, J., Bisanti, L., Zmirou, D., Vonk, J. M., Pekkanen, J., Goodman, P., Paldy, A., Schindler, C., and Katsouyanni, K. (2005). Estimating the exposure-response relationships between

particulate matter and mortality within the APHEA multicity project. *Environ Health Perspect* **113**, 88-95.

- Samoli, E., Touloumi, G., Zanobetti, A., Le Tertre, A., Schindler, C., Atkinson, R., Vonk, J., Rossi, G., Saez, M., Rabczenko, D., Schwartz, J., and Katsouyanni, K. (2003). Investigating the dose-response relation between air pollution and total mortality in the APHEA-2 multicity project. *Occup Environ Med* 60, 977-982.
- SAS Institute. (2005). The GLMSELECT Procedure.
- Savitz, D. A., and Andrews, K. W. (1997). Review of epidemiologic evidence on benzene and lymphatic and hematopoietic cancers. *Am J Ind Med* **31**, 287-295.
- Scherer, G., Renner, T., and Meger, M. (1998). Analysis and evaluation of trans,transmuconic acid as a biomarker for benzene exposure. *J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl* 717, 179-199.
- Schlosser, M. J., and Kalf, G. F. (1989). Metabolic activation of hydroquinone by macrophage peroxidase. *Chem Biol Interact* 72, 191-207.
- Schlosser, P. M., Bond, J. A., and Medinsky, M. A. (1993). Benzene and phenol metabolism by mouse and rat liver microsomes. *Carcinogenesis* 14, 2477-2486.
- Schnatter, A. R., Rosamilia, K., and Wojcik, N. C. (2005). Review of the literature on benzene exposure and leukemia subtypes. *Chem Biol Interact* **153-154**, 9-21.
- Schoenfeld, H. A., and Witz, G. (1999). DNA-protein cross-link levels in bone marrow cells of mice treated with benzene or trans,trans-muconaldehyde. *J Toxicol Environ Health* A 56, 379-395.
- Seaton, M. J., Schlosser, P., and Medinsky, M. A. (1995). In vitro conjugation of benzene metabolites by human liver: potential influence of interindividual variability on benzene toxicity. *Carcinogenesis* 16, 1519-1527.
- Seaton, M. J., Schlosser, P. M., Bond, J. A., and Medinsky, M. A. (1994). Benzene metabolism by human liver microsomes in relation to cytochrome P450 2E1 activity. *Carcinogenesis* 15, 1799-1806.
- Siegel, D., McGuinness, S. M., Winski, S. L., and Ross, D. (1999). Genotype-phenotype relationships in studies of a polymorphism in NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1. *Pharmacogenetics* **9**, 113-121.

- Smith, M. T. (1996). The mechanism of benzene-induced leukemia: a hypothesis and speculations on the causes of leukemia. *Environ Health Perspect* **104 Suppl 6**, 1219-1225.
- Smith, M. T. (1999). Benzene, NQO1, and genetic susceptibility to cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**, 7624-7626.
- Smith, M. T., Skibola, C. F., Allan, J. M., and Morgan, G. J. (2004). Causal models of leukaemia and lymphoma. *IARC Sci Publ*, 373-392.
- Smith, M. T., Zhang, L., Jeng, M., Wang, Y., Guo, W., Duramad, P., Hubbard, A. E., Hofstadler, G., and Holland, N. T. (2000). Hydroquinone, a benzene metabolite, increases the level of aneusomy of chromosomes 7 and 8 in human CD34-positive blood progenitor cells. *Carcinogenesis* 21, 1485-1490.
- Smith, M. T., Zhang, L., Wang, Y., Hayes, R. B., Li, G., Wiemels, J., Dosemeci, M., Titenko-Holland, N., Xi, L., Kolachana, P., Yin, S., and Rothman, N. (1998). Increased translocations and aneusomy in chromosomes 8 and 21 among workers exposed to benzene. *Cancer Res* 58, 2176-2181.
- Snyder, R. (2000a). Overview of the toxicology of benzene. *J Toxicol Environ Health A* **61**, 339-346.
- Snyder, R. (2000b). Recent developments in the understanding of benzene toxicity and leukemogenesis. *Drug Chem Toxicol* 23, 13-25.
- Snyder, R. (2002). Benzene and leukemia. Crit Rev Toxicol 32, 155-210.
- Snyder, R. (2004). Xenobiotic metabolism and the mechanism(s) of benzene toxicity. *Drug Metab Rev* **36**, 531-547.
- Snyder, R., Chepiga, T., Yang, C. S., Thomas, H., Platt, K., and Oesch, F. (1993). Benzene metabolism by reconstituted cytochromes P450 2B1 and 2E1 and its modulation by cytochrome b5, microsomal epoxide hydrolase, and glutathione transferases: evidence for an important role of microsomal epoxide hydrolase in the formation of hydroquinone. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **122**, 172-181.
- Snyder, R., Dimitriadis, E., Guy, R., Hu, P., Cooper, K., Bauer, H., Witz, G., and Goldstein,
 B. D. (1989). Studies on the mechanism of benzene toxicity. *Environ Health Perspect* 82, 31-35.

- Snyder, R., and Hedli, C. C. (1996). An overview of benzene metabolism. *Environ Health Perspect* **104 Suppl 6**, 1165-1171.
- Sorensen, M., Poole, J., Autrup, H., Muzyka, V., Jensen, A., Loft, S., and Knudsen, L. E. (2004). Benzene exposure assessed by metabolite excretion in Estonian oil shale mineworkers: influence of glutathione s-transferase polymorphisms. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 13, 1729-1735.
- Sorensen, M., Skov, H., Autrup, H., Hertel, O., and Loft, S. (2003). Urban benzene exposure and oxidative DNA damage: influence of genetic polymorphisms in metabolism genes. *Sci Total Environ* **309**, 69-80.
- Subrahmanyam, V., Sadler, A., Suba, E., and Ross, D. (1989). Stimulation of in vitro bioactivation of hydroquinone by phenol in bone marrow cells. *Drug Metab Dispos* 17, 348-350.
- Subrahmanyam, V. V., Doane-Setzer, P., Steinmetz, K. L., Ross, D., and Smith, M. T. (1990). Phenol-induced stimulation of hydroquinone bioactivation in mouse bone marrow in vivo: possible implications in benzene myelotoxicity. *Toxicology* 62, 107-116.
- Subrahmanyam, V. V., Kolachana, P., and Smith, M. T. (1991). Metabolism of hydroquinone by human myeloperoxidase: mechanisms of stimulation by other phenolic compounds. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 286, 76-84.
- Taniguchi, S., Niitsuya, M., Inoue, Y., Katagiri, H., Kadowaki, T., and Aizawa, Y. (1999). Evaluation of passive smoking by measuring urinary trans, trans-muconic acid and exhaled carbon monoxide levels. *Ind Health* 37, 88-94.
- Testa, A., Festa, F., Ranaldi, R., Giachelia, M., Tirindelli, D., De Marco, A., Owczarek, M., Guidotti, M., and Cozzi, R. (2005). A multi-biomarker analysis of DNA damage in automobile painters. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 46, 182-188.
- Thomas, D. J., Sadler, A., Subrahmanyam, V. V., Siegel, D., Reasor, M. J., Wierda, D., and Ross, D. (1990). Bone marrow stromal cell bioactivation and detoxification of the benzene metabolite hydroquinone: comparison of macrophages and fibroblastoid cells. *Mol Pharmacol* 37, 255-262.
- Thor, H., Smith, M. T., Hartzell, P., Bellomo, G., Jewell, S. A., and Orrenius, S. (1982). The metabolism of menadione (2-methyl-1,4-naphthoquinone) by isolated hepatocytes. A study of the implications of oxidative stress in intact cells. *J Biol Chem* 257, 12419-12425.

- Tough, I. M., and Brown, W. M. (1965). Chromosome Aberrations And Exposure To Ambient Benzene. *Lancet* **10**, 684.
- Tough, I. M., Smith, P. G., Court Brown, W. M., and Harnden, D. G. (1970). Chromosome studies on workers exposed to atmospheric benzene. The possible influence of age. *Eur J Cancer* 6, 49-55.
- Traver, R. D., Siegel, D., Beall, H. D., Phillips, R. M., Gibson, N. W., Franklin, W. A., and Ross, D. (1997). Characterization of a polymorphism in NAD(P)H: quinone oxidoreductase (DT-diaphorase). *Br J Cancer* 75, 69-75.
- Travis, C. C., Quillen, J. L., and Arms, A. D. (1990). Pharmacokinetics of benzene. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **102**, 400-420.
- Utterback, D. F., and Rinsky, R. A. (1995). Benzene exposure assessment in rubber hydrochloride workers: a critical evaluation of previous estimates. *Am J Ind Med* 27, 661-676.
- Valentine, J. L., Lee, S. S., Seaton, M. J., Asgharian, B., Farris, G., Corton, J. C., Gonzalez, F. J., and Medinsky, M. A. (1996). Reduction of benzene metabolism and toxicity in mice that lack CYP2E1 expression. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 141, 205-213.
- Verdina, A., Galati, R., Falasca, G., Ghittori, S., Imbriani, M., Tomei, F., Marcellini, L., Zijno, A., and Vecchio, V. D. (2001). Metabolic polymorphisms and urinary biomarkers in subjects with low benzene exposure. *J Toxicol Environ Health A* 64, 607-618.
- Vermeulen, R., Li, G., Lan, Q., Dosemeci, M., Rappaport, S. M., Bohong, X., Smith, M. T., Zhang, L., Hayes, R. B., Linet, M., Mu, R., Wang, L., Xu, J., Yin, S., and Rothman, N. (2004). Detailed exposure assessment for a molecular epidemiology study of benzene in two shoe factories in China. *Ann Occup Hyg* 48, 105-116.
- Vigliani, E. C., and Forni, A. (1969). Benzene, chromosome changes and leukemia. *J Occup Med* **11**, 148-149.
- Vigliani, E. C., and Forni, A. (1976). Benzene and leukemia. Environ Res 11, 122-127.
- Vigliani, E. C., and Saita, G. (1964). Benzene And Leukemia. N Engl J Med 271, 872-876.
- Vogt, T. M., Ziegler, R. G., Graubard, B. I., Swanson, C. A., Greenberg, R. S., Schoenberg, J. B., Swanson, G. M., Hayes, R. B., and Mayne, S. T. (2003). Serum selenium and risk of prostate cancer in U.S. blacks and whites. *Int J Cancer* 103, 664-670.

- Waidyanatha, S., Rothman, N., Fustinoni, S., Smith, M. T., Hayes, R. B., Bechtold, W., Dosemeci, M., Guilan, L., Yin, S., and Rappaport, S. M. (2001). Urinary benzene as a biomarker of exposure among occupationally exposed and unexposed subjects. *Carcinogenesis* 22, 279-286.
- Waidyanatha, S., Rothman, N., Li, G., Smith, M. T., Yin, S., and Rappaport, S. M. (2004). Rapid determination of six urinary benzene metabolites in occupationally exposed and unexposed subjects. *Anal Biochem* 327, 184-199.
- Waidyanatha, S., Yeowell-O'Connell, K., and Rappaport, S. M. (1998). A new assay for albumin and hemoglobin adducts of 1,2- and 1,4-benzoquinones. *Chem Biol Interact* 115, 117-139.
- Wallace, L. (1996). Environmental exposure to benzene: an update. *Environ Health Perspect* 104 Suppl 6, 1129-1136.
- Wan, J., Shi, J., Hui, L., Wu, D., Jin, X., Zhao, N., Huang, W., Xia, Z., and Hu, G. (2002).
 Association of genetic polymorphisms in CYP2E1, MPO, NQO1, GSTM1, and
 GSTT1 genes with benzene poisoning. *Environ Health Perspect* 110, 1213-1218.
- Wang, S. L., Lee, H., Chen, K. W., Tsai, K. J., Chen, C. Y., and Lin, P. (1999). Cytochrome P4502E1 genetic polymorphisms and lung cancer in a Taiwanese population. *Lung Cancer* 26, 27-34.
- Williams, J. A. (2001). Single nucleotide polymorphisms, metabolic activation and environmental carcinogenesis: why molecular epidemiologists should think about enzyme expression. *Carcinogenesis* 22, 209-214.
- Witz, G., Maniara, W., Mylavarapu, V., and Goldstein, B. D. (1990). Comparative metabolism of benzene and trans,trans-muconaldehyde to trans,trans-muconic acid in DBA/2N and C57BL/6 mice. *Biochem Pharmacol* 40, 1275-1280.
- Witz, G., Zhang, Z., and Goldstein, B. D. (1996). Reactive ring-opened aldehyde metabolites in benzene hematotoxicity. *Environ Health Perspect* **104 Suppl 6**, 1195-1199.
- Wogan, G. N. (1992). Molecular epidemiology in cancer risk assessment and prevention: recent progress and avenues for future research. *Environ Health Perspect* 98, 167-178.
- Wong, O., and Raabe, G. K. (2000). Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and exposure to benzene in a multinational cohort of more than 308,000 petroleum workers, 1937 to 1996. *J Occup Environ Med* 42, 554-568.

- Wormhoudt, L. W., Commandeur, J. N., and Vermeulen, N. P. (1999). Genetic polymorphisms of human N-acetyltransferase, cytochrome P450, glutathione-Stransferase, and epoxide hydrolase enzymes: relevance to xenobiotic metabolism and toxicity. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 29, 59-124.
- Xie, Y., Davies, S. M., Xiang, Y., Robison, L. L., and Ross, J. A. (2003). Trends in leukemia incidence and survival in the United States (1973-1998). *Cancer* **97**, 2229-2235.
- Xu, X., Cho, S. I., Sammel, M., You, L., Cui, S., Huang, Y., Ma, G., Padungtod, C., Pothier, L., Niu, T., Christiani, D., Smith, T., Ryan, L., and Wang, L. (1998). Association of petrochemical exposure with spontaneous abortion. *Occup Environ Med* 55, 31-36.
- Yeowell-O'Connell, K., Rothman, N., Waidyanatha, S., Smith, M. T., Hayes, R. B., Li, G., Bechtold, W. E., Dosemeci, M., Zhang, L., Yin, S., and Rappaport, S. M. (2001).
 Protein adducts of 1,4-benzoquinone and benzene oxide among smokers and nonsmokers exposed to benzene in China. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 10, 831-838.
- Yin, S. N., Hayes, R. B., Linet, M. S., Li, G. L., Dosemeci, M., Travis, L. B., Zhang, Z. N., Li, D. G., Chow, W. H., Wacholder, S., and Blot, W. J. (1996). An expanded cohort study of cancer among benzene-exposed workers in China. Benzene Study Group. *Environ Health Perspect* **104 Suppl 6**, 1339-1341.
- Yin, S. N., Li, G. L., Tain, F. D., Fu, Z. I., Jin, C., Chen, Y. J., Luo, S. J., Ye, P. Z., Zhang, J. Z., Wang, G. C., and et al. (1989). A retrospective cohort study of leukemia and other cancers in benzene workers. *Environ Health Perspect* 82, 207-213.
- Zacur, H., Kaufman, S. C., Smith, B., Westhoff, C., Helbig, D., Lee, Y. J., and Gentile, G. (1997). Does creatinine adjustment of urinary pregnanediol glucuronide reduce or introduce measurement error? *Gynecol Endocrinol* 11, 29-33.
- Zeise, L., and McDonald, T. A. (2000). California perspective on the assessment of benzene toxicological risks. *J Toxicol Environ Health A* **61**, 479-483.
- Zhang, D., Lin, X., and Sowers, M. (2000). Semiparametric regression for periodic longitudinal hormone data from multiple menstrual cycles. *Biometrics* 56, 31-39.
- Zhang, L., Eastmond, D. A., and Smith, M. T. (2002). The nature of chromosomal aberrations detected in humans exposed to benzene. *Crit Rev Toxicol* **32**, 1-42.
- Zhang, L., Rothman, N., Wang, Y., Hayes, R. B., Bechtold, W., Venkatesh, P., Yin, S., Wang, Y., Dosemeci, M., Li, G., Lu, W., and Smith, M. T. (1996). Interphase

cytogenetics of workers exposed to benzene. *Environ Health Perspect* **104 Suppl 6**, 1325-1329.

Zhang, L., Rothman, N., Wang, Y., Hayes, R. B., Li, G., Dosemeci, M., Yin, S., Kolachana, P., Titenko-Holland, N., and Smith, M. T. (1998). Increased aneusomy and long arm deletion of chromosomes 5 and 7 in the lymphocytes of Chinese workers exposed to benzene. *Carcinogenesis* 19, 1955-1961.